
 

CITY OF ALTAMONT 
 

407 S HUSTON   ▪   P.O. BOX 305   ▪   ALTAMONT, KS 67330 

PHONE (620) 784-5612   ▪   FAX (620) 784-5882   ▪   WEBSITE: ALTAMONTKS.COM 

 

 
 

ALTAMONT CITY COUNCIL 
Mayor Richard Hayward  

Councilmembers: Colt Booth, Ben Cochran, 

Tyler Julich, Lyle Sykes and Kyle Wiford 

June 13, 2024 

7:00 PM Regular Meeting  
 

CALL TO ORDER    

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE   

PRAYER – Ben Cochran 

MINUTES - Regular meeting of May 23, 2024 
 

INVOICES - $9,566.36 + $81,026.33 = $90,592.69 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT & GUESTS 
A. James McCarty – McCarty’s Office Supply – Cybersecurity 

B. Brian Dock – Higher Calling Technologies - Cybersecurity 

        

ORDINANCES/RESOLUTIONS /PROCLAMATIONS  

A.  

 

OLD BUSINESS 
A. Labette County Zoning/Land Use 

a. Next Zoning Meeting – Set for June 24, 2024, at 6 PM at the Parsons Municipal 

Building 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

     A.  Cybersecurity 

                a. McCarty’s Office Supply 

                      i.  City Hall Quote 

                     ii.   Police Department Quote 

                 b.  Higher Calling Technologies 

                      i.  City Hall Quote 

                     ii.  Police Department Quote 

     B.  NFPA 1970 Consolidations       

 

 

 



 

 

 
PAGE 2 

 

TABLED & PENDING BUSINESS 

A. Old Fire Department Building Demolition  

B. McMillen Park 

C. Sewer Rate Increase 

D. Midwest Engineering Preliminary Engineering Report – Sanitary Sewer System 

 

DEPARTMENT REPORTS 
A. City Administrator 

B. Police 

C. Utility 

 

EXECUTIVE SESSION MOTION 

 

COMMUNICATIONS: 
• Altamont Pool Passes are available by contacting the Altamont City Office or may 

be purchased at the Altamont Pool. 

• Pool Parties can be scheduled by contacting the Altamont Pool during regular 

business hours. 

• Altamont Fireworks will be on July 3rd, at approximately 9:45 p.m. and can be 

viewed on the south side of LCHS’ Harrison Auditorium. 

• The League of Kansas Municipalities Annual Conference information is attached. 

 

ADJOURNMENT  

 



MINUTES 
CITY OF ALTAMONT  
MAY 23, 2024 
 

REGULAR MEETING  The meeting was called to order at 7:00 PM with Mayor Richard Hayward presiding. Eric 
Rucker was present to lead the prayer. Councilmembers present: Ben Cochran, Colt Booth, 
Kyle Wiford, Lyle Sykes & Tyler Julich. 

  
MINUTES Councilmember Cochran moved, and Booth seconded to approve the minutes from May 

9th, 2024. Motion carried. 
  
INVOICES Councilmember Booth moved, and Sykes seconded to approve invoice payment in the 

amount of $86,030.52. Motion carried. 

DREW COLLINS Drew Collins was present to request an extended lake stay.  

 Councilmember Sykes moved, and Cochran seconded to allow Mr. Collins to continue his 
extended stay to August 1st.  

 Councilmember Sykes rescinded his motion and Cochran his second. 

 Councilmember Sykes moved, and Cochran seconded to allow Mr. Collins the extended lake 
stay until September 12th. Motion carried.  

WILLIAM “BILL” KENYON Bill Kenyon was present to introduce himself as the newest Police Officer with the Altamont 
Police Department. 

APPOINTMENT Mayor Hayward appointed William Kenyon as Police Officer.  

 Councilmember Cochran moved, and Sykes seconded to accept the appointment of William 
Kenyon as Police Officer. Motion carried. 

LABETTE COUNTY ZONING Council was provided a copy of the drafts of the Labette County land use maps that were 
presented in a public hearing on Thursday May 16th by the Labette County Planning and 
Zoning Board. 

 Councilmember Cochran voiced the importance of clarification what the zoning would 
mean for the lake since it is not in City limits. 

 Mayor Hayward urged the Councilmembers to attend the next zoning meeting. 

CITY ADMINISTRATOR 1) Budget – Working on the 2025 Municipal Budget 
  a) Attended the Budget meeting in Iola. 
2) Utility Opening – Held interviews for this position. 
3) AMI Water Meters – W&W Backhoe with the help of City Staff started installing water 
meters on Monday, May 20th. 
  a) Bridget Nash has been activating the AMI endpoints to send readings back to the Office. 
  b) LeaAnn Myers has been working with programming on set-up. 
  c) Once the meters are successfully set at each location, customers will be able to monitor 
their own water usage through a website. 
4) Copy Machine – The City Office received a refurbished copy machine. It also has scanning 
and faxing functions. 
  a) We had the previous refurbished machine since 2014. Parts were no longer available. 
  b) The annual contract for the new machine is $370.00 versus the older machine contract 
at $673.67 in 2023 which covers parts, labor, and page allowance up to 40,000 pages. 
    i) Color copies went from 8.49 cents each to 7 cents on the new machine. 
5) COX Communications – Reviewing the franchise fees. 
6) Cybersecurity – Contacted and received information for cybersecurity from Higher 
Calling Technologies. 
  a) McCarty’s will be sending over an official quote soon. 
7) Network Kansas – Heather attended Networked for Change Conference to present the 
Lansdowne Garden concrete project as part of receiving $10,000 to help the project get 
started. 
8) Southern Star Pipeline – Bridget Nash attended the Southern Star Gas Pipeline annual 
meeting. 
9) Altamont Pool – The Altamont Pool will open on Saturday, May 25th at 1PM. 
  a) Ordered pool concessions 
  b) Season passes are now available at the City Office or Pool 
10) Police Officer – Police Officer William “Bill” Kenyon started with the Police Department. 
Welcome to the City of Altamont. 
11) Lead and Copper – If you have not turned in your Lead and Copper Survey, please get 
those turned in. Contact the City Office if you need a new copy of the survey. Inventory is 
due to the Kansas Department of Health and Environment by October 16, 2024. 

 



 
MINUTES 
PAGE TWO 
MAY 23, 2024 

POLICE REPORT The Police Department has handled numerous calls during this period from animal control, 
civil standby’s/child exchanges, citizens assist, lake patrol, and safety checks. 
- Warnings issued for traffic infractions by officers – (16) -6 speed, 5 no turn signal, 2 tag 
light, 1 headlight, 1 stop sign, 1 window tint and several verbal warnings for infractions. 
- Citations issued for traffic infractions by officers – (21) – 17 speed, 2 no insurance, 1 stop 
sign, 1 illegal parking/blocking alleyway. 
- KBI Reports – 1 domestic battery. 
- Several assist with 1st responders and EMS on medical calls 
- Several welfare checks dealing with subjects having suicidal thoughts and mental issues. 
- Arrested a subject on an Altamont warrant. 
- Provided security at LCHS graduation. 
- Began training with new officer William “Bill” Kenyon and getting all his paperwork 
completed to attend KLETC in the future. 
- Finalizing everything for the upcoming 19th annual Altamont Kids Fishing Derby on June 1st. 

 -Getting geared up for the Flag Day festivities scheduled for June 8th. 

Submitted by Chief Michael Shields 

UTILITY REPORT - Bulk trash, picked up brush. 
- Pushed up and burn tree dump. 
- Read meters. 
- Finished painting, clean up and fill pool. 
- Started putting in new water meters. 

 Submitted by Utility Superintendent Brad Myers 

COMMUNICATIONS - 19th Annual Free Kid’s Fishing Derby – Saturday June 1, 2024. 
- Flag Day – Saturday June 8, 2024. 
- June Foodstruck Calendar 
- 2024 LCHS Project Prom Thank You. 

ADJOURN Councilmember Cochran moved, and Sykes seconded to adjourn. Motion Carried 7:32PM 

 
______________ __________________________________________ 
DATE Bridget Nash, Deputy City Clerk  
 



Vendor
Description Invoice Amt

Approved Invoices by Vendor- Summary City of Altamont

Invoice PO Account Description

1050 Labette Bank
$9,566.36Contractual80284 Motorola Scanner Equipment

$9,566.36Subtotal for Vendor 1050  -  Labette Bank : 

Page 1 of 25/30/2024 9:20:09 AM
hbeasleyOperator:Report ID: APIN015B



Vendor
Description Invoice Amt

Approved Invoices by Vendor- Summary City of Altamont

Invoice PO Account Description

$9,566.36Grand Total:

Approved Invoices - Fund/Dept. Totals
Fund Fund Total Fund Name

02 Public Safety Equipment
$9,566.3600 NonDepartmental
$9,566.36

$9,566.36Grand Total:

Page 2 of 25/30/2024 9:20:09 AM
hbeasleyOperator:Report ID: APIN015B



Check No Check Date Vendor No Check AmountVendor Name

AP Check Register (APLT43) City of Altamont

Bank No: 1 Account: 006572

Labette Bank37634 5/30/2024 1050 $9,566.36

Bank Account Totals: $9,566.36

$9,566.36Total Of Checks:

Page 1 of 1Operator: hbeasley 5/30/2024 9:22:23 AM
Report ID: (APLT43)



Vendor
Description Invoice Amt

Approved Invoices by Vendor- Summary City of Altamont

Invoice PO Account Description

40 City of Altamont Petty cash
$80.00Contractual                   05242024 Pool Start Up Money

$80.00Subtotal for Vendor 40  -  City of Altamont Petty cash : 
60 CITY OF ALTAMONT

$368.64Contractual06012024 Utility Bills
$55.92Contractual                   06012024 Utility Bills

$135.40Contractual06012024 Utility Bills
$188.76Contractual06012024 Utility Bills
$302.68Contractual06012024 Utility Bills
$124.15Contractual06012024 Utility Bills
$760.22Contractual06012024 Utility Bills
$159.73Contractual06012024 Utility Bills
$142.91Contractual06012024 Utility Bills
$157.38Contractual06012024 Utility Bills
$301.21Contractual06012024 Utility Bills

$2,697.00Subtotal for Vendor 60  -  CITY OF ALTAMONT : 
100 Labette Avenue

$15.00Contractual05312024 Police Week Ads
$78.70Contractual05312024 Food Truck Ord, Annual Renewal
$60.00Contractual05312024 Alumni Banquet, LCHS Grad, Summer Sports

$153.70Subtotal for Vendor 100  -  Labette Avenue : 
150 Altamont Builders Supply

$270.16Commodities138064 trufuel, bit holder, propane, trash can, pliers
$11.38Commodities138064 toilet flapper
$29.98Commodities138064 toilet flapper
$15.99Commodities                   138064 roller tray

$216.72Commodities138064 magnets, blades, bit holder, wet set, pencil compass, pliers, 
shovels

$139.77Commodities138064 pipe, fittings

Page 1 of 126/11/2024 1:48:46 PM
lmyersOperator:Report ID: APIN015B



Vendor
Description Invoice Amt

Approved Invoices by Vendor- Summary City of Altamont

Invoice PO Account Description

150 Altamont Builders Supply

$684.00Subtotal for Vendor 150  -  Altamont Builders Supply : 
160 ALTAMONT RECREATION COMMISSION

$1,950.00Contractual06112024 Tax Distribution

$1,950.00Subtotal for Vendor 160  -  ALTAMONT RECREATION CO
240 B&L Waterworks Supply

$6,661.48Commodities06032024 Meter lids, gaskets

$6,661.48Subtotal for Vendor 240  -  B&L Waterworks Supply : 
248 BAUGHER EQUIPMENT, INC.

$59.75Commodities1178 deflector cone, blades, washers, bolts, nuts, oil, hydra-max 
fluid

$200.00Commodities1178 deflector cone, blades, washers, bolts, nuts, oil, hydra-max 
fluid

$259.75Subtotal for Vendor 248  -  BAUGHER EQUIPMENT, INC. :
579 Green Environmental SVCS

$1,860.00Utility Costs31271 Bulk Trash

$1,860.00Subtotal for Vendor 579  -  Green Environmental SVCS : 
740 HUGO'S INDUSTRIAL SUPPLY

$70.41Commodities                   05312024 center pull towels, bathroom tissue
$70.42Commodities05312024 bathroom tissue

$196.95Commodities05312024 chair mat
$70.41Commodities05312024 center pull towels, bathroom tissue

$408.19Subtotal for Vendor 740  -  HUGO'S INDUSTRIAL SUPPLY
754 TouchTone Communications

$89.01Contractual3375752 phone service

$89.01Subtotal for Vendor 754  -  TouchTone Communications :

Page 2 of 126/11/2024 1:48:47 PM
lmyersOperator:Report ID: APIN015B



Vendor
Description Invoice Amt

Approved Invoices by Vendor- Summary City of Altamont

Invoice PO Account Description

865 KANSAS DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE
$2,538.01Contractual06032024 Utility Sales Tax

$2,538.01Subtotal for Vendor 865  -  KANSAS DEPARTMENT OF R
880 KANSAS ONE CALL SYSTEM INC

$13.20Contractual4050138 11 locates

$13.20Subtotal for Vendor 880  -  KANSAS ONE CALL SYSTEM I
885 ADVANCE INSURANCE COMPANY

$24.00Benefits07012024 life insurance
$7.56Benefits07012024 life insurance
$7.56Benefits07012024 life insurance
$5.40Benefits07012024 life insurance
$7.56Benefits07012024 life insurance
$7.56Benefits07012024 life insurance
$7.56Benefits07012024 life insurance

$67.20Subtotal for Vendor 885  -  ADVANCE INSURANCE COMP
1000 EVERGY

$571.86Contractual05242024 Electricity
$25.29Contractual05242024EG electricity
$27.69Contractual05242024EG electricity

$624.84Subtotal for Vendor 1000  -  EVERGY : 
1057 LABETTE COUNTY PUBLIC

$1,850.70Commodities2700 culverts and bands
$14.78Contractual2705 fuel
$22.49Contractual2705 fuel

$383.80Contractual2705 fuel
$500.00Contractual2705 fuel
$100.00Contractual2705 fuel

$20.00Contractual2705 fuel

Page 3 of 126/11/2024 1:48:47 PM
lmyersOperator:Report ID: APIN015B



Vendor
Description Invoice Amt

Approved Invoices by Vendor- Summary City of Altamont

Invoice PO Account Description

1057 LABETTE COUNTY PUBLIC
$1,132.12Vehicle2705 fuel

$10.00Contractual2705 fuel

$4,033.89Subtotal for Vendor 1057  -  LABETTE COUNTY PUBLIC : 
1245 MCCARTY'S

$300.00Contractual05282023 cybersecurity penetration test and review findings
$3,000.00Commodities05282023 Copier, Scanner, Fax

$6.54Contractual05282023 color copies

$3,306.54Subtotal for Vendor 1245  -  MCCARTY'S : 
1250 VISA 2 - Fire

$275.00Contractual05192024 Fire Chief meeting expense
$74.54Vehicle05192024 fuel

$349.54Subtotal for Vendor 1250  -  VISA 2 - Fire : 
1251 MasterCard

$21.00Commodities05192024 drinking water

$21.00Subtotal for Vendor 1251  -  MasterCard : 
1338 MIDWEST ELECTRIC TRANSFORMERS

$28,275.00Commodities62708 62709 Polemount Transformers

$28,275.00Subtotal for Vendor 1338  -  MIDWEST ELECTRIC TRANS
1373 LeaAnn Myers

$91.79Contractual052302024 Budget Workshop Mileage - Myers

$91.79Subtotal for Vendor 1373  -  LeaAnn Myers : 
1550 O'REILLY AUTOMOTIVE INC

$44.00Commodities137459229 mini lamp, mini bulb, capsule

$44.00Subtotal for Vendor 1550  -  O'REILLY AUTOMOTIVE INC 
1660 POSTMASTER

$95.20Contractual06102024 Postage

Page 4 of 126/11/2024 1:48:47 PM
lmyersOperator:Report ID: APIN015B



Vendor
Description Invoice Amt

Approved Invoices by Vendor- Summary City of Altamont

Invoice PO Account Description

1660 POSTMASTER
$95.20Contractual06102024 Postage
$95.20Contractual06102024 Postage
$95.20Contractual06102024 Postage
$95.20Contractual06102024 Postage
$38.69Contractual614134866 Utility Bill Postage
$38.69Contractual614134866 Utility Bill Postage
$38.69Contractual614134866 Utility Bill Postage
$38.69Contractual614134866 Utility Bill Postage
$38.69Contractual614134866 Utility Bill Postage

$669.45Subtotal for Vendor 1660  -  POSTMASTER : 
1680 PUBLIC WHOLESALE WATER SUPPLY

$11,250.00Utility Costs05222024 Water

$11,250.00Subtotal for Vendor 1680  -  PUBLIC WHOLESALE WATE
1800 Regional Veterinary Service

$59.00Animal Control05312024 Animal Control fee

$59.00Subtotal for Vendor 1800  -  Regional Veterinary Service : 
2230 THOMAS IMPLEMENT

$54.10Contractual06042024 Water Sample Freight

$54.10Subtotal for Vendor 2230  -  THOMAS IMPLEMENT : 
2306 MERIDIAN ANALYTICAL LABS, LLC

$493.75Contractual05282024 Wastewater Testing

$493.75Subtotal for Vendor 2306  -  MERIDIAN ANALYTICAL LAB
2447 VISA 3 - Police

$215.62Commodities05192024 Wall chager block, sandisk, laptop
$6.89Commodities05192024 mailing labels
$7.92Commodities05192024 post-it notes

Page 5 of 126/11/2024 1:48:47 PM
lmyersOperator:Report ID: APIN015B



Vendor
Description Invoice Amt

Approved Invoices by Vendor- Summary City of Altamont

Invoice PO Account Description

2447 VISA 3 - Police

$230.43Subtotal for Vendor 2447  -  VISA 3 - Police : 
79532 VISA 8 - Office

$110.00Contractual                   05192024 Sams Club Membership
$247.00Contractual05192024 KDHE Labs

$357.00Subtotal for Vendor 79532  -  VISA 8 - Office : 
79547 Cintas Corporation

$111.17Contractual8406850877 First Aid Kit Restock

$111.17Subtotal for Vendor 79547  -  Cintas Corporation : 
79570 KDHE Bureau of Water

$20.00Contractual08102024 - Myers Brad Myers - Waste Water Permit Renewal OP06831

$20.00Subtotal for Vendor 79570  -  KDHE Bureau of Water : 
79653 Dollar General-Regions 410526

$44.65Commodities06042024 tape, makers, microfiber, cleaner
$54.75Commodities06042024 wd-40, drinking water

$120.46Concessions                   06042024 pool concesssions

$219.86Subtotal for Vendor 79653  -  Dollar General-Regions 410
79706 Koons Gas Measurement

$1,014.98Commodities70502 service risers

$1,014.98Subtotal for Vendor 79706  -  Koons Gas Measurement : 
79832 Core & Main

$418.63Commodities930130 blk stl nip

$418.63Subtotal for Vendor 79832  -  Core & Main : 
79848 Labette Hardware

$466.35Commodities2405-178630 gas pipe and fittings
$6.85Commodities                   2406-179206 Keys

$10.88Commodities2406-179518 bushing and pipe fitting

Page 6 of 126/11/2024 1:48:47 PM
lmyersOperator:Report ID: APIN015B



Vendor
Description Invoice Amt

Approved Invoices by Vendor- Summary City of Altamont

Invoice PO Account Description

79848 Labette Hardware

$484.08Subtotal for Vendor 79848  -  Labette Hardware : 
79889 Border States Industries Inc

$2,847.85Commodities06012024 fuses, splice, bracket, tap, coding tape, headlamp

$2,847.85Subtotal for Vendor 79889  -  Border States Industries Inc
79945 Vision Service Plan (CT)

$51.20Contractual062024 vision insurance
$26.71Benefits062024 vision insurance
$26.71Benefits062024 vision insurance

$8.91Benefits062024 vision insurance
$26.73Benefits062024 vision insurance

$8.90Benefits062024 vision insurance

$149.16Subtotal for Vendor 79945  -  Vision Service Plan (CT) : 
80017 LABETTE COUNTY SHERIFFS OFFICE

$20.00Jail Fees                     1096 Inmate Housing

$20.00Subtotal for Vendor 80017  -  LABETTE COUNTY SHERIF
80159 Miller Tire and Lube LLC

$35.00Utility Costs06032024 Tire Disposal - Bulk Trash

$35.00Subtotal for Vendor 80159  -  Miller Tire and Lube LLC : 
80229 GFL Environmental

$3,500.62Utility Costs05312024 Transfer Station Fees

$3,500.62Subtotal for Vendor 80229  -  GFL Environmental : 
80272 Visa 9 - Office

$18.04Commodities05192024 laminating pouches
$620.00Commodities05192024 Fire Prevention items

$1,231.98Commodities05192024 Water Filling Station

$1,870.02Subtotal for Vendor 80272  -  Visa 9 - Office : 

Page 7 of 126/11/2024 1:48:47 PM
lmyersOperator:Report ID: APIN015B



Vendor
Description Invoice Amt

Approved Invoices by Vendor- Summary City of Altamont

Invoice PO Account Description

80318 Visa 5 - Office
$20.85Commodities5192024 mailing seals

$269.30Contractual5192024 Gas meeting expense - Nash

$290.15Subtotal for Vendor 80318  -  Visa 5 - Office : 
80344 Assessment Strategies, LLC

$215.00Contractual06032024 Personnell Testing - Kenyon

$215.00Subtotal for Vendor 80344  -  Assessment Strategies, LLC
80355 Assured Partners

$524.00Contractual1836064 Insurance for New Police Cameras and Tasers

$524.00Subtotal for Vendor 80355  -  Assured Partners : 
80385 Luke Wolgamott

$67.67Contractual                   05222024 Pool Concession Mileage - Joplin Sam's

$67.67Subtotal for Vendor 80385  -  Luke Wolgamott : 
80402 Linda Robison

$40.00Park Building Deposit Refunds06012024 Park Deposit

$40.00Subtotal for Vendor 80402  -  Linda Robison : 
80404 Labette Health Laboratory

$27.75Contractual5312024 Pre-employment drug screen

$27.75Subtotal for Vendor 80404  -  Labette Health Laboratory : 
80435 Josh Edgington

$225.00Contractual05212024 Mowing Lake
$90.00Contractual05212024 Mowing Huston

$105.00Contractual06082024 Mowing Lagoon Ponds

$420.00Subtotal for Vendor 80435  -  Josh Edgington : 
80520 Visa 6 - Poilce

$66.94Commodities05192024 Kansas Criminal Code Books

Page 8 of 126/11/2024 1:48:48 PM
lmyersOperator:Report ID: APIN015B



Vendor
Description Invoice Amt

Approved Invoices by Vendor- Summary City of Altamont

Invoice PO Account Description

80520 Visa 6 - Poilce

$66.94Subtotal for Vendor 80520  -  Visa 6 - Poilce : 
80545 DC&B Supply, Inc.

$1,056.00Commodities8372 water meter pit risers

$1,056.00Subtotal for Vendor 80545  -  DC&B Supply, Inc. : 
80571 Jessie Myers

$35.00Contractual                   062024 Swimsuit Reimbursement

$35.00Subtotal for Vendor 80571  -  Jessie Myers : 
80572 Jamie Spencer

$40.00Park Building Deposit Refunds06102024 Park Deposit Refund

$40.00Subtotal for Vendor 80572  -  Jamie Spencer : 
80660 Erik Steeves

$40.00Park Building Deposit Refunds05152024 Park Deposit Refund

$40.00Subtotal for Vendor 80660  -  Erik Steeves : 
80736 Melissa Lunsford

$40.00Park Building Deposit Refunds05192024 Park Deposit Refund

$40.00Subtotal for Vendor 80736  -  Melissa Lunsford : 
80739 Keith Tucker

$40.00Park Building Deposit Refunds06012024 Park Deposit Refund

$40.00Subtotal for Vendor 80739  -  Keith Tucker : 
80740 Geno Harrington

$40.00Park Building Deposit Refunds06032024 Park Deposit Refund

$40.00Subtotal for Vendor 80740  -  Geno Harrington : 
80741 Jake Haraughty

$30.58Contractual                   05242024 Swimsuit Reimbursement

$30.58Subtotal for Vendor 80741  -  Jake Haraughty : 

Page 9 of 126/11/2024 1:48:48 PM
lmyersOperator:Report ID: APIN015B



Vendor
Description Invoice Amt

Approved Invoices by Vendor- Summary City of Altamont

Invoice PO Account Description

80742 Tammy Holt
$40.00Park Building Deposit Refunds05152024 Park Deposit Refund

$40.00Subtotal for Vendor 80742  -  Tammy Holt : 

Page 10 of 126/11/2024 1:48:48 PM
lmyersOperator:Report ID: APIN015B



Vendor
Description Invoice Amt

Approved Invoices by Vendor- Summary City of Altamont

Invoice PO Account Description

$81,026.33Grand Total:

Approved Invoices - Fund/Dept. Totals
Fund Fund Total Fund Name

01 General Fund
$563.4401 General Government

$2,554.3502 Gen Police
$1,112.4504 General Fire

$761.3505 General Park
$592.8811 Municipal Pool

$5,584.47
05 Recreation

$1,950.0000 NonDepartmental
$1,950.00

07 Special Highway Fund
$1,940.7000 NonDepartmental

$1,940.70
09 Lake Fund

$1,302.6800 NonDepartmental
$1,302.68

50 Water Utility Fund
$24,649.9500 NonDepartmental
$24,649.95

51 Electric Utility Fund
$31,650.4500 NonDepartmental

Page 11 of 126/11/2024 1:48:48 PM
lmyersOperator:Report ID: APIN015B



Vendor
Description Invoice Amt

Approved Invoices by Vendor- Summary City of Altamont

Invoice PO Account Description

$31,650.45
52 Gas Utility Fund

$3,137.9200 NonDepartmental

$3,137.92
53 Sewer Utility Fund

$1,637.6200 NonDepartmental
$1,637.62

54 Sanitation Utility Fund
$6,583.3300 NonDepartmental

$6,583.33
60 Sales Tax

$2,538.0100 NonDepartmental
$2,538.01

82 Insurance Reserve Fund
$51.2000 NonDepartmental
$51.20

$81,026.33Grand Total:

Page 12 of 126/11/2024 1:48:48 PM
lmyersOperator:Report ID: APIN015B



Check No Check Date Vendor No Check AmountVendor Name

AP Check Register (APLT43) City of Altamont

Bank No: 1 Account: 006572

ADVANCE INSURANCE COMPANY37635 6/13/2024 885 $67.20

Altamont Builders Supply37636 6/13/2024 150 $684.00

ALTAMONT RECREATION COMMISSION37637 6/13/2024 160 $1,950.00

Assessment Strategies, LLC37638 6/13/2024 80344 $215.00

Assured Partners37639 6/13/2024 80355 $524.00

B&L Waterworks Supply37640 6/13/2024 240 $6,661.48

BAUGHER EQUIPMENT, INC.37641 6/13/2024 248 $259.75

Border States Industries Inc37642 6/13/2024 79889 $2,847.85

Cintas Corporation37643 6/13/2024 79547 $111.17

CITY OF ALTAMONT37644 6/13/2024 60 $2,697.00

City of Altamont Petty cash37645 6/13/2024 40 $80.00

Core & Main37646 6/13/2024 79832 $418.63

DC&B Supply, Inc.37647 6/13/2024 80545 $1,056.00

Dollar General-Regions 41052637648 6/13/2024 79653 $219.86

Erik Steeves37649 6/13/2024 80660 $40.00

EVERGY37650 6/13/2024 1000 $624.84

Geno Harrington37651 6/13/2024 80740 $40.00

GFL Environmental37652 6/13/2024 80229 $3,500.62

Green Environmental SVCS37653 6/13/2024 579 $1,860.00

HUGO'S INDUSTRIAL SUPPLY37654 6/13/2024 740 $408.19

Jake Haraughty37655 6/13/2024 80741 $30.58

Jamie Spencer37656 6/13/2024 80572 $40.00

Jessie Myers37657 6/13/2024 80571 $35.00

Page 1 of 3Operator: lmyers 6/11/2024 1:50:18 PM
Report ID: (APLT43)



Check No Check Date Vendor No Check AmountVendor Name

AP Check Register (APLT43) City of Altamont

Josh Edgington37658 6/13/2024 80435 $420.00

KANSAS ONE CALL SYSTEM INC37659 6/13/2024 880 $13.20

KDHE Bureau of Water37660 6/13/2024 79570 $20.00

Keith Tucker37661 6/13/2024 80739 $40.00

Koons Gas Measurement37662 6/13/2024 79706 $1,014.98

Labette Avenue37663 6/13/2024 100 $153.70

LABETTE COUNTY PUBLIC37664 6/13/2024 1057 $4,033.89

LABETTE COUNTY SHERIFFS OFFICE37665 6/13/2024 80017 $20.00

Labette Hardware37666 6/13/2024 79848 $484.08

Labette Health Laboratory37667 6/13/2024 80404 $27.75

LeaAnn Myers37668 6/13/2024 1373 $91.79

Linda Robison37669 6/13/2024 80402 $40.00

Luke Wolgamott37670 6/13/2024 80385 $67.67

MasterCard37671 6/13/2024 1251 $21.00

MCCARTY'S37672 6/13/2024 1245 $3,306.54

Melissa Lunsford37673 6/13/2024 80736 $40.00

MERIDIAN ANALYTICAL LABS, LLC37674 6/13/2024 2306 $493.75

MIDWEST ELECTRIC TRANSFORMERS37675 6/13/2024 1338 $28,275.00

Miller Tire and Lube LLC37676 6/13/2024 80159 $35.00

O'REILLY AUTOMOTIVE INC37677 6/13/2024 1550 $44.00

POSTMASTER37678 6/13/2024 1660 $669.45

PUBLIC WHOLESALE WATER SUPPLY37679 6/13/2024 1680 $11,250.00

Regional Veterinary Service37680 6/13/2024 1800 $59.00

Tammy Holt37681 6/13/2024 80742 $40.00

Page 2 of 3Operator: lmyers 6/11/2024 1:50:18 PM
Report ID: (APLT43)



Check No Check Date Vendor No Check AmountVendor Name

AP Check Register (APLT43) City of Altamont

THOMAS IMPLEMENT37682 6/13/2024 2230 $54.10

TouchTone Communications37683 6/13/2024 754 $89.01

VISA 2 - Fire37684 6/13/2024 1250 $349.54

VISA 3 - Police37685 6/13/2024 2447 $230.43

Visa 5 - Office37686 6/13/2024 80318 $290.15

Visa 6 - Poilce37687 6/13/2024 80520 $66.94

VISA 8 - Office37688 6/13/2024 79532 $357.00

Visa 9 - Office37689 6/13/2024 80272 $1,870.02

Vision Service Plan (CT)37690 6/13/2024 79945 $149.16

Bank Account Totals: $78,488.32

$78,488.32Total Of Checks:

Page 3 of 3Operator: lmyers 6/11/2024 1:50:18 PM
Report ID: (APLT43)



Wire Date Vendor No Wire AmountVendor Name

AP Wire Register (APLT44) City of Altamont

Wire Nbr.

1Bank No: 006572Account:
6/13/2024 865 KANSAS DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE $2,538.01-1263

$2,538.01Bank Account Totals:

$2,538.01   Total Of Wires:

Page 1 of 1Operator: lmyers 6/11/2024 1:49:51 PM
Report ID: (APLT44)



Labette County Planning Board 

Summary of Revised Draft of Zoning Regulations 
for 6/24/24 Continued Public Hearing 

The revised draft dated 6/10/24 reflects public input and Board input received at the May 
16th Public Hearing. Additional input has been provided from the Working Committee of the 
Board. Consistent with that input the revised draft: 

1. Provides a revised regulatory applicability with a focus on the processing of conditional 
use applications and procedures to administer the regulations to meet State statutes. 
Agricultural Uses are exempt as provided by State statutes. 

2. “Grandfathers In” existing lots, structures and uses following State statutes to provide for 
their continuation without regulation by the proposed regulations. 

3. Limits the Zoning Districts to four districts specific to the land use character of Labette 
County: 
A. A-1 Agricultural District 
B. A-2 Agricultural Transition District 
C. V-1 Village District 
D. Great Plains Industrial Park Overlay District 

4.  Directly states the purpose of each district to protect the unincorporated rural area from   
  the impacts of development of potential large scale conditional uses including renewable   
  energy projects. 
5.  Does not regulate permitted uses in each district with no zoning permit or occupancy   
  certificate required. All existing and new uses are not regulated and shall be permitted   
  uses, except for the conditional uses listed within a District. 
6.  Provides a checklist of potential conditions to be considered by the Planning Board for   
  conditional use applications to aid processing the conditional use. 
7.  Reduces the number of definitions required with the reduced number of districts and focus 
  on conditional uses. Definitions are moved to an Appendix. 

 
1415 E. 2nd Street N. 
Wichita KS 67214-4119

p 316-262-4525,  f 316-262-7316 
www.fosterdesignassociates.com



ZONING REGULATIONS
of

LABETTE COUNTY, KANSAS
Official Copy

as Incorporated by Resolution No. ____

Model Code
prepared by the

LABETTE COUNTY PLANNING BOARD

Technical Assistance by

Foster Design Associates LLC
Landscape Architecture & Planning

Wichita, Kansas

in association with

Foster & Associates
Planning Consultants

Wichita, Kansas

and

Labette County Zoning Administrator

edition of effective date
______________, 2024 ______________, 2024

. 

REVISED 

DRAFT

6/10/24 

(for Continued  

Public Hearing)



Table of Contents

ARTICLE 1. TITLE, PURPOSE, AUTHORITY, JURISDICTION & APPLICABILITY
Section 100   Title 1-1..........................................................................................................................
Section 101   Purpose 1-1...................................................................................................................
Section 102   Authority 1-1..................................................................................................................
Section 103   Zoning Jurisdiction 1-2..................................................................................................
Section 104   Regulatory Applicability 1-2...........................................................................................

ARTICLE 2. INTERPRETATION, CONSTRUCTION AND DEFINITIONS
Section 100   Rules of Interpretation 2-1.............................................................................................
Section 101   Rules of Construction 2-1..............................................................................................

ARTICLE 3. GENERAL PROVISIONS
Section 100   Activities Exempted by These Regulations 3-1.............................................................
Section 101   Districts, Zoning District Maps and Boundaries 3-1.......................................................
Section 102   General Requirements for All Zoning Districts 3-2........................................................
Section 103   Miscellaneous Requirements 3-3..................................................................................
Section 104   Site Plan Approval for Conditional Uses 3-4..................................................................

ARTICLE 4. ZONING DISTRICTS
Section 100   A-l Agricultural District 4-1.............................................................................................
Section 101   A-2 Agricultural Transition District 4-2............................................................................
Section 102   V-I Village District 4-3....................................................................................................
Section 103  GPIP Great Plains Industrial Park Overlay District 4-4...................................................

ARTICLE 5. GRANDFATHERED LOTS, STRUCTURES AND USES
Section 100   Purpose 5-1...................................................................................................................

ARTICLE 6. ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT
Section 100   Office of the Zoning Administrator 6-1...........................................................................
Section 101   Zoning Permits and Occupancy Certificates for Conditional Uses 6-2..........................
Section 102   Enforcement and Liability for Conditional Uses 6-4......................................................
Section 103   Violations 6-5.................................................................................................................
Section 104   Fees for Conditional Use Applications 6-5.....................................................................
Section 105   Reports 6-5....................................................................................................................

 
Table of Contents DRAFT 6/10/24      TOC - 1



ARTICLE 7. BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS
Section 100   Authorization 7-1............................................................................................................
Section 101   General Procedures 7-1................................................................................................
Section 102   Jurisdiction 7-1..............................................................................................................
Section 103   Notice of Hearing. 7-2....................................................................................................
Section 104   Conduct of Hearing. 7-2................................................................................................
Section 105   Finality and Judicial Review of Decisions. 7-2...............................................................
Section 106   Appeals. 7-3...................................................................................................................
Section 107   Variances. 7-3................................................................................................................

ARTICLE 8. AMENDMENTS
Section 100   General Provisions for Amendments 8-1.......................................................................
Section 101   Conditional Uses 8-7.....................................................................................................
Section 102   Public Project Review 8-9..............................................................................................
Section 103   Filing of Protest 8-9.......................................................................................................
Section 104   Adoption of Amendments and Conditional Uses by the Governing Body 8-10..............
Section 105   Annual Review 8-10.......................................................................................................
Section 106   Judicial Review 8-10......................................................................................................

ARTICLE 9. SEVERABILITY AND EFFECTIVE DATE
Section 100   Severability 9-1..............................................................................................................
Section 101   Effective Date 9-1..........................................................................................................

ARTICLE 10. SUPPLEMENTAL USE REGULATIONS
Section 100   Wind Energy Conversion Systems 10-1........................................................................
Section 101   Solar Energy Conversion Systems (SECS) — (RESERVED). 10-19............................
Section 102   Battery Energy Storage Systems (BESS) — (RESERVED) 10-19...............................
Section 103   Private (Non-Utility) Renewable Energy Transmission Lines — (RESERVED) 10-19..

APPENDICES
Appendix 1   Definitions Appendix 1-1.................................................................................................
Appendix 2   Resolution Incorporating and Adopting Zoning Regulations Appendix 2-1....................

SUPPLEMENTAL DOCUMENTS
Floodplain Management Regulations S-1...........................................................................................

 
Table of Contents DRAFT 6/10/24      TOC - 2



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

ARTICLE 1. TITLE, PURPOSE, AUTHORITY, JURISDICTION & APPLICABILITY

Section 100 Title
These regulations, including the official zoning district maps made a part hereof, shall be known and 
may be cited as the “Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas,” and shall hereinafter be 
referred to as “these regulations.” 

Section 101 Purpose
These regulations are intended to serve the following purposes:

A. To protect the unincorporated rural area from the impacts of development of potential 
large scale conditional uses;

B. To conserve productive farm and ranch land and other agricultural uses;

C. To encourage the compact development of the urban areas;

D. To retain the Labette County Zoning Code for the Great Plains Industrial Park, with its 
jurisdiction limited to the Park site, and to promote the location of appropriate land uses within 
the Park in accordance with that Zoning Code;

E. To promote the public health, safety, morals, comfort and general welfare;

F. To establish a variety of zoning district classifications according to the use of land and buildings 
with varying intensities of uses and standards whose interrelationships of boundary zones form 
a compatible pattern of land uses and buffer areas which enhance the value of each zone;

G. To protect property values and conserve energy and natural resources;

H. To provide for adequate light and air and acceptable noise levels;

I. To facilitate the establishment of easements for the adequate provision of transportation, water 
supply, sewage disposal and other public improvements;

J. To provide adequate public notice on proposed changes in these regulations and zoning district 
maps and an opportunity to be heard on such zoning matters;

K. To establish and provide procedures for the Board of Zoning Appeals to consider appeals and 
variances; and

L. To implement the proposals of the Land Use Plan for the zoning jurisdiction.

Section 102 Authority
These regulations are adopted under authority established by K.S.A. 12-741 et seq., as amended, 12-736, 
12-3301 thru 12-3305. 

Title, Purpose, Authority, Jurisdiction & Applicability DRAFT 6/10/24      1 - 1

https://www.ksrevisor.org/statutes/chapters/ch12/012_007_0041.html
https://www.ksrevisor.org/statutes/chapters/ch12/012_007_0036.html
https://www.ksrevisor.org/statutes/chapters/ch12/012_033_0001.html


Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

Section 103 Zoning Jurisdiction
These regulations apply to the unincorporated area of Labette County except the extraterritorial 
zoning and subdivision jurisdiction around the City of Parsons. See Section 104 below for 
applicability. The Parsons jurisdiction extends no more than three miles from the nearest point of 
the city limits extending not more than one-half the distance between such city and another city 
which has adopted zoning regulations; provided, that the city within any such area shall have:  (1) 
officially adopted by their governing body by ordinance a comprehensive plan for the city and 
surrounding planning area; and (2) adopted zoning regulations for the city and for an extraterritorial 
jurisdiction around the city. This jurisdiction about Parsons includes land in Labette, Liberty, North 
and Walton townships of Labette County, Kansas.

These regulations apply to the Great Plains Industrial Park (GPIP) solely as an overlay district, and 
utilize underlying zoning districts established for GPIP by the Labette County Zoning Code adopted 
by the Board of County Commissioners by Resolution No. 2011-42-L on September 19, 2011.

Section 104 Regulatory Applicability
These regulations apply to land use development activities for conditional uses listed within each 
zoning district. These regulations also provide for the processing of amendments, issuance of 
zoning permits and occupancy certificates and applications for appeals and variances as decided 
by the Board of Zoning Appeals. Agricultural Uses are exempt as provided by State statutes.

Title, Purpose, Authority, Jurisdiction & Applicability DRAFT 6/10/24      1 - 2



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

ARTICLE 2  INTERPRETATION AND CONSTRUCTION

Section 100 Rules of Interpretation 
A. Minimum Requirements.   In their interpretation and application, the provisions of these 

regulations shall be held to be the minimum requirements for the promotion of the public health, 
safety, morals, comfort and general welfare.

B. Overlapping or Contradictory Regulations.   Where the conditions imposed by the provisions 
of these regulations upon the use of land or structures are either more restrictive or less 
restrictive than comparable conditions imposed by any other provision of any other applicable 
law, resolution, rule or regulation of any kind, the regulations which are more restrictive and 
impose higher standards or requirements shall govern.

C. Private Agreements.   The provisions of these regulations are not intended to repeal any 
easement, deed restriction, covenant or other private agreement of legal relationship; provided, 
that where the requirements of these regulations are more restrictive or impose higher 
standards or regulations than such private agreements, the requirements of these regulations 
shall govern. The County does not have a responsibility to enforce such private 
agreements.

Section 101 Rules of Construction 
A. In the construction of these regulations, the provisions and rules of this Section shall be 

preserved and applied, except when the context clearly requires otherwise:
1. The word “shall” is mandatory while the word “may” is permissive.
2. The word "person" includes individuals, firms, corporations, associations, governmental 

bodies and agencies, and all other legal entities.
3. The word "County" means Labette County, Kansas.
4. The words "Governing Body" mean the Board of Commissioners of Labette County, 

Kansas.
5. The word "Clerk" means the Clerk of Labette County.
6. The words "Planning Board" mean the Labette County Planning Board.
7. The words “Land Use Plan" mean the adopted and approved Land Use Plan 2024-2044 for 

Labette County, Kansas.
8. The word "Board" means the Board of Zoning Appeals and the Labette County Planning 

Board depending on the subject context.
9. The words "zoning jurisdiction" mean the area as defined in Article 1 Section 103 for which 

the jurisdiction of these regulations is applicable for zoning purposes.
10. K.S.A. means the Kansas Statutes Annotated as published by the Office of the Revisor of 

Statutes.
11. Unless otherwise specified, all distances shall be measured horizontally.

B. Any word or phrase which is defined in this Article or elsewhere in these regulations shall have 
the meaning as so defined whenever used in these regulations, unless such definition is 
expressly limited in its meaning or scope.

C. Words or terms not herein defined shall have their ordinary meaning in relation to the context as 
defined in a dictionary or other source. 

Interpretation & Construction DRAFT 6/10/24      2 - 1



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

ARTICLE 3.  GENERAL PROVISIONS

These General Provisions provide uniform regulations for the administration of the zoning districts 
herein and the zoning regulations.

Section 100 Activities Exempted by These Regulations
A. Exemptions.   The following structures and uses shall be exempt from the provisions of these 

regulations:
1. Poles, wires, cables, conduits, vaults, lift stations, laterals, pipes, mains, valves  

or other similar equipment for the distribution to consumers of telephones or other 
communications, electricity, gas or water, or the collection of sewage or surface water, but 
not including major utility substations located on or above the surface of the ground. (See 
Article 3 Section 103A for LOT SIZE and BULK REGULATIONS FOR PUBLIC UTILITY 
FACILITIES.)

2. Railroad tracks, signals, bridges and similar facilities and equipment located on railroad 
rights of way, and maintenance and repair work on such facilities and equipment.

3. Buildings, structures, or land used which are owned, by the federal government. When 
leased by the federal government they are not exempt.

4. Use of land for agricultural purposes in all zoning districts as provided by State 
statutes and defined in Appendix 1.

5. Drilling and operating oil or gas wells; provided, that they are not located within 500 feet of 
a habitable dwelling unit without the permission of the affected property owner.

6. Permitted uses in all zoning districts.

Section 101 Districts, Zoning District Maps and Boundaries
A. Establishment of Districts.   The zoning jurisdiction is hereby divided into the districts as 

described in Article 4. References to "agricultural districts" shall mean those districts in which 
agricultural uses are the predominant activity.

B. Zoning District Maps
1. The boundaries of the districts described in Article 4 are as indicated on the Official Zoning 

District Map(s) which is on file with the Zoning Administrator and identified on its face as 
part of these regulations. The zoning map(s) with all notations, references and other 
matters shown thereon is as much a part of these regulations as if specifically set forth 
herein. (See Article 6 Section 100A11 for zoning district map(s) certificate and revisions)

2. It is the intent of these regulations that the entire area of the zoning jurisdiction, including all 
the land and water areas, rivers, streets, alleys and railroads and other rights of way, be 
included in the districts established in these regulations. Any area not shown on the zoning 
district map(s) as being included in any district shall be deemed to be in the most restrictive 
district.

General Provisions DRAFT 6/10/24      3 - 1



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

C. Boundaries.   In the event that uncertainties exist with respect to the intended boundaries of 
the various districts as shown on the Official Zoning District Map(s), the following rules shall 
apply:

1. Where boundary lines are indicated as approximately following streets, alleys, easements, 
railroads, rivers, streams or bodies of water, such boundaries shall be construed as 
following the centerlines thereof or otherwise are construed to coincide with lot or tract 
lines, unless otherwise indicated.

2. Where the district boundaries do not coincide with the location of boundaries as stated in 
Section 101C1 above, the district boundaries shall be determined by the use of the scale 
shown on the zoning district map, unless an exact distance is shown.

3. Where a district boundary line divides a lot or unsubdivided property in single ownership, 
the regulations for either portion of the lot may, at the owner's discretion, extend to the 
entire lot, but not more than 25 feet beyond the boundary line of the district.

D. Zoning of Rights of way.   All roads, streets, alleys, public ways, waterways and railroad rights 
of way, if not otherwise specifically designated, shall be deemed to be in the same zone as the 
property immediately abutting them. Where the centerline of a road, street, alley, public way, 
waterway or railroad right of way serves as a district boundary, the zoning of such areas, unless 
otherwise specifically designated, shall be deemed to be the same as that of the abutting 
property up to such centerline.

Section 102 General Requirements for All Zoning Districts
The following uses and standards are applied to each zoning district. See Appendix 1 for definitions 
where applicable.

A. Permitted Uses.   No zoning permit or occupancy certificate is required for permitted uses 
within a zoning district. There is no regulation of existing or new permitted uses within a zoning 
district.

B. Conditional Uses.   See Article 8 Section 101.

C. Lot Sizes.

D. Bulk Regulations.

E. Use Limitations.   No conditional use hereafter established or altered shall be operated or 
designed so as to conflict with the use limitations for the zoning district in which such use is, or 
will be located. 

General Provisions DRAFT 6/10/24      3 - 2



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

Section 103 Miscellaneous Requirements
A. Lot Size Requirements and Bulk Regulations for Public Utility Facilities.   None of the 

following utility or communication facilities shall be required to comply fully with the lot size 
requirements and bulk regulations of the zoning district in which they are located, except as may 
be determined wherever a conditional use is approved in certain districts and by subsection 
three of the definition for HEIGHT, MAXIMUM in Appendix 1:  (See Article 3 Section 100A1 for 
EXEMPTIONS.)

1. Communication structures.
2. Electric and telephone substations.
3. Gas regulator or compressor stations.
4. Pumping stations.
5. Water towers or standpipes.

B. Sewer and Water Facilities.
1. In all districts, it is the intention of these regulations to encourage the installation of public 

water supplies and sewage disposal systems or to connect to such systems if available for 
use and provided within an economically feasible distance.

2. In areas where such public facilities are not yet available and on-site wells, cisterns and 
septic tank systems or lagoon are necessary, the suitability of the lot and the standards for 
installation of such on-site water supply and sewage disposal systems shall be governed by 
the County Sanitation Code.

C. Dedication of Rights of way and Easements.   As a condition related to a conditional use, the 
dedication of additional street rights of way; easements for utilities, drainage, access control, fire 
lanes, building setback lines and other purposes; and the construction, removal or replacement 
of public improvements necessary to the proper development of the property, may be required 
either by platting or replatting the land according to the County policies or, in lieu of platting, by a 
legal document effectuating such dedications and improvements. Such condition may be 
required whether the property is being divided or held in single ownership. A stated time limit not 
exceeding one year may be established to ensure compliance with the above conditions during 
which time the effectuation of the conditional use having been approved with such conditions by 
the Governing Body shall be withheld from publication by the Clerk. Failure to comply with the 
conditions during the stated period shall result in making the conditional use null and void. No 
extension of the time period may be granted without reapplication.

D. Vacated Rights of way.   Whenever any road, street, alley, railroad or other right of way is 
vacated by official action of the Governing Body, the current zoning district(s) for such right of 
way as provided for by Article 3 Section 101B2 remains in effect after such vacation, unless 
procedures are initiated to amend the district classification.

General Provisions DRAFT 6/10/24      3 - 3



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

Section 104 Site Plan Approval for Conditional Uses
The purpose and intent of site plan approval is to encourage the compatible arrangement of 
buildings, infrastructure, off-street parking and loading, lighting, signage, screening, buffering, 
landscaping, ingress and egress and drainage on and from the site, any or all of these, in a manner 
that will promote safety and convenience for the public and will preserve property values of 
surrounding properties. Once a site plan has been reviewed and approved by the Planning Board, 
no changes shall be made except for minor revisions due to unforeseen circumstances as may be 
determined and approved by the Zoning Administrator. If other than minor revisions are requested, 
the changes must be shown on a revised plan, transmitted to and approved by the Board. 

A. Applicability.   All conditional uses in any district shall submit site plans for approval by the 
Planning Board. Such plans are applicable to all new developments, and for major alterations to 
an existing site or structure(s) which intensify factors affecting the overall design relationships.

B. Enforcement and Appeal.   No zoning permit or occupancy certificate shall be issued by the 
Zoning Administrator until the related site plan is approved by the Planning Board. Anyone 
aggrieved by a decision of the Planning Board may appeal to the Governing Body within 30 
days for a determination based on the reasonableness of the site plan decision including any 
conditions attached thereto. Notification shall be given in the same manner as required for an 
appeal case to the Board of Zoning Appeals. (See Article 7 Section-103.)

C. Fees.   Processing fees are included in the Fee Schedule.

D. Submittal Time and Review Comments.   Site plans should be submitted to the Zoning 
Administrator 30 days before a regular Planning Board meeting so that they can be distributed 
to interested parties for review and the resulting comments summarized by the Administrator for 
a report to the Board.

E. Number of Plan Copies.   A minimum of 11 legible copies are needed for proper review 
unless otherwise determined by the Zoning Administrator. Plans may be submitted in digital 
format as approved by the Zoning Administrator.

F. Site Plan Requirements:
1. Oriented to north with north arrow and scale plus dimensions and boundary lines for the 

zoning lot. 
2. Show the location and dimensions of all rights of way, access control, easements and 

setback lines either required by these regulations or by platting.
3. Topography by contour lines required only if slopes exceed 5% or buffer berms are used.
4. Show flow of storm drainage by directional arrows.
5. Locate existing and proposed structures by bulk dimensions plus number of stories, gross 

floor area and entrances.
6. Show existing and proposed drive entrances, aisles, off-street parking, loading spaces and 

walkways, including type of surfacing and number of parking spaces. 
7. Indicate location, height and materials for screening walls or fences and landscaped areas, 

including grass, trees and shrubs.
8. Show location, direction and intensity of proposed lighting.
9. Locate all major signs noting type, height and approximate size.

10. Indicate location of outdoor display, storage and trash disposal areas.
11. Other requirements as determined by the Zoning Administrator.

General Provisions DRAFT 6/10/24      3 - 4



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

G. Conditions of Approval.   All site plans must meet the applicable standards contained in the 
Zoning Regulations as well as other relevant regulations including the following:

1. Proposed uses are permitted in the district in which the property is located.
2. Proposed arrangement of buildings, off-street parking, loading, access, lighting, signage, 

landscaping and screening, and drainage is compatible with adjacent land uses.
3. Vehicular ingress and egress to and from the site and circulation within the site provides for 

safe, efficient and convenient movement of traffic not only within the site but on adjacent 
roadways as well. 

4. Site plan provides for the safe movement within the site of vehicles and pedestrians.
5. There is a sufficient mixture of grass, trees or shrubs within the interior and perimeter 

(including public right of way) of site so that the proposed development will be in harmony 
with adjacent land uses and will provide a pleasing appearance to the public. Any part of 
the site plan area not used for buildings, structures, parking, loading or access ways shall 
be landscaped with a mixture of grass, trees or shrubs. Landscape treatment will be 
appropriate with surrounding existing land use.

6. All outdoor trash disposal areas are screened and outdoor storage areas screened when 
required.

7. See Article 8 Section 101 for a checklist of potential conditions for review of conditional 
uses.

General Provisions DRAFT 6/10/24      3 - 5



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

H. Assurances.   Site plan performance is assured by issuance of a zoning permit and occupancy 
certificate. The site plan drawing must include the following certificates: 

Owner’s Certificate
As the developer of this project approved by this site plan, I do hereby certify that I 
understand that the project is to be constructed as shown on this final approved plan and 
that no occupancy certificate will be approved by the Zoning Administrator for the project 
until all required items have been completed. I further certify that since these requirements 
run with the project, I will supply a copy of this approved site plan to any successors or 
assigns who may follow me in ownership of the project.

Signed: _________________________________________
(Print name and title)

Planning Board Certificate
Official Site Plan as (approved) (modified) to the conditions approved by the Labette 
County Planning Board at their meeting of __________________, 20___

SIGNED: _________________________________________
Chairperson

ATTEST: _________________________________________
Secretary

Completion of conditions required by the Planning Board for approval:

Signed: _________________________________________
Zoning Administrator

Landscaping must be maintained in a healthy, disease-free and debris-free condition or it will be 
considered a violation of these regulations.

I. Design Criteria   From time to time, the Planning Board may adopt additional design criteria in 
the form of policy statements to assist in reviewing site plans.

General Provisions DRAFT 6/10/24      3 - 6



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

ARTICLE 4.  ZONING DISTRICTS

Section 100 A-1 Agricultural District
The intent of this district is protect the unincorporated rural area from the impacts of 
development of potential large scale conditional uses. Further, the intent is to provide 
protection for agricultural uses in addition to protection provided by State statutes.

A. Permitted Uses (No Zoning Permit Required). All existing and new uses are not regulated 
and shall be permitted uses, except for the conditional uses listed within this District.

B. Conditional Uses
1. Public improvements, facilities or public utilities of a type embraced within the Land Use 

Plan as required by K.S.A. 12-748.
2. Commercial communication structures, antennas and aerials which exceed maximum 

structure height bulk regulations.
3. Crew Camps associated with a conditional use application.
4. Sanitary landfills, incineration plants, large recycling collection and processing centers, 

refuse transfer stations and hazardous waste facilities, publicly and privately owned.
5. Sexually oriented businesses as defined in K.S.A. 12-770 (A) (2) through (15) for which the 

premises is located at least 1,500 feet from any:  (1) land being used for a public or private 
school, college, church or park; or (2) building being used for a residence. If such uses are 
established after such a business is properly approved to operate, the premises shall 
remain eligible for approving such a business.

6. Solar Energy Conversion Systems (SECS):  For community and utility commercial large 
scale systems.  (See Supplemental Use Regulations for SECS - RESERVED.)

7. Utility substations, pumping stations and water towers, publicly and privately owned. 
8. Wind Energy Conversion Systems (WECS):  For community and utility commercial large 

scale systems.   (See Supplemental Use Regulations for WECS.)
9. Battery Energy Storage Systems (BESS):  (See Supplemental Use Regulations for 

BESS - RESERVED.)
10. Private (Non-Utility) Renewable Energy Transmission Lines.
11. Other Commercial Energy Generating Systems.

C. Lot Size Requirements
1. Minimum lot area:

a. Lot area, width and depth shall be reviewed with the Applicant to determine adequate 
area and dimensions to facilitate the proposed development, meet minimum 
requirements of the County Sanitation Code and purposes of these regulations.

Zoning Districts DRAFT 6/10/24      4 - 1

https://www.ksrevisor.org/statutes/chapters/ch12/012_007_0048.html
https://www.ksrevisor.org/statutes/chapters/ch12/012_007_0070.html


Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

D. Bulk Regulations
1. Maximum structure height:  60 feet for buildings; 150 feet for other structures.
2. Setback Area requirements:

a. Front, side and rear setback areas shall be reviewed with the Applicant to determine 
dimensions to facilitate the proposed development and meet purposes of these 
regulations.

E. Use Limitations
1. See Article 8 Section 101 for checklist to review conditional use applications.
2. See Article 10 for Supplementary Use Regulations.

Section 101 A-2 Agricultural Transition District
The intent of this district is protect the unincorporated rural area from the impacts of 
development of potential large scale conditional uses. Further, the intent is to provide 
protection for agricultural uses in addition to protection provided by State statutes. This 
district also serves as a transition area from incorporated municipalities and villages to the A-1 
Agricultural District. More public services would be anticipated than in the A-1 Agricultural District.

A. Permitted Uses (No Zoning Permit Required). All existing and new uses are not regulated 
and shall be permitted uses, except for the conditional uses listed within this District.

B. Conditional Uses
1. Any conditional uses allowed in the A-1 Agricultural District except:

a. Solar Energy Conversion Systems (SECS);
b. Wind Energy Conversion Systems (WECS);
c. Battery Energy Storage Systems (BESS); and
d. Private (Non-Utility) Renewable Energy Transmission Lines; and
e. Other Commercial Energy Generating Systems.

C. Lot Size Requirements
1. Minimum lot area:

a. Lot area, width and depth shall be reviewed with the Applicant to determine adequate 
area and dimensions to facilitate the proposed development, meet minimum 
requirements of the County Sanitation Code and purposes of these regulations.

D. Bulk Regulations
1. Maximum structure height:  60 feet for buildings; 150 feet for other structures.
2. Setback Area requirements:

a. Front, side and rear setback areas shall be reviewed with the Applicant to determine 
dimensions to facilitate the proposed development and meet purposes of these 
regulations.

E. Use Limitations
1. See Article 8 Section 101 for checklist to review conditional use applications.
2. See Article 10 for Supplementary Use Regulations.

Zoning Districts DRAFT 6/10/24      4 - 2



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

Section 102 V-l Village District
This district is intended to encourage the continued existence of small-unincorporated “villages” by 
placing very minimal restrictions on their development. No development of new villages is 
contemplated under these provisions and only fill-in type of development of existing villages with 
comparable low intensity uses are intended. Existing unincorporated villages are Angola, Dennis, 
Montana, Strauss and Valeda.

A. Permitted Uses (No Zoning Permit Required)
1. Single family detached dwellings, modulars and manufactured homes.
2. Commercial retail and service type businesses.
3. Light Industrial uses.

B. Conditional Uses
1. Other uses not specifically listed as a permitted use, but which are in keeping with the 

intent of Article 4 Section 103 and compatible with the uses permitted in Article 4 Section 
103A. Conditional uses listed in the A-1 District are excluded.

C. Standards
1. No restrictions are placed on lot size requirements or bulk regulations except that all zoning 

lots are required to have minimum setbacks of 25 feet for front setback areas and ten feet 
for side and rear setback areas.

Zoning Districts DRAFT 6/10/24      4 - 3



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

Section 103 GPIP Great Plains Industrial Park Overlay District
This district is established as an overlay district solely for the area of the Great Plains Industrial 
Park (GPIP). It will be applied in combination with underlying zoning districts established for GPIP 
by the Labette County Zoning Code adopted by the Board of County Commissioners by Resolution 
No. 2011-42-L on September 19, 2011. By limiting specific uses or requiring more restrictive 
development standards to individual projects or specific properties, this district is intended to:

1. Retain the Labette County Zoning Code adopted solely for the area of GPIP and based on 
the values and vision established in the Comprehensive Master Redevelopment Plan of the 
former Kansas Army Ammunition Plant.

2. Retain the Standards and Guidelines included as part of the Zoning Code which set forth 
uniform rules and procedures for the protection of the public health, safety, and welfare, for 
the development of property within the GPIP, and establish standards to guide development 
and protect property values.

3. Retain the zoning districts of the Labette County Zoning Code listed as follows: 
 a. Industrial Zone: Industrial Zones are intended primarily for general industrial uses. 

The Industrial Zone is divided into three sub-zones based on minimum lot areas and 
anticipated scale and intensity of development. 

 b. Industrial-Energy Zone: Industrial-Energy Zone is intended for largest of the 
industrial users that require substantial development area, often focused in energy-
related production, distribution, research and development. 

 c. Office - Industrial Zone: Office - Industrial Zone is intended to serve the smallest of 
industrial users that are often combined with front office space uses.

d. Office - Residential Zone: Office - Residential Zone is intended primarily for small 
office buildings and potentially compatible residential uses. 

e. Agriculture - Business Zone: The Agriculture - Business Zone is intended for general 
farming and related operations, including crop production and harvesting, as well as 
business uses associated with or in support of agriculture. 

f. Agriculture - Tourism Zone: the Agriculture - Tourism Zone is intended for general 
farming and related operations, including crop production and harvesting, as well as 
tourism uses associated with or in support of agriculture. 

g. Lodge / Conference Center Zone: The Lodge / Conference Center Zone is intended 
for a lodge or conference facility and associated business, educational, recreational, or 
community uses.

Zoning Districts DRAFT 6/10/24      4 - 4



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

ARTICLE 5.  GRANDFATHERED LOTS, STRUCTURES AND USES 

Section 100 Purpose
The purpose of this Article is to provide for the continuance of existing lots, structures and uses 
which do not meet the requirements and standards of these regulations. These nonconforming lots, 
structures and uses are considered to be “grandfathered in” relative to administration of these 
regulations. Accessory structures and uses associated with grandfathered lots, structures and uses 
are also to be considered grandfathered in. These regulations shall follow State statutes regarding 
nonconforming (grandfathered) lots, structures and uses. A lot, structure or use is no longer 
grandfathered once it is approved as a conditional use. See Article 1 Section 104 Regulatory 
Applicability.

The right to continue a grandfathered lot, structure or use shall not be affected by a change in 
ownership or operator of the structure or use.

 
Grandfathered Lots, Structures & Uses DRAFT 6/10/24      5 - 1



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

ARTICLE 6.  ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT

Section 100 Office of the Zoning Administrator
A Zoning Administrator shall be appointed by the Governing Body. The Zoning Administrator shall 
administer and enforce these regulations, except for those duties specifically assigned to the Clerk.

A. Duties of the Zoning Administrator.
1. Approve and issue all zoning permits and occupancy certificates for conditional uses and 

make and maintain records thereof.
2. Conduct procedures required for the administration of site plan approval and supplemental 

use regulations for conditional use applications.
3. Conduct inspections of buildings, structures and uses of land to determine compliance with 

the provisions of these regulations including site plan approval.
4. Maintain a set of administrative forms to assist applicants and to process the cases 

considered by the Planning Board, Board of Zoning Appeals and Governing Body.
5. Receive, file and forward to the Planning Board the applications and records for all 

amendments and conditional uses which are initially filed with the Zoning Administrator.
6. Receive, file and forward to the Board of Zoning Appeals the applications and records for 

all variances which are initially filed with the Zoning Administrator and forward all records of 
appeals to the Recording Secretary.

7. Maintain permanent and current public records of the zoning regulations, including but not 
limited to all official zoning district maps, amendments, conditional uses, appeals, 
variances, applications thereof and records of hearing thereon.

8. Provide such technical and clerical assistance as may be required by the Planning Board, 
the Board of Zoning Appeals, the Governing Body and other agencies and officials in the 
exercise of their duties relating to these regulations.

9. Provide the Planning Board an assessment of the impact of a renewable energy project 
upon the County in the zoning case report to further goals of the Land Use Plan for such 
projects.

10. Maintain for distribution to the public a supply of the current, zoning regulations, zoning 
district map(s) and any rules of the Planning Board and the Board of Zoning Appeals. A fee 
may be charged to defray the cost of printing and distribution.

11. Maintain the official copy of the zoning district map(s) showing the district boundaries. 
Such map(s) shall be marked 'Official copy of zoning district map(s) incorporated into 
zoning regulations by adoption of Resolution No. _____ by the Board of County 
Commissioners on the _____ day of ___________, 2024' and shall be open to inspection 
and available to the public at all reasonable business hours. Each map shall be signed by 
the Chairperson of the Governing Body and attested to by the Clerk. Periodic changes to 
the map(s) shall be noted by a revision date.

Administration & Enforcement DRAFT 6/10/24      6 - 1



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

B. Duties of the Clerk.   The Clerk shall maintain certain official records and carry out certain 
responsibilities in the administration of these regulations as follows:

1. That not less than three copies of these model regulations shall be marked by the Clerk as 
'Official Copy as Incorporated by Resolution No. ______, (i.e., the resolution approved by 
the Governing Body) and all sections or portions thereof intended to be omitted clearly 
marked to show any such omissions or showing the sections, articles, chapters, parts or 
portions that are incorporated and to which shall be attached a copy of the incorporating 
resolution. Such copies maintained by the Clerk shall be open to inspection and available 
to the public at all reasonable business hours.

2. That the Clerk supply the applicable sheriff's department, court, Zoning Administrator and 
all administrative departments of the County charged with the enforcement of these 
regulations official copies similarly marked as described in Section 100B1 above and at the 
cost to the County. Subsequent amendments to these regulations shall be appended to 
such copies.

3. That such clerical assistance be provided by the Clerk to the Governing Body as to 
facilitate and record the actions of the Governing Body in the exercise of their duties 
relating to these regulations. 

Section 101 Zoning Permits and Occupancy Certificates for Conditional Uses
A. Zoning Permits

1. Permitted uses in all districts shall not be required to obtain a zoning permit. For 
conditional uses, unless a zoning permit shall first have been obtained from the Zoning 
Administrator when required, the construction, reconstruction, moving or structural 
alteration of any building or structure or the improvement of land prior to its use or the use 
of any land or structure being changed to any other use, shall not be commenced. Such 
permits shall not be issued by any other official, employee, department, board or agency of 
the County, except as provided for as a temporary permit. Any zoning permit issued in 
conflict with the provisions of these regulations shall be null and void.

2. No principal or accessory building or structure or use, or portion thereof, shall be permitted 
to locate on or project over any platted or recorded public easement or over any known 
utility installation. Ground level extensions such as concrete slabs or other permanent-type 
materials are not permitted in or on a public easement except as extensions of parking 
spaces, driveways or sidewalks for which a zoning permit has been or is being issued. In 
any event, when such structures or uses are permitted to be located on or project over 
such easements, the property owner assumes the risk and liability for any reconstruction or 
replacement necessary including fences if any maintenance or other improvements are 
required by a governmental agency or a utility provider.

3. A zoning permit is not initially required for grading and/or excavating a proposed 
construction site. (Note: If the site is located in or adjacent to a body of water body or in a 
floodplain area, regulations of the Water Division of Kansas Department of Agriculture may 
affect the site.)

Administration & Enforcement DRAFT 6/10/24      6 - 2



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

4. Application.  Every application for a zoning permit shall be accompanied by the following:
a. A drawing or copy of the recorded plat, in duplicate, of the piece or parcel of land, 

lot(s), block(s), parts or portions thereof, drawn to scale showing the actual dimensions 
of the zoning lot(s), including any easements thereon. A digital copy in an approved 
format shall also be provided.

b. An approved site plan. See Article 3 Section 104 for requirements. One copy of such 
drawings shall be retained by the Zoning Administrator as a public record.

5. Issuance.  A zoning permit shall be either issued or disapproved by the Zoning 
Administrator within 10 days after the receipt of a complete application thereof or within 
such further period as may be agreed to by the applicant. When the Zoning Administrator 
refuses to issue a zoning permit, he shall advise the applicant in writing of the reasons for 
the disapproval.

6. Period of Validity.  For conditional uses under supplemental use regulations, the period of 
validity as stated within the supplemental use regulations shall be followed. For other 
conditional uses, the period of validity shall be one year. A zoning permit shall become null 
and void unless construction, reconstruction, moving or structural alteration of a structure is 
commenced during the period of validity. If the construction or work is abandoned or 
suspended for any 180-day period after such a permit is issued, then application must be 
made to the Zoning Administrator for an extension of time to continue the project. The 
Zoning Administrator may grant reasonable extensions of time provided no changes have 
been made in any applicable regulations. If such changes have occurred, application must 
be made for a new permit based on the provisions of the new or amended regulations in 
order to continue the project.

B. Occupancy Certificates.   Permitted uses in all districts shall not be required to obtain an 
occupancy certificate. No other structures or additions constructed, reconstructed, moved or 
altered after the effective date of these regulations when required shall be occupied or used for 
any purpose unless an occupancy certificate shall first have been obtained from the Zoning 
Administrator certifying that the proposed use or occupancy complies with all the provisions of 
these regulations. No land vacant on the effective date of these regulations shall be used for 
any purpose and no use of any land or structure shall be changed to any other use unless an 
occupancy certificate shall first have been obtained from the Zoning Administrator.

1. Application.  Every application for a zoning permit shall be deemed to be an application for 
an occupancy certificate.

2. Issuance
a. No occupancy certificate for a structure or addition constructed, reconstructed, moved 

or structurally altered or for the new or changed use of any structure or land shall be 
issued after the effective date of these regulations until such work has been completed 
and the premises inspected and certified by the Zoning Administrator to be in full and 
complete compliance with the plans and specifications upon which the permit was 
issued. This includes the requirements for utilities, roads, streets and other public 
improvements required by County codes and policies. Direct access must be 
available from the frontage of each zoning lot to an opened public road or street or 
otherwise the improvement of the road or street must be guaranteed by such methods 
as required by County policies.

Administration & Enforcement DRAFT 6/10/24      6 - 3



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

b. Within 10 days after the receipt of an application or after the Zoning Administrator is 
notified in writing that the structures or premises are ready for occupancy or use, an 
occupancy certificate shall be issued or written notice shall be given to the applicant 
stating the reasons why a certificate cannot be issued. Pending the issuance of a 
permanent occupancy certificate, a temporary occupancy certificate may be issued 
to be valid for a period not to exceed six months from its date pending the completion 
of any addition or improvement(s) or during partial occupancy of the premises; 
provided, satisfactory guarantees are submitted including the possible use of 
performance bonds or escrow accounts. 

Section 102 Enforcement and Liability for Conditional Uses
A. It shall be the duty of the Zoning Administrator or any deputies working under his direction to 

enforce the provisions of these regulations in consultation with the County Counselor in the 
following manner:

1. To refuse to issue any zoning permit or occupancy certificate for any building or structure or 
use of any premises which would violate any of the provisions herein.

2. To revoke a zoning permit and issue a stop order at any time for a building or structure or 
use for which the same was issued when it shall appear (1) that there is a departure from 
the plans, specifications or conditions as required under terms of the permit; (2) that the 
same was procured by the false representation; (3) that it was issued by mistake, or (4) that 
it violates any provisions of the zoning regulations.

3. To cause any building, structure, place or premises to be inspected and examined as 
required by these regulations and to order in writing the remedying of any condition found 
to exist therein or threat in violation of any provisions herein.

4. To institute any appropriate action or proceedings to prevent such unlawful action or use or 
to restrain, correct, or abate such violation on or about the premises of any building or 
structure which is constructed, built, moved, structurally altered or reconstructed or land is 
used in violation of any provisions herein.

B. The Zoning Administrator or designee charged with the enforcement of these regulations, acting 
in good faith and without malice in the discharge of the duties described herein, shall not be 
personally liable for any damage that may accrue to persons or property as a result of any act or 
by reasons of an act or omission in the discharge of such duties. A suit brought against the 
Administrator because of an act or omission performed by the Administrator in the enforcement 
of any provision of these regulations or other pertinent laws or resolutions implemented through 
the enforcement of these regulations shall be defended by the County until final termination of 
such proceedings and any judgment resulting therefrom shall be assumed by the County. (See 
K.S.A. 75-6101, et seq. in general and K.S.A. 75-6109 specifically.) 

Administration & Enforcement DRAFT 6/10/24      6 - 4

http://ksrevisor.org/statutes/chapters/ch75/075_061_0001.html
xhttp://ksrevisor.org/statutes/chapters/ch75/075_061_0009.html


Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

Section 103 Violations
A. Penalties. Pursuant to K.S.A. 12-761, as amended, any violations of these regulations shall be 

deemed a misdemeanor. The owner or agent of a building, structure or premises in or upon 
which violation of any provision of these regulations has been committed or shall exist or the 
lessee or tenant of an entire building or entire premises in or upon which a violation has been 
committed or shall exist; or the agent, architect, building contractor or any other person who 
commits, takes part in or assists in any violation or who maintains any building, structure or 
premise in or upon which a violation has been committed or shall exist, shall be punished by a 
fine not to exceed $500.00 or by imprisonment for not more than six months for each offense or 
by both such fine and imprisonment. Each day’s violation shall constitute a separate offense.

B. Remedies. In case any building or structure is erected, constructed, reconstructed, structurally 
altered, converted or maintained; or any building, structure or land is used or is proposed to be 
used in violation of these regulations, the appropriate authorities of Labette County, in addition 
to using other remedies, may institute injunction, mandamus, or other appropriate action or 
proceeding to prevent such unlawful erection, construction, reconstruction, alteration, 
conversion, maintenance or to correct or abate such violation, or to prevent the occupancy of 
such building, structure or land. In addition to the County, any person, the value or use of whose 
property is or may be affected by such violation, shall have the authority to maintain suits or 
actions in any court of competent jurisdiction to enforce these regulations and to abate 
nuisances in violation thereof. 

Section 104 Fees for Conditional Use Applications
For purposes of wholly or partially defraying the costs of the administrative and enforcement 
provisions described in these regulations, including publication costs, the applicant upon filing an 
application for a conditional use shall pay the Clerk a fee according to the fee schedule approved by 
the Governing Body. Such fee shall be based upon the intensity and scale of the proposed 
conditional use. An application shall not be processed until such fee is received. These fees include  
application for appeals, variances or a zoning permit including occupancy certificate related to the 
conditional use.

Section 105 Reports
The Zoning Administrator shall periodically report verbally or in writing to the Governing Body and 
the Planning Board a summary of all zoning permits issued during the preceding period, giving 
details of any permitted variations, as well as the current status of all applications in process for 
amendments, conditional uses, appeals and variances. Such a report shall include comments on 
any problems encountered in the administration or enforcement of these regulations which may 
especially be of use at the annual review established by Article 8 Section 105.

Administration & Enforcement DRAFT 6/10/24      6 - 5

https://www.ksrevisor.org/statutes/chapters/ch12/012_007_0061.html


Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

ARTICLE 7. BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS 

Section 100 Authorization
The Planning Board as previously established by the Governing Body has been designated to also 
serve as the Board of Zoning Appeals as prescribed by K.S.A 12-759, as amended, and hereinafter 
in this Article will be referred to as the “Board.”

Section 101 General Procedures
All members of the Planning Board are voting members of the Board whether they reside inside or 
outside of a city and shall serve without compensation, but may be reimbursed for expenses when 
authorized by the Governing Body. All officers of the Planning Board are officers of the Board 
including the Recording Secretary. Public records shall be kept of all official actions of the Board 
which shall be maintained separately from the Planning Board by the Recording Secretary. The 
Board shall keep minutes of its proceedings showing evidence presented, findings of fact, decisions 
and the vote of each member upon each question. If a member is absent, abstaining or disqualified 
from voting, such fact should be indicated. Special meetings shall be held at the call of the 
Chairperson and at such other times as the Board may determine in its bylaws. Board meetings 
may be held separately from a Planning Board meeting or in conjunction with such a meeting 
wherein the Planning Board may recess a portion of its meeting to conduct business of the Board 
and to reconvene to continue the Planning Board agenda. When a quorum is declared present, all 
actions of the Board including appeals and variances shall be made by motion and decided by a 
majority vote of the members present and voting.

The Board shall adopt rules for its operation in the form of bylaws which shall include hearing 
procedures and will not be in conflict with the resolution designating the Planning Board as the 
Board, the applicable State statutes and the provisions of these regulations. Such bylaws shall be 
subject to the approval of the Governing Body. The Governing Body shall establish a scale of 
reasonable fees to be paid in advance by the appealing party.

Section 102 Jurisdiction
The Board shall have the following jurisdiction and authority as a quasi-judicial body: 

A. To hear and decide appeals where it is alleged there is error in any order, requirement, decision 
or determination (all hereinafter referred to collectively as “decision”) made by the Zoning 
Administrator in the enforcement of these regulations subject to the procedure and standards 
set out in Article 7 Section 106.

B. To hear and decide on variances from specific terms of these regulations subject to the 
procedure and standards set out in Article 7 Section 107.

Board of Zoning Appeals DRAFT 6/10/24      7 - 1

https://www.ksrevisor.org/statutes/chapters/ch12/012_007_0059.html


Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

Section 103 Notice of Hearing
For the hearing on each appeal for a decision or variance, public notice of the date, time and place 
of the hearing, the legal description or a general description sufficient to identify the property under 
consideration, and a brief description of the subject of such hearing shall be published once in the 
official newspaper so that at least 20 days shall elapse between the date of such publication and 
the date for the hearing. All notices shall include a statement that a complete legal description is 
available for public inspection and shall indicate where such information is available when only a 
general description of the property is provided in the notice. A copy of such notice shall be mailed to 
each party making the appeal and to the Recording Secretary of the Planning Board.

The Board shall also provide notice to all owners of record of real property located within at least 
1,000 feet of the property under consideration which is outside of any city and for 200 feet inside 
any city which is within the 1,000 - foot notification area. In any event, all the owners of property 
adjacent to any land contiguously owned by the applicant outside of the property under 
consideration shall be notified. If any of these notification areas extend into another county, similar 
notification shall be given to owners of that area. Such notice shall be mailed so that at least 20 
days shall elapse between the mailing date and the hearing date. A list of such owners of record 
of real property with their addresses and zip codes shall be provided by the applicant. Failure to 
receive such notice after it has been properly addressed and deposited in the mail shall not 
invalidate any subsequent action taken by the Board. If there is no quorum present for the meeting 
or available at the time of the hearing, the members in attendance may agree to hold another 
meeting in the future at a stated date, time and place for which, when announced at the present 
meeting, no further public notice need be given.

The Board may give additional notice to other persons as it may from time to time provide by its 
rules. Such rules include requirements for additional notice to be provided for by the posting of 
signs on the property to be considered in the appeal application. 

Section 104 Conduct of Hearing
The Board shall select a reasonable time and place for the hearing on each appeal of a decision or 
variance. All hearings shall be open to the public; however, when hearing such appeals the Board 
exercises quasi-judicial functions and, thus, may upon proper motion proceed to deliberate in 
closed session according to K.S.A. 75-4318(a). No binding action may be taken and all voting must 
be conducted in an open meeting. Any person may appear and testify at a hearing, either in person 
or by a duly authorized agent or attorney. Every decision of the Board shall be filed without 
unreasonable delay with the Zoning Administrator and shall be open to public inspection during 
reasonable business hours.

Section 105 Finality and Judicial Review of Decisions
Any order or determination of the Board on an appeal for a decision or a variance, shall be final 
decisions and shall be subject to judicial review, but not appealable to the Planning Board or the 
Governing Body.

Any person, official or governmental agency, jointly or separately dissatisfied by any decision of the 
Board, may present to the County District Court, a petition, duly verified, stating that such decision 
is illegal in whole or in part, specifying the grounds of the illegality and asking for relief therefrom 
based on a determination of the reasonableness of any such order or determination. Such petition 
shall be filed with the Court within 30 days after the date of filing the final decision with the Zoning 
Administrator.

Board of Zoning Appeals DRAFT 6/10/24      7 - 2

http://ksrevisor.org/statutes/chapters/ch75/075_043_0018.html


Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

Section 106 Appeals
An appeal from a decision of the Zoning Administrator with respect to the interpretation, application 
or enforcement of these regulations may be taken to the Board by any person aggrieved, or by any 
officer of the County, or any governmental agency or body affected by any decision of the Zoning 
Administrator. 

A. Time for Appeals.   Appeals shall be made within 30 days after a decision has been made by 
the Zoning Administrator by filing an application for appeal. Upon the Recording Secretary's 
receipt of an application for appeal and notification to the Zoning Administrator, the Administrator 
shall forthwith transmit to the Secretary all of the papers constituting the record upon which the 
decision being appealed was based.

B. Application.   An application for an appeal shall (1) be filed with the Recording Secretary, (2) 
specify the grounds for such an appeal, (3) include the legal description of any property involved 
with the appeal, (4) be accompanied by an ownership list as required by Article 7 Section 103 
and the filing fee, and (5) provide such additional information as may be prescribed by rule of 
the Board.

C. Stay of Proceedings.   An appeal shall stay all legal proceedings in furtherance of the action 
appealed from unless the Zoning Administrator certifies to the Board, after the application for 
appeal has been filed, that by reason of facts stated in the certificate a stay would, in his 
opinion, cause imminent peril to life or property. In such case, the proceedings shall not be 
stayed other than by a restraining order which may be granted by the Board or by a court of 
record on petition with notice to the Zoning Administrator and on the basis of due cause shown.

D. Hearing and Notice.   A hearing on the application for such an appeal shall be held and notice 
thereof given as specified under Article 7 Sections 103 and 104 and which are consistent with 
the general procedures and records required by Article 7 Section 101.

E. Decision.   The Board may affirm or reverse, wholly or partly, or may modify the order, 
requirement, decision or determination appealed from, and may make such order, requirement, 
decision or determination as ought to be made and to that end shall have all the powers of the 
Zoning Administrator, and may issue or direct the issuance of a permit and/or occupancy 
certificate. No conditions can be attached to such a decision, unless the Zoning Administrator 
was equally permitted to attach such conditions by these regulations. The Board shall render a 
written decision in the form of a resolution on the appeal without unreasonable delay after the 
close of a hearing and, in all cases, within 45 days after the close of the hearing.

Section 107 Variances
The Board may authorize such variances from the terms of these regulations as will not be contrary 
to the public interest and provided that the spirit of the regulations shall be observed, public safety 
and welfare secured and substantial justice done. Variances may be authorized only in those 
specific instances enumerated in Article 7 Section 107C and then only when the Board has made 
findings of fact based upon the standards set out in Article 7 Section 107D that owing to special 
conditions a literal enforcement of the provisions of these regulations will, in an individual case, 
result in unnecessary hardship for the owner, lessee or occupant of land or structures. According to 
K.S.A. 12-759(e), any such variance shall not permit any use not permitted by these regulations in 
the zoning district in which the variance is requested. 

Board of Zoning Appeals DRAFT 6/10/24      7 - 3

https://www.ksrevisor.org/statutes/chapters/ch12/012_007_0059.html


Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

A. Application.   An application for a variance shall (1) be filed with the Zoning Administrator, (2) 
provide the legal description of the property involved with the variance, (3) be accompanied by 
an ownership list as required by Article 7 Section 103 and the filing fee and (4) contain the 
following information as well as such additional information as may be prescribed by rule of the 
Board:

1. The particular requirements of these regulations which prevent the proposed use or 
construction;

2. The characteristics of the subject property which prevent compliance with the requirements 
of these regulations;

3. The reduction of the minimum requirements of these regulations which would be necessary 
to permit the proposed use or construction;

4. The particular hardship which would result if the particular requirements of these 
regulations were applied to the subject property; and

5. Submit a sketch drawn to scale showing the lot(s) included in the application, the structures 
existing thereon and the structures proposed that necessitate the request.

B. Hearing and Notice.   A hearing on the application for such a variance shall be held and notice 
thereof given as specified under Article 7 Sections 103 and 104 and which are consistent with 
the general procedures and records required by Article 7 Section 101.

C. Authorized.   Variances from the provisions of these regulations shall be granted by the Board 
only in accordance with the standards set out in Article 7 Section 107D, and may be granted 
only in the following instances below and in no others.

1. To vary the applicable minimum lot area, lot width and lot depth requirements.
2. To vary the applicable bulk regulations, including maximum height and minimum lot 

coverage and setback area requirements.
3. To vary the dimensional provisions for obstructions in required setback areas.
4. To vary the number of required off-street parking and the amount of off-street loading.
5. To vary dimensional sign provisions.

D. Standards.
1. The Board may grant a variance upon specific written findings of fact based upon the 

particular evidence presented to it at the hearing that all the conditions required by K.S.A. 
12-759(e) have been met which are listed below:

a. That the variance requested arises from such condition which is unique to the property 
in question and which is not ordinarily found in the same zoning district, and is not 
created by an action or actions of the property owner or the applicant;

b. That granting of the variance will not adversely affect the rights of adjacent property 
owners or residents;

c. That strict application of the provisions of these regulations from which a variance is 
requested will constitute unnecessary hardship upon the property owner represented 
in the application;

d. That the variance desired will not adversely affect the public heath, safety, morals, 
order, convenience, prosperity or general welfare; and

e. That granting the variance desired will not be opposed to the general spirit and intent 
of these regulations.

Board of Zoning Appeals DRAFT 6/10/24      7 - 4

https://www.ksrevisor.org/statutes/chapters/ch12/012_007_0059.html
https://www.ksrevisor.org/statutes/chapters/ch12/012_007_0059.html


Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

2. In determining whether the evidence supports the conclusions required by Section 107D1 
above, the Board shall consider the extent to which the evidence demonstrates that:

a. The particular physical surroundings, shape or topographical condition of the specific 
property involved would result in a practical difficulty or unnecessary hardship upon or 
for the owner, lessee or occupant, as distinguished from a mere inconvenience, if the 
provisions of these regulations were literally enforced;

b. The request for a variance is not based exclusively upon a desire of the owner, lessee, 
occupant or applicant to make more money out of the property;

c. The granting of the variance will not be materially detrimental or injurious to other 
property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the subject property is located; 
and

d. The proposed variance will not impair an adequate supply of light or air to adjacent 
property, substantially increase congestion on public roads or streets, increase the 
danger of fire, endanger the public safety or substantially diminish or impair property 
values within the neighborhood.

E. Conditions.   In granting a variance, the Board may impose such conditions upon the premises 
benefitted by the variance as may be necessary to comply with the standards set out in Section 
107D above which would reduce or minimize any potentially injurious effect of such variance 
upon other property in the neighborhood and to carry out the general purpose and intent of 
these regulations, including methods for guaranteeing performance. Failure to comply with any 
of the conditions for a variance which are later attached to a zoning permit shall constitute a 
violation of these regulations. If an applicant desires to make a change in a condition at a later 
date, it is necessary to apply for a rehearing and a decision be made in the same manner as the 
original variance; however, only the requested condition is to be reconsidered at the hearing.

F. Decisions and Records.   The Board shall render a written decision containing specific findings 
of fact in the form of a resolution on an application for a variance without unreasonable delay 
after the close of a hearing, but in all cases within 45 days after the close of the hearing. The 
Zoning Administrator shall maintain complete records of all actions of the Board with respect to 
applications for variances in order to property issue permits.

G. Period of Validity.   No variance granted by the Board shall be valid for a period longer than 
180 days from the date on which the Board grants the variance, unless within such 180-day 
period a zoning permit is obtained and the variance requested is started. The Board may grant 
extensions not exceeding 180 days each, upon written application, without further notice or 
hearing; provided, that such application is filed during the 180 day period of the original grant or 
an extension thereof. 

Board of Zoning Appeals DRAFT 6/10/24      7 - 5



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

ARTICLE 8. AMENDMENTS 

Section 100 General Provisions for Amendments
These regulations and the districts created under the authority of these regulations may be 
amended from time to time by the Planning Board following a public hearing and the approval by 
the Governing Body. No such amendment shall be adopted except in accordance with the 
procedures of this Article 8. Conditional use applications are not amendments, but are processed in 
the same manner. (See Article 8 Section 101 for conditional uses.)

A. Proposal.   Amendments or conditional uses may be proposed:  (1) by the Governing Body, (2) 
by the Planning Board or (3) upon application by, or on behalf of the owner of the property 
affected, but only in accordance with the procedure set forth in Section 100B below. When the 
Governing Body proposes an amendment, it shall transmit its proposal to the Planning Board for 
a public hearing and recommendation thereon.

B. Application.   When the owner of the property affected proposes an amendment to any of 
these regulations or to any zoning district created thereby, an application shall (1) be filed with 
the Zoning Administrator who refers it to the Planning Board for a hearing, (2) by in such form 
and contain such information as shall be prescribed from time to time by the Board and (3) in all 
instances contain the following information:

1. The applicant's name, address and telephone number;
2. The precise wording of any proposed amendment to the text of these regulations or the 

exact description of the conditional use requested;
3. In the event that the proposed amendment would change the zoning district classification of 

any specific property;
a. The name, address and telephone number of the owner of the property and, if any, the 

agent representing the owner;
b. The legal description of the property and a general description such as a street 

address sufficient to identify the property;
c. The present and proposed zoning district classifications and existing uses of the 

property and structure thereon;
d. The dimensions of the property and the zoning lot area stated in square feet or acres 

or fractions thereof, and
e. An ownership list of the names, addresses and zip codes of the owners of record of 

real property located within at least 1,000 feet of the exterior boundaries of the area 
described in the application. If such area is located adjacent to a city, the ownership list 
shall provide similar information extending to at least 200 feet inside the corporate 
limits of the city if such an area would otherwise be part of the 1,000-foot notification 
area. Furthermore, the ownership list shall include similar information for all owners of 
record of property adjacent to any land contiguously owned by the applicant outside of 
the area described in the application. If any of these notification areas extend into 
another county, similar notification shall be given to owners of that area.

Amendments DRAFT 6/10/24      8 - 1



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

C. Public Hearing.   The Planning Board shall hold a public hearing on each proposed 
amendment or conditional use that is filed with, referred to, or initiated by the Board. The Board 
shall select a reasonable time and place for such public hearing, and it shall hold such hearing 
within 45 days from the date on which the proposed amendment or conditional use is received 
or initiated. An applicant for an amendment or conditional use may waive the requirement that 
such hearing be held within 45 days.

D. Notice of Hearing.   One of the following three procedures shall be selected to provide proper 
notice for a public hearing for any zoning amendment or conditional use application:

1. Public notice of a hearing by the Planning Board shall be published once in the official 
newspaper by the Zoning Administrator. At least 20 days shall elapse between the date of 
such publication and the date set for such hearing. Such notice shall state the date, time 
and place of the hearing and shall contain a statement regarding the proposed changes in 
regulations or the zoning classification or zoning district boundaries of any property. If the 
proposed amendment would change the zoning classification of any specific property or the 
boundaries of any zoning district, such notice shall contain the legal description or a 
general description sufficient to identify the property under consideration. If a general 
description is used, the notice shall include a statement that a complete legal description is 
available for public inspection and where such description is available.
In addition to such publication notice, the Zoning Administrator shall mail a written notice of 
the hearing containing information similar to the published notice thereof to the applicant 
and to the owners of record of all real property located within at least 1,000 feet of the 
exterior boundaries of the area described in the amendment application. If any part of a 
1,000-foot notification area extends into any city limits, notification shall also be given for a 
200-foot distance inside the city. Furthermore, such notice shall also be given to all 
owners of record of property adjacent to any land contiguously owned by the applicant 
outside of the property under consideration that is not otherwise in the area of notification. 
Only the above 1,000-foot and 200-foot notification distances are eligible to be part of the 
legal protest areas described in Article 8 Section 103. The notice to adjacent property 
owners including the applicant shall be mailed so that 20 days shall elapse between the 
mailing date and the hearing date. Notice shall be addressed to the real property owners as 
recorded in the Register of Deeds Office and deposited in the mail. The burden of the 
address for notification of the property owners of interest shall be the responsibility of the 
applicant. Failure of a party to receive such notice shall not invalidate any subsequent 
action taken by the Board or the Governing Body.

2. Whenever five or more owners of record of real property owning 10 or more contiguous 
lots, tracts or parcels of the same zoning classification initiate a rezoning of their property 
from a less restrictive to a more restrictive zoning classification, such amendment shall 
require notice by publication only and hearing in like manner as required by Article 8 
Section 100C. Such zoning amendment shall not require written notice and shall not be 
subject to the protest petition provision of Article 8 Section 103.

Amendments DRAFT 6/10/24      8 - 2



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

3. Whenever the Governing Body or the Planning Board initiates a rezoning from a less 
restrictive to a more restrictive zoning classification of 10 or more contiguous or 
noncontiguous lots, tracts or parcels of the same zoning classification having five or more 
owners of record of real property, such amendment shall require notice by publication and 
hearing in like manner as that required by Article 8 Section 100C. In addition, written notice 
shall be required to be mailed to only owners of record of real properties to be 
rezoned and only such owners shall be eligible to initiate a protest petition under Article 8 
Section 103.

The Board may give such additional notice to other persons as it may from time to time 
provide by its rules. Such rules may include requirements for additional notice to be 
provided for by the posting of signs on the land to be considered in the amendment 
application.

a. Hearing notice shall be provided to incorporated cities of the County when zoning 
amendments are being considered within the A-2 Agricultural Transition District. A 
planning commission or representatives of the city may review and provide a 
recommendation to the Planning Board for approval, approval with suggested 
conditions or disapproval of the case.

E. Conduct of Hearing.
1. All hearings that these regulations require the Planning Board to conduct for amendments 

or general revisions in the text of these regulations or the zoning classifications or in district 
boundaries shall be open public meetings according to K.S.A 75-4317 et seq., the Open 
Meetings Act. Legislative hearings are required for changes or revisions in these 
regulations.
When a proposed amendment will affect the zoning classification or district boundary of 
specific property, however, the Board acts in a quasi-judicial capacity for the hearing and 
may upon proper motion proceed to deliberate in closed session according to K.S.A. 
75-4318. No binding action can be taken in such a session and all voting must be 
conducted in an open meeting.

2. Any interested person or party may appear and be heard at the hearing or be heard by 
agent or by attorney.

3. The hearing shall be conducted and a record of the proceedings shall be preserved in such 
a manner and according to such procedures as the Board may from time to time prescribe 
by rule or bylaws which are not in conflict with these regulations or applicable State 
statutes.

4. The Board shall keep minutes of the proceedings showing evidence presented at hearings, 
findings of fact by the Board, motions made and the vote of each member upon any 
question or recommendation. If a member is absent, abstains or disqualified, such fact shall 
be indicated.

5. The Board may request a report on any proposed amendment from any governmental 
official or agency, or any other person, firm or corporation. If such a report is made, a copy 
thereof shall be made available to the applicant and any other interested person prior to or 
at the public hearing. 

Amendments DRAFT 6/10/24      8 - 3

https://www.ksrevisor.org/statutes/chapters/ch75/075_043_0017.html
https://www.ksrevisor.org/statutes/chapters/ch75/075_043_0018.html
https://www.ksrevisor.org/statutes/chapters/ch75/075_043_0018.html


Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

6. The Board may make recommendations on proposed amendments to specific properties 
which affect only a portion of the land described in the hearing notice or which give all or 
any part of the land described a zoning classification of lesser change than that set forth in 
the notice. A recommendation for a zoning classification of lesser change than that set forth 
in the notice shall not be valid, however, without republication and, where necessary, re-
mailing of notices.

7. For action on zoning amendments, a quorum of the Board must be more than one half of 
the membership as established by resolution. A majority of the members of the Board 
present and voting at the hearing shall be required to recommend approval or disapproval 
of the amendment to the Governing Body. If the Board fails to make a recommendation on 
a rezoning request, the Board shall be deemed to have a recommendation of disapproval.

8. A hearing may be adjourned from time to time upon a motion to continue in the future at 
some stated date, time and place. At the conclusion, of a hearing, the Board shall prepare 
its findings and the factors on which to base its recommendation and vote.

9. If a meeting is called or a hearing is on the agenda and no quorum is present, the members 
in attendance may agree to hold the hearing at another meeting in the future at a stated 
date, time and place or at the next regular meeting for which, when announced at the 
present scheduled meeting, no further public notice need be given to continue the hearing.

F. Report by Planning Board.   Within 14 days after the close of a public hearing on a proposed 
amendment, the Planning Board shall submit a report to the Governing Body. A copy of this 
report shall also be filed with the Clerk and the Zoning Administrator and such copies shall be 
kept available for public inspection. A copy of the report shall also be mailed to the applicant. 
Such report shall contain a recommendation as to whether the proposed amendment should be 
approved or disapproved and specific written determinations on the items listed in Article 8 
Sections 100G or 100H and on such other items as the Board may consider relevant. The report 
submitted to the Governing Body shall be accompanied by a summary of the hearing on the 
proposed amendment. In lieu of a report, the above information may be contained in the 
minutes of the meeting and submitted to the Governing Body.

G. Amendments to Text.   When a proposed amendment proposed by the Governing Body or 
Planning Board would result in a change or revision in the text of these regulations, but would 
not result in a change of zoning classification of any specific property, a legislative hearing 
shall be held by the Board. The minutes or report shall contain a statement as to the intent and 
purpose of such proposed amendment.

Amendments DRAFT 6/10/24      8 - 4



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

H. Review Criteria for Amendments or Conditional Uses.   When a proposed rezoning 
amendment or conditional use would result in a zoning change for any specific property, the 
report of the Planning Board, accompanied by a summary of the hearing, shall contain 
statements as to
(1) the present and proposed district classifications or description of the conditional use, 
(2) the applicant's reasons for requesting such reclassification or conditional use and 
(3) a statement of the factors where relevant upon which the recommendation of the Board is 

based using the following factors as guidelines: *

Factors Addressed in Zoning Administrator Report: The Zoning Administrator will provide a 
preparatory report for their review, addressing the following factors:

a. Does adequate public infrastructure (including water, sewer, and street access) exist or 
could it be provided, in order to serve proposed uses under the changed zoning 
classification?

b. If the zoning change request was approved would the subject property need to be platted 
or replatted, or have in-lieu-of dedications made, in order to provide needed rights of way, 
easements, building setback lines, or access control?

c. Has a required site plan been received and reviewed?
d. For conditional uses, when applicable, have requirements of supplemental use regulations 

been met?
e. What fact-based information in support of or in opposition to the requested zoning change 

has staff received?
f. If there has been an error in the application of these Zoning Regulations to the subject 

property, would the requested zoning change correct the error?

_________________

* NOTE:  All the factors stated in the decision of Golden v. City of Overland Park, 224 Kan. 591, 584 
P. 2d 130 (1978) are included in these lists. In using these factors as guidelines, modifications may 
be made in the criteria to more specifically relate them to the particular zoning change in 
classification or conditional use. 

Amendments DRAFT 6/10/24      8 - 5



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

Factors for Planning Board Consideration:
a. How suitable or unsuitable is the subject property for its current zoning?
b. Is the length of time the subject property has been vacant or undeveloped under its current 

zoning a factor in the zoning change request?
c. How reasonably well-suited will the requested zoning change of the subject property be 

with the current zoning of nearby properties?
d. Has the zoning change been requested because conditions in the area of the subject 

property have changed or are changing? If so, what is the nature and significance of these 
conditions?

e. What are the current land uses, character and condition of the subject property and the 
surrounding neighborhood?

f. Would the proposed zoning change of the subject property allow land uses which might 
have detrimental effects on nearby properties, and if so, how?

g. How would this requested zoning change conform with the County's Land Use Plan and 
other adopted master plans and policies?

h. Do any professional persons knowledgeable on conditions that affect this zoning change 
request have information or recommendations to provide, which would be helpful in its 
evaluation?

i. How would the potential loss in value or hardship imposed on the Applicant compare to the 
relative gain to the public health, safety, and welfare if there is a change from the current 
zone to the requested zone?

Of those factors considered as relevant to the requested change in zoning district classification or 
boundary or conditional use, not all factors need to be given equal consideration by the Board in 
deciding upon its recommendation.

Amendments DRAFT 6/10/24      8 - 6



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

Section 101 Conditional Uses
Because of particular factors associated with their activities, certain uses which might have an 
adverse effect upon nearby properties or upon the character and future development of a district 
are not permitted outright in districts, but are permitted as “conditional uses” when their proposed 
location is supplemented by additional conditions such as to make the use considered compatible 
with the surrounding property, the neighborhood and the zoning district.

Conditions may be placed on the property which is the subject of the conditional use application, or 
on the applicant, or on both.

A. Checklist of Conditions.   To aid the Planning Board in review of a conditional use application, 
potential conditions may include, but are not limited to, requirements affecting the following:

1. Planning requirements
a. Parcel or lot size, setback area dimensions, lot coverage or height of buildings
b. Infrastructure such as road construction, utilities or storm drainage, which may include 

platting and/or dedications
(1) Change in road or street width
(2) Extent and location of entrance or exit drives
(3) Parking and surfacing materials

c. Screening, fencing and/or landscaping to protect neighboring properties
d. Size, location and number of signs
e. The period and time of operations

2. Regulatory requirements
a. Land Use
b. Supplemental Use Regulations
c. Site Plan approval 

3. Legal requirements
a. Development Agreement 
b. Road Agreement 
c. Decommissioning Agreement

4. Financial requirements
a. Financial Surety Agreement
b. Liability Insurance
c. Financial Assurances
d. Property Value Agreement 

5. Public health and safety requirements
a. Fire & Emergency Services protection
b. Aviation lighting 

Amendments DRAFT 6/10/24      8 - 7



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

6. Environmental requirements
a. Environmental Studies, establishing standards for air and water pollution, noise, 

vibration, lighting and other such conditions
b. Water quality
c. Flooding protection
d. Visual impact
e. Noise impact
f. Reception interference

g. Environmental mitigation 
7. Ecological requirements

a. Wildlife habitat
b. Protected or endangered species
c. Avian or bat mortality

Requirements can be made more stringent if potentially injurious effects may be anticipated at 
nearby properties or in the neighborhood or if those effects are likely to be contrary to the welfare 
and convenience of the public. Failure to comply with any of the conditions required for a 
conditional use which are attached to a zoning permit, shall constitute a violation of these 
regulations. If an applicant desires to make a change in a condition at a later date, it is necessary to 
apply for a rehearing and a decision be made in the same manner as the original conditional use; 
however, only the requested condition is to be reconsidered at the hearing.

Although the Official Zoning District Map is not amended, the procedure for approval of a 
conditional use shall otherwise be the same as for an amendment to change a zoning district 
classification or boundary which is set forth in Section 100 of this Article including the provisions for 
filing protest petitions in Section 103; provided, that any conditions which are attached to the 
conditional use shall be made a part of the effectuating resolution. Applications for conditional uses 
shall be accompanied by a site plan of the proposed development. Concurrent applications may be 
processed for changing zoning district classifications as amendments and approving conditional 
uses on the same property. wherein joint notices are advertised and mailed and hearing held; 
however, separate motions, review criteria and effectuating resolutions are necessary.No 
conditional use approval by the Governing Body shall be valid for a period longer than one year 
from the publication date of the effectuating resolution unless (1) another time period is designated 
as a condition attached to the conditional use; or (2) an application is filed and a zoning permit is 
approved during the period of validity. The Governing Body may authorize extensions of the validity 
time period without notice or public hearing for not more than one year upon a written request 
received within a valid period. Upon expiration of a validity period, the effectuating resolution 
automatically becomes null and void unless an extension has been granted or a zoning permit has 
been obtained.

Amendments DRAFT 6/10/24      8 - 8



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

Section 102 Public Project Review
In the event that certain public improvements, facilities or utilities of a type embraced within the 
recommendations of the Land Use Plan are classified as conditional uses or are the subject of a 
change in zoning classification or district boundary, the consideration of such uses by the Planning 
Board in conjunction with a zoning application may also constitute their project review of such 
proposed use if concurrently processed under procedures required by K.S.A. 12-748, as amended; 
provided, that a statement of findings is included in the Board's approval or disapproval as to 
whether such proposed use is or is not in conformance with the Land Use Plan. In case the Board 
finds that the proposed use is not in conformance to the Land Use Plan and states in writing the 
manner in which it is not in conformance, then the Governing Body shall not proceed with 
construction of such a proposed use unless the Governing Body by a majority vote overrides the 
disapproval of the Board and the Land Use Plan shall be deemed to have been amended and the 
Board shall make the necessary changes in the Land Use Plan to reflect the vote of the Governing 
Body.

Section 103 Filing of Protest
Whether or not the Planning Board approves or disapproves a zoning change, if a written protest 
petition against a proposed amendment for a specific property or a conditional use shall be filed in 
the office of the Clerk within 14 days after the date of the conclusion of the hearing by the Board 
which is signed and an accurate legal description of their property provided by the owners of record 
of 20% or more of any real property proposed to be altered or changed, excluding streets or public 
ways, or by the owners of record of 20% or more of the real property within the total area required 
in the official area of notification by Article 8 Section 100D, excluding streets and public ways and 
specific statutorily excluded property as described below; then the effectuating resolution shall not 
be passed except by at least a 3/4 vote of all the members of the Governing Body.

Property statutorily excluded from determining the sufficiency of a protest petition when calculating 
the total real property within the notification area is that which was (1) requested by the owner of the 
specific property or rezoning for a conditional use; or (2) the owner of the specific property 
requested for rezoning or a conditional use who does not oppose in writing such rezoning or 
conditional use.   (See Article 8 Section 100D2 and D3 for protest petition exceptions for rezoning 
from a lesser restrictive to a more restrictive zoning classification.) 

Amendments DRAFT 6/10/24      8 - 9

https://www.ksrevisor.org/statutes/chapters/ch12/012_007_0048.html


Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

Section 104 Adoption of Amendments and Conditional Uses by the Governing Body
When the Planning Board in its report submits a recommendation of approval or disapproval of a 
proposed amendment or conditional use including the basis therefore, the Governing Body may:  
(1) Adopt such recommendation by an effectuating resolution; (2) override the Board's 
recommendation by a 2/3 majority vote of the membership of the Governing Body; or (3) return 
such recommendation to the Board with a statement specifying the basis for the Governing Body's 
failure to approve or disapprove. If the Governing Body returns the Board's recommendation, the 
Board, after considering the same, may resubmit its original recommendation giving the reasons 
therefore or submit a new or amended recommendation. Upon the receipt of such recommendation, 
the Governing Body, by a simple majority thereof, may adopt or may revise or amend and adopt 
such recommendation by the effectuating resolution or it need take no further action thereon. If the 
Board fails to deliver its recommendation to the Governing Body following the Board's next regular 
meeting after receipt of the Governing Body's report, the Governing Body shall consider such 
course of inaction on the part of the Board as a resubmission of the original recommendation and 
proceed accordingly.

In considering its decision under each of the above set of circumstances, the Governing Body shall 
take into account the guidelines in Article 8 Section 100H which are relevant to the proposed 
amendment or conditional use and, having reviewed the Board's findings of fact and the factors 
upon which their recommendation is based, the Governing Body either adopts the Board's findings 
and factors by reference or records their own findings of fact and the factors upon which their 
decision is based.

The proposed amendment or conditional use shall become effective upon publication of the 
respective adopting resolution. If such an amendment affects the classification or boundaries of any 
zoning district, the respective resolution shall legally describe the classification or boundaries as 
amended, shall order the official zoning district map to be changed to reflect such amendment and 
shall reincorporate such maps as amended.

Section 105 Annual Review
In order to maintain these regulations including the official zoning district map(s), the Planning 
Board shall annually hold a public review at their first regular meeting of the calendar year to 
consider amendments, if any, to these regulations. Preceding such a review, the Governing Body, 
other affected governmental agencies, and interested private organizations and individuals should 
be notified of the intent to review and their ideas requested. In presentation for such a review, the 
Zoning Administrator shall maintain a master copy of the current zoning regulations on which are 
recorded comments and ideas brought to the attention of the Administrator during the preceding 
year to maintain the intent and purpose of the zoning regulations under changing conditions. and to 
implement the Land Use Plan.

Section 106 Judicial Review
As provided by K.S.A. 12-760, as amended, any resolution, regulation, amendment, conditional 
use, or other zoning decision provided for or authorized by these regulations shall be reasonable 
and any person aggrieved thereby may have the reasonableness of any decision determined by 
bringing an action against the County within 30 days after a final decision is made by the County. 
In the event that an amendment to these regulations or a conditional use is approved by the 
Governing Body, the 30-day period commences when the effectuating resolution is published. Such 
action shall be brought in the Labette County District Court. 

Amendments DRAFT 6/10/24      8 - 10

https://www.ksrevisor.org/statutes/chapters/ch12/012_007_0060.html


Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

ARTICLE 9. SEVERABILITY AND EFFECTIVE DATE

Section 100 Severability
If any provisions of these regulations are held to be unconstitutional or otherwise invalid by any 
court of competent jurisdiction, then such provisions shall be considered separately and apart from 
the remaining provisions of these regulations, so as to be completely severable and the remaining 
provisions of these regulations shall remain in full force and effect. 

Section 101 Effective Date
These regulations shall be in full force and effect from and after their adoption by the Planning 
Board, approval by the Governing Body and adoption of a resolution incorporating these regulations 
by reference, and publication of such resolution in the official county newspaper.

ADOPTED by the Labette County Planning Board on ______________, 2024. 

/s/  

________________, Chairperson 

ATTEST: 

/s/  

___________________________, Secretary 

APPROVED and ADOPTED by the Board of Commissioners of Labette County, Kansas  
on ______________, 2024. 

/s/  

___________________________, Chairperson 

/s/  

___________________________, Commissioner 

/s/  

___________________________, Commissioner 

Severability & Effective Date DRAFT 6/10/24      9 - 1



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

ATTEST: 
 (S E A L) 

/s/  

________________, County Clerk 

(Approved by Resolution No. ______ by the Board of Commissioners of Labette County, Kansas on 
______________, 2024, officially published in the Parsons Sun on ______________, 2024, and 
effective on ______________, 2024.) 

Severability & Effective Date DRAFT 6/10/24      9 - 2



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

ARTICLE 10. SUPPLEMENTAL USE REGULATIONS

Section 100 Wind Energy Conversion Systems
A. Key Issues

1. Key issues relating to a Wind Energy Conversion System (WECS) shall be addressed in 
the conditional use and are listed below. These issues include, but are not limited to: 

• Land Use • Development Agreement
• Property Value • Financial Surety Agreement
• Infrastructure • Mitigation
• Setbacks • Decommissioning

• Public Health and Safety • Wildlife Habitat
• Weather Detection • Endangered Species
• Water Quality • Protected Species
• Noise • Avian Mortality
• Visual impact • Bat Mortality
• Shadow Flicker

• Aviation Lighting
• Reception Interference

B. Purpose.   It is the purpose of this section to:
1. Assure the protection of health, safety, welfare, and property values for all Labette County 

citizens and landowners.
2. Assure that any development and production of commercial wind-generated electricity in 

Labette County is safe and effective.
3. Facilitate economic opportunities for citizens of Labette County.
4. Support Kansas' Voluntary Renewable Energy Standard. 
5. Provide information on which decision makers will consider the project.
6. Provide information so individuals may gain an understanding of the wind energy 

conversion system.
7. Provide a basis for public discussion and informed comment on the wind energy 

conversation system.

C. Applicability.   This ordinance governs the siting of wind energy conversion systems (WECS) 
and substations that generate electricity to be sold to wholesale or retail markets.

D. Prohibition.   No WECS or substation governed by this ordinance shall be constructed, 
erected, installed, or located within Labette County unless prior siting approval (Conditional Use 
Permit, Site Development, Professional Engineer, and Building Permit issuance) has been 
obtained for each individual WECS and substation pursuant to this ordinance.

E. Special Use Requirements .  In addition to the standards and criteria established herein, no 
Conditional Use Permit shall be granted for the use(s) listed below unless evidence is presented 
to establish that the standards and criteria set forth herein have been met.

Supplemental Use Regulations / WECS DRAFT 6/10/24      10 - 1



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

F. Definitions.   The following words and terms when used in the interpretation and administration 
of this section shall have the meaning set forth herein except where otherwise specifically 
indicated:

PRIVATE WIND ENERGY CONVERSION SYSTEM FACILITY (WECS)   A WECS facility that 
consists of one or more small- scale wind turbines or other such devices and their related or 
supporting facilities that produce electric power from wind that is to be used primarily by the 
individual or entity that owns the property on which the facility is located. 

COMMERCIAL WIND ENERGY CONVERSION SYSTEM FACILITY (WECS)   A WECS facility 
that consists of one or more large-scale wind turbines or other such devices and their related or 
supporting facilities that produce electric power from wind which is transferred to an off-site 
power distribution center. The terms WECS, WECS facility, WECS Project, Wind Energy 
Conversion System, and Commercial Wind Energy Facility are synonymous and may be 
interchanged within these regulations.

APPLICANT   Shall mean the entity who submits to the County an application for the siting of 
any WECS or substation. 

COUNTY   Shall mean Labette County, Kansas.

CUP   Shall mean a Labette County, Kansas Conditional Use Permit. (See definition of ZONING 
PERMIT.)

FINANCIAL ASSURANCE   Shall mean reasonable assurance from a credit-worthy party; 
examples of which include a surety bond, trust instrument, cash escrow, or irrevocable letter of 
credit.

OPERATOR   Shall mean the entity responsible for the day-to-day operation and maintenance 
of the WECS and substations, including any third-party subcontractors.

OWNER   Shall mean the entity or entities with an equity interest in the WECS, including their 
respective successors and assignees. Owner does not mean (1) the property owner from whom 
the land is leased for locating the WECS, unless the property owner has an equity interest in the 
WECS, or (2) any person holding a security interest in the WECS solely to secure an extension 
of credit, or a person foreclosing on such security interest provided that after foreclosure, such 
person seeks to sell the WECS at the earliest practicable date.

PARTICIPATING LANDOWNER   A landowner whose property (or portion thereof) is currently 
leased or proposed to be leased for the production, siting, or development of an WECS and all 
landowners who have waived their rights to the setbacks provided in this section.

PARTICIPATING PROPERTY   A property where a WECS is located or proposed to be located 
pursuant to an agreement with the applicant/owner/operator.

NON-PARTICIPATING PROPERTY   Any property within the WECS project other than 
participating property.

NON-PARTICIPATING LANDOWNER   A landowner that owns property that is not participating 
in the WECS project.

PVA   Property Value Agreement  

Supplemental Use Regulations / WECS DRAFT 6/10/24      10 - 2



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER   Shall mean an independent professional engineer licensed in 
the State of Kansas in their field of expertise.PRINCIPAL STRUCTURE   Shall mean, for each 
property, the structure that one or more persons occupy the majority of the time on that property 
for either business or personal reasons. 

Primary structure includes structures such as residences, commercial buildings, hospitals, 
schools and day care facilities. Primary structure excludes such structures as hunting sheds, 
storage sheds, pool houses, unattached garages, and barns.

SUBSTATION   shall mean the apparatus that connects the electrical collection system of the 
WECS and increases the voltage for connection with the utility's transmission lines.

WAIVER   The waiver document shall be notarized, recorded, run with the parcel(s) of record 
and terminate at the termination of the wind energy project as part of the decommissioning plan. 
For purposes of a Municipal Waiver a signed and recorded resolution will suffice to meet the 
waiver requirements.

MET TOWER   A free standing meteorological tower that supports measuring instruments to 
record weather and wind speed events.

WIND ENERGY CONVERSION SYSTEMS (WECS)   Shall mean all necessary devices that 
together convert wind energy into electricity, including the WECS foundation, WECS tower, 
nacelle, rotor blades,  generator, electrical components, transformer, and electrical cabling from 
the WECS towers to the substation.

WECS PROJECT   Shall mean the collection of WECS(s), substations and distribution lines 
specified in the siting approval application pursuant to this ordinance.

WECS TOWER   Shall mean the vertical support structure including the nacelle and rotor 
blades. 

WECS TOWER HEIGHT   Shall mean the distance from the top surface of the WECS 
foundation to the tip of the rotor blade at its highest point.

G. Conditional Use Permit Application Requirements   A WECS applicant shall meet with 
Labette County representatives in a pre-application meeting and submit to Labette County 
descriptions, site plans, studies, reports, certifications, and approvals demonstrating compliance 
with the Ordinance.

1. A pre-application meeting shall be held with representatives from the Labette County 
Planning Board, Labette County Public Works, Labette County Emergency and Floodplain 
Manager, the Labette County Soil and Water Conservation District, impacted fire 
departments, and all other applicable departments and agencies as determined by the 
Labette County Zoning Administrator.

Supplemental Use Regulations / WECS DRAFT 6/10/24      10 - 3



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

2. In addition to a CUP Application the WECS applicant shall submit to the Labette County 
Zoning Administrator a "WECS Project Summary," including, to the extent available:

a. A general description of the project, including its approximate name plate generating 
capacity, the potential equipment manufacturer(s), type(s) of WECS, number of WECS 
and name plate generating capacity of each WECS, the maximum height of the WECS 
tower(s), the maximum length of the rotor blades and the maximum diameter of the 
WECS rotors.

b. A description of the general location of the project.
c. A description of the applicant, owner, and operator, including their respective business 

structures.
d. A general business plan outlining all major WECS related events that will take place 

over the useful life of the WECS project.
e. The names, addresses, and phone numbers of the applicants, owners, operators, and 

all property owners included in the application.
f. A site plan for the installation of the WECS showing the planned location of each MET 

tower, WECS tower, guy lines, and anchor bases (if any), primary structure(s), property 
lines including identification of adjoining properties, setback lines, public access roads 
and turnout locations, substations, electrical cabling from the WECS tower to the 
substations, ancillary equipment, third party transmission lines, and layout of all 
structures within the geographical boundaries of the setback established in this 
Ordinance.

g. An ecological review that includes environmental impact statements from qualified 
professionals such as an ornithologist or wildlife biologist and including Kansas 
Department of Wildlife and Parks (KDWP) and the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. 
Evidence from KDWP should advise any impacts to threatened or endangered species 
as designated by the Kansas Non-game and Endangered Species Conservation Act of 
1975 and amendments thereto. Evidence regarding avian, bat and wildlife (e.g. deer) 
migration, routine, and habitat should be included. The applicant must take reasonable 
action to mitigate adverse impacts on birds, bats, and wildlife.

h. All required studies, reports, certifications, and approvals demonstrating compliance 
with the provisions of this ordinance (including but not limited to: natural resource 
areas; bird and bat migration paths; shadow flicker; noise levels; and vibration levels.

i. A visual simulation including scale elevations of the proposed WECS and perspective 
drawings or photographic representations showing the WECS spatially accurate to the 
landscape and surrounding land uses.

j. Provide evidence of a secured or pending power purchase agreement (PPA) with a 
public utility.

Supplemental Use Regulations / WECS DRAFT 6/10/24      10 - 4



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

k. Property Value Agreement.   The Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas 
stipulate that a purpose of the regulations is to protect property values. (See Article 
1-101 I.) The County desires to alleviate concerns about the preservation of property 
values of property located in the ‘Designated Area’ of a WECS. Therefore, the County 
requires that a WECS applicant and/or owner will provide a PVA to all non-participating 
landowners, who are the owner of record of property located in the ‘Designated Area’ 
of a WECS at the time the completed CUP application is accepted by the Zoning 
Administrator. Acceptance of the PVA would be at the discretion of each qualified non-
participating land owner. The County would suggest that the ‘Designated Area’ 
include non-participating property located within the footprint of the WECS and extend 
two (2) miles from the perimeter of the WECS. The PVA shall be negotiated with the 
County Commissioners. At a minimum, the PVA should include but is not limited to the 
following:
(1) Designated area
(2) Eligibility
(3) Qualified professional appraiser
(4) Appraisal value to be determined as if WECS did not exist
(5) Appraisal value process
(6) Determination of asking price
(7) Acceptable methods of sale
(8) Terms for listing property
(9) Number of days on market

(10) Offers to purchase
(11) Guarantor’s consent to purchase
(12) Sale without guarantor’s consent
(13) Termination of guarantor’s obligations
(14) Assignment or transfer

l. The applicant shall notify the Labette County Zoning Administrator of any changes to 
this information that occur while the CUP application is pending.

3. For CUP applications involving multiple WECS towers, only one application is required. 
Although processed as one CUP, each tower within a WECS CU shall be charged the 
established CUP permitting fee.

4. The construction of additional towers within the approved WECS CUP or the repowering of 
existing towers will require a new CUP application.

5. Hours of operation during WECS construction, decommissioning, and repowering will be 
from sunrise to sunset.

6. The WECS CUP will expire one year from the date issued provided there has been no 
construction at the WECS project site. Should the WECS CUP expire, the applicant will be 
required to submit a new CUP application.

H. At the expense of the applicant, owner, or operator the County reserves the right to hire 
qualified legal council for review and consultation regarding all documents and contracts 
pertaining to the WECS CUP.

Supplemental Use Regulations / WECS DRAFT 6/10/24      10 - 5



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

I. Design and Installation
1. Design Safety Certification

a. WECS shall conform to applicable industry standards, including those of the American 
National Standards Institute (ANSI). Applicants shall submit certificates of design 
compliance that equipment manufacturers have obtained from Underwriters 
Laboratories (UL), Det Norske Veritas (DNV), Germanischer Lloyd Wind Energie (GL), 
or an equivalent third-party.

b. Following the granting of a siting approval and a CUP under this Ordinance, a 
professional structural engineer shall certify, as part of the Building Permit application 
that the foundation and tower design of the WECS is within accepted professional 
standards, given local soil and climate conditions.

2. Controls and Brakes   All WECS shall be equipped with a redundant braking system. This 
includes both aerodynamic over speed controls (including variable pitch, tip, and other 
similar systems) and mechanical brakes. Mechanical brakes shall be operated in a failsafe 
mode. Stall regulation shall not be considered a sufficient braking system for over speed 
protection.

3. Electrical Components   All electrical components of the WECS shall conform to 
applicable local, state, and national codes, and relevant national and international 
standards e.g., ANSI and International Electrical Commission.

4. All new electrical cable lines associated with the WECS facility shall be installed a minimum 
of 48 inches underground. Transmission lines associated with distribution and 
interconnection of energy from the facility may be located above ground. 

5. WECS Tower Height   No WECS tower shall be greater than four hundred, thirty (430) 
feet in height. Rotor blade height shall be a minimum of thirty (30) feet above the base of 
the WECS tower. (See definition of WECS TOWER HEIGHT.)

6. WECS Tower Color   Tower, nacelle and rotor blades shall be painted a uniform,  
non-reflective neutral color such as white or gray. No logos or advertisements shall be 
allowed on these structures. Each turbine tower shall be marked with a visible identification 
number located no higher than 15 feet above ground level.

7. WECS Tower Consistency   The WECS should consist of turbines of similar design and 
size, including tower height. All turbines should rotate in the same direction. Turbines 
should be consistent in color and direction with nearby WECS facilities.

8. WECS Tower Obstruction Marking and Lighting Requirements   All WECS towers shall 
be fitted with Aircraft Detection Lighting Systems (ADLS) in compliance with Kansas Senate 
Bill #49. ADLS must be in compliance with Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) standards.   
The WECS project shall comply with but not exceed all acceptable FAA standards.

9. The WECS project shall be equipped with the IdentiFlight Aerial Detection System, or 
equivalent technology, to prevent unnecessary bird fatalities.

10. WECS project shall be equipped with Natural Power’s EchoSense, NGR Systems, Bat 
Deterrent System, or equivalent technology to prevent unnecessary bat fatalities. 

11. The WECS project shall be equipped with passive fire protection which should include 
lightning protection systems, monitoring systems of components/equipment and 
compartmentalizing the nacelle area.

12. The WECS project shall be equipped with FIRETRACE, Stat-X Aerosol Fire Suppression, 
or equivalent fire suppression technology to provide instant fire alarm and fire suppression.  

Supplemental Use Regulations / WECS DRAFT 6/10/24      10 - 6



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

13. Warnings
a. A reasonably visible warning sign concerning voltage must be placed at the base of all 

pad-mounted transformers and substations.
b. MET Tower: Fencing or visibility markers shall be placed at the anchor points of guy 

wires. Visibility markers shall be placed intermittently on the guy wires to the top of the 
MET tower. Depending on height, FAA standards may require MET tower aviation 
lighting. Red obstruction lights are preferred over white strobe lights. MET towers must 
be in compliance with FAA standards.

14. Climb Prevention: All MET towers must be un-climbable by design or protected by anti-
climbing devices including, but not limited to:

a. Fences with locking portals at least six (6) feet in height, or
b. Anti-climbing devices twelve (12) feet vertically from the base of the WECS tower.

15. Setbacks.   All WECS towers shall provide the following minimum Setbacks:
a. All WECS towers shall be set back a distance of not less than six (6) times the height 

of the WECS tower from all property lines. A participating landowner may waive this 
setback requirement, but in no case shall a WECS tower be located closer to a primary 
structure than one and one half (1.5) times the height of the WECS tower.

b. All WECS and MET towers shall be set back a distance of not less than two (2) times 
the height of the WECS or MET tower from all public roads, railroad right of ways, 
public utilities, including, but not limited to, fiber optic lines, communication towers, 
above and below ground communication lines, above and below ground electric lines, 
oil, gas, and water pipelines.

c. All WECS and MET towers shall be set back a distance of not less than three (3) miles 
from a municipality. A municipality may waive this setback requirement through the 
issuance of a formal statement from the municipality approving such a waiver. The 
applicant shall then submit a copy of the statement as part of their application, and a 
site plan specifically identifying: the location of the three (3) mile base setback; the 
locations of all WECS towers proposed to be within the this (3) mile area; and the 
distance each proposed WECS tower within this three (3) mile area will be from the 
municipal boundaries.

d. All WECS and MET towers shall be set back a distance of not less than three (3) miles 
from incorporated cities, villages, airports, and recreation areas. Incorporated cities 
include Altamont, Chetopa, Edna, Mound Valley, Oswego, and Parsons.  Villages 
include Angola, Bartlett, Dennis, Labette, Montana, and Strauss. Airports include Tri-
City Airport. Recreation areas include, but are not limited to The Big Hill Lake Project 
Boundary which includes Big Hill Equestrian Trail and Cherryvale, Mound Valley, and 
Timber Hill Park Areas.  The three-mile setback distance also includes, but are not 
limited to, Kansas Department of Wildlife and Parks (KDWP) hunting areas. KDWP 
hunting areas include Big Hill Lake Wildlife Area, Harmon Wildlife Area, and the 
Albertini Tract, Biller Tract, and Perkins Tract located in the Cherokee Lowlands 
Wildlife Area. The three-mile setback will not apply to the Grand Osage Wildlife Area 
and land located within the Great Plains Industrial Park.

Supplemental Use Regulations / WECS DRAFT 6/10/24      10 - 7



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

e. WECS and Met towers shall be set back at least one and one-half (1.5) miles from any 
identified or occupied eagle’s nest. Should an eagle’s nest be identified or constructed 
within one and one-half (1.5) miles of a WECS tower post construction, the WECS 
tower or towers will be curtailed from operation during the nesting season from 
January 15 to May15. The one and one-half (1.5) mile setback will not apply to the 
Grand Osage Wildlife Area and land located within the Great Plains Industrial Park.

f. The applicant does not need to obtain a variance from the County upon waiver by 
either the County or property owner of any of the above setback requirements. Any 
waiver of any of the above setbacks shall run with the land and be recorded as part of 
the chain of title in the deed of the subject property.

g. Compliance with Additional Regulations.   Nothing in this ordinance is intended to 
preempt other applicable state or federal laws and regulations.

J. Public Roads Maintenance, Repair and Replacement Agreement.   The applicant, owner or 
operator proposing to use any County, township, municipality or village road(s), for the purpose 
of transporting WECS or substation parts and/or equipment for construction, operation, or 
maintenance of the WECS(s) or substation(s) shall:

1. Road Agreement: A mandatory road agreement that includes all effected jurisdictions 
(County, state, township, municipality, or village) must be agreed upon by all parties and 
recorded with the County. A signed agreement must be recorded prior to the issuance of 
the CUP. The agreement shall include, but not be limited to:

a. Identify all such public roads used for transportation routes for construction, operation, 
or maintenance of the WECS. 

b. The applicant shall apply for an oversized/overweight permit from the Labette County 
Public Works Department for transporting the components for the WECS project that 
are over the legal limit for weight, width, and length.  A proposed route shall be 
submitted for the oversized/overweight permit for the transportation route.  The County 
is authorized to collect fees for overweight/oversized load permits.

c. Obtain applicable weight and size permits from all relevant government agencies.
2. To the extent an applicant, owner, or operator must obtain a weight or size permit from the 

County, state, township, or municipality or village, the applicant, owner, or operator shall: 
a. At the expense of the applicant, the County will hire a professional engineer for pre-

construction and post-construction inspection and documentation of public roads, 
bridges, culverts, box culverts, road drainage ditches and low water crossings.

b. At the expense of the applicant the County will hire a certified inspector to monitor 
County public road conditions during construction. The certified inspector will notify the 
County Public Works Department of construction related road conditions, including but 
not limited to hazards, signage, repairs, dust control or Road Agreement violations that 
need to have corrective action.

c. Provide a plan for dust control on public roads during the construction and 
decommissioning of the WECS project to the reasonable satisfaction of the County 
Public Works Department and the County Commissioners. 

d. Provide a maintenance plan for public roads and maintain the public roads during 
construction and decommissioning of the WECS project to the reasonable satisfaction 
of the County Public Works Department and the County Commissioners.

Supplemental Use Regulations / WECS DRAFT 6/10/24      10 - 8



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

e. Where an access road crosses a stream or drainage way, it shall be designed and 
constructed so runoff from the upper portions of the watershed can readily flow into the 
lower portion of the watershed.

f. Any proposed public roads that will be used for construction purposes shall be 
identified and approved in writing by the County Public Works Department and the 
County Commissioners prior to the granting of the CUP.  Traffic for construction 
purposes shall be limited to these roads.  All overweight and/or oversized loads to be 
transported on public roads may require a permit from the respective highway 
authority.  Any road damage caused by the transport of equipment, construction, 
maintenance, or decommissioning of the WECS, must be completely repaired to the 
reasonable satisfaction of the County Public Works Department and the County 
Commissioners.  The County is authorized to collect fees for overweight and/or 
oversized load permits.  Financial assurance will be provided in an amount to be 
determined by the County Commissioners to ensure that future repairs are completed 
to the satisfaction of the County.  Applicant shall submit a draft form of said financial 
assurance with the application for WECS CUP.

g. Enter into a public road use agreement with the County and all effected jurisdictions.  
Provisions include, but are not limited to:
(1) Project layout map
(2) Transportation impact analysis
(3) Pre-construction plans
(4) Construction plans
(5) Post -construction repairs
(6) Project traffic map
(7) Signage
(8) Insurance
(9) Financial Security in forms and amounts acceptable to the County   The road 

use agreement shall require applicant to be responsible for the reasonable cost of 
improving public roads, bridges, culverts, box culverts, road drainage ditches, and 
low water crossings used to construct the WECS and the reasonable cost of 
repairing roads used by the facility owner during construction of the WECS so that 
those roads are in a condition that is safe for the driving public after the completion 
of the WECS construction. Roadways improved in preparation for and during the 
construction of the WECS shall be repaired and restored to the improved condition 
at the reasonable cost of the developer if the roadways have degraded or were 
damaged as a result of construction-related activities.

3. All repairs and improvements to County public roads and roadway appurtenances shall be 
subject to the prior approval of the County before being made and shall also be subject to 
inspection and acceptance by the County after such repairs and improvements are 
completed. The County’s road use agreement, and any further agreements contemplated 
therein, regarding the maintenance and repair of County public roads and highways, must 
be approved by the County prior to the approval of any applications related to the 
construction of the proposed WECS Project.

4. Prior to construction and again upon completion of construction, all public roads, bridges, 
culverts, box culverts, road drainage ditches and low water crossings to be used must be 
brought up to a load limit of 85,000 pounds or the current State legal load limit.

Supplemental Use Regulations / WECS DRAFT 6/10/24      10 - 9



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

5. Secure financial assurance, in a reasonable amount agreed to by the County Public Works 
Department, Labette County Commissioners and all relevant parties, for the purpose of 
repairing or replacing any and all damage, including, but not limited to public roads, 
bridges, culverts, box culverts, road drainage ditches and low water crossings caused by 
constructing, operating, or maintaining the WECS.

6. WECS repowering and decommissioning may require new mandatory road agreements 
that include all affected jurisdictions.

K. Operation
1. Maintenance

a. The owner or operator of the WECS must submit, on an annual basis, a summary of 
the operation and maintenance reports to the Labette County Zoning Administrator.  
In addition to the above annual summary, the owner or operator must furnish such 
operation and maintenance reports as the County reasonably requests.

b. Any physical modification to the WECS that alters the mechanical load, mechanical 
load path, or major electrical components shall require recertification under Section 7 
of this ordinance. Like-kind replacements shall not require recertification. Prior to 
making any physical modification (other than like-kind replacements) the owner or 
operator shall confer with a third-party certifying entity identified in Section 7 to 
determine whether the physical modification requires recertification.

2. Interference.   The applicant, owner or operator will be required to mitigate interference 
with weather surveillance radar during the life of the WECS. This includes, but is not limited 
to NEXRAD, WSR-88D (Weather Surveillance Radar-1988 Doppler) and future radar 
development as used by the National Weather Service and private weather services. 
Mitigation could include WECS curtailment during extreme weather conditions including, 
but not limited to severe thunderstorm or tornado watch and warnings issued for Labette 
County by the National Weather Service.

a. Interference shall include but is not limited to noise, shadow flicker, viewshed, and 
communications including emergency service providers (e.g.: 911 service, police, fire), 
cell phones, internet, tv, radio and weather alerts.

b. Prior to the construction of any wind turbines, the owner or operator shall conduct a 
study to establish the baseline status of all RF/EMF transmissions in the area of the 
turbines, with copies of the study to be supplied to the County.

c. The applicant shall provide the applicable microwave transmission providers and local 
emergency service providers (e.g.: 911 operators) copies of the project summary and 
site plan, as set forth in Section 6 of this ordinance. The applicant shall provide 
evidence that any potential interference has been resolved to the satisfaction of the 
providers.

d. If, after construction of the WECS, the County receives a written complaint related to 
the above mentioned interference, the County shall have the right to draw upon the 
Enforcement Fund to investigate and mitigate the complaint.

3. Shadow Flicker.   No shadow flicker shall occur beyond the property line of any 
participating property or shall not occur on any non-participating property.

Supplemental Use Regulations / WECS DRAFT 6/10/24      10 - 10



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

4. Coordination with Local Fire Departments and Emergency Responders
a. The applicant, owner, or operator shall submit to the local emergency responders a 

copy of the site plan.  Emergency responders include local law enforcement, fire 
protection district, emergency medical service providers, and Labette County 
emergency management.

b. The applicant, owner, or operator shall cooperate with all local emergency responders 
to develop an emergency response plan. The plan should include contact information 
(names, titles, e-mail addresses, cell phone numbers) for the applicant, owner, or 
operator and at least three (3) WECS representatives each of whom are on call 24 
hours a day, seven (7) days a week, 365 days per year.  Any change in the contact 
information shall be promptly communicated to the Labette County Zoning 
Administrator.

c.  The applicant, owner, or operator shall at its expense, provide annual training for, and 
the necessary equipment to the operator and local emergency response authorities 
and their personnel so they can properly respond to a potential emergency at the 
WECS in compliance with the emergency response plan.

d. Nothing in this section shall alleviate the need to comply with all other applicable fire, 
emergency and safety laws and regulations.

5. Materials Handling, Storage, and Disposal
a. All solid wastes related to the construction, operation, and maintenance of the WECS 

shall be removed from the site promptly and disposed of in accordance with all federal, 
state, and county laws.

b. All hazardous materials related to the construction, operation, and maintenance of the 
WECS shall be handled, stored, transported, and disposed of in accordance with all 
federal, state, and county laws.

L. Sound Limits
1. Audible Sound Limits

a. No WECS shall be located so as to cause an exceedance of the pre-construction/ 
operation background sound levels by more than 5 dBa. The background sound levels 
shall be the L90A sound descriptor measured during a pre-construction noise study 
during the quietest time of the evening or night. All data recording shall be a series of  
contiguous ten (10) minute measurements. Measurements shall cover a minimum of 
30 minutes. The ten (10) minute period with the lowest L90A levels shall be used for 
this test. L90A results are valid only when L IOA results are no more than 15 dBa 
above L90A for the same time period. Noise sensitive sites are to be selected based 
on Predicted worst-case sound emissions (in LEQA and LEQC) which are to be 
provided by developer.

b. Test sites are to be located along the property line(s) of the receiving non-participating 
property(s).

c. A 5dB penalty is applied for tones or when the sound emissions fluctuate in amplitude 
or frequency over time in reasonable synchronicity with the rotor blade revolution.

Supplemental Use Regulations / WECS DRAFT 6/10/24      10 - 11



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

2. Low Frequency Sound Limit
a. The sound levels from the wind turbine at the receiving non-participating property shall 

not exceed the lower of either:
(1) LEQA- L90A greater than 20 dB outside or inside any occupied structure, or
(2) A maximum not-to-exceed sound level of 45 dB.

b. These limits shall be assessed using the same nighttime and wind/weather conditions 
required in Section 9.a.1.

c. Turbine operating sound emissions (dBA and dB) shall represent worst case sound 
emissions for the stable nighttime conditions with low winds at ground level and winds 
sufficient for full operating capacity at the hub.

3. Requirements
a. All instruments must meet ANSI or IEC Type 1 Precision sound level meter 

performance specifications.
b. Procedures must meet ANSI S12.9, Part 3, ANSI S12.100 and other applicable ANSI 

standards.
c. Measurements must be made when ground level winds are 2m/s (4.5 mph) or less. 

Leaf rustle, insect, bird, and other sounds not properly considered as part of the steady 
background sound shall be excluded. Wind shear in the evening and night often result 
in low ground level wind speed and nominal operating speeds at wind turbine hub 
heights.

d. IEC 61400 procedures are not suitable for enforcement of these requirements. ANSI 
standards shall be followed for testing and modeling procedures.

M.Enforcement Fund
1. The applicant shall provide proof that the necessary amount and form of financial security 

has been received by the County in the form of an escrow account that names Labette 
County as the Beneficiary.

2. The applicant shall also provide identification of and procedures for Labette County to 
access the financial security.

3. The financial security Enforcement Fund shall maintain a reasonable amount agreed to by 
the County and all relevant parties. 

4. Labette County shall have access to the Enforcement Fund secured by the escrow account 
in a bank of the County's choosing if:

a. The County accrues costs due to the acquisition of equipment and/or training 
necessary to verify that a WECS Tower is operating within the standards of this 
ordinance, or

b. The County, or any of its offices and officials, accrues costs in the investigation, 
prosecution, and/or enforcement of a violation of these standards.

5. Whenever this security is accessed by County, or its offices and officials, the owner/
operator must recapitalize this security within three (3) months of the date it was accessed. 
Failure to recapitalize the security shall be considered a cessation of the operation.

6. The applicant and/or WECS owner shall grant perfected security in the escrow account by 
use of a control agreement establishing the County as an owner of record pursuant to the 
Secured Transit Article of the Uniform Commercial Code. 810 ILSS 9/101 et seq.

Supplemental Use Regulations / WECS DRAFT 6/10/24      10 - 12



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

7. The escrow agent shall release the Enforcement Funds when the WECS owner or operator 
has demonstrated and Labette County concurs that decommissioning has been 
satisfactorily completed, or upon written approval of the County to implement the 
decommissioning plan.

8. Any interest accrued on the escrow account that is over and above $10,000 shall go to the 
WECS owner.

9. The County shall be listed as a debtor but shall not be responsible for any claims against 
the WECS owner and/or operator.

10. Upon establishment of the Enforcement Fund, Labette County shall acquire the necessary 
equipment and training to be able to verify whether a WECS tower is in violation of these 
operational standards. The costs accrued by the County in acquiring this equipment and 
training shall be recovered from the Enforcement Fund.

a. No Conditional Use shall be issued for a WECS tower approved by a CUP until such 
time as the County has established that designated County personnel have been 
trained and equipped to verify that the WECS towers are operating within the 
standards of this ordinance.

b. The County may also draw upon the Enforcement Fund to recover the costs to replace 
damaged or outdated equipment, and for the continued training of officers.

N. Enforcement Procedures
1. Complaints alleging that a WECS tower is operating in violation of the standards of this 

ordinance shall be forwarded to the designated County authority.
2. The County shall have access to the site of any WECS to investigate any reported 

violation(s) of the operational standards of this Section.
3. Upon report of an alleged violation, the designated County authority shall investigate the 

complaint. If upon investigation, the tower is considered to be in apparent violation, a report 
containing the findings of the investigation shall be forwarded to the Labette County Zoning 
Administrator for the scheduling of a Code Violation Hearing.

a. The use of third-party consultants may be called upon in the determination of whether 
a particular tower is in violation. Any costs accrued through the use of said third-party 
consultant shall be recovered from the Enforcement Fund.

b. The designated County authority will log the hours spent, fuel used, etc., which will 
then be used to determine the costs to investigate the complaint. Any costs accrued by 
the County in the investigation, prosecution, and enforcement of the operational 
standards of this Section shall be recovered from the Enforcement Fund.

4. Code Hearing
a. Upon receipt of the report from the designated County authority, the Labette County 

Zoning Administrator shall schedule a Code Violation Hearing regarding the apparent 
violation(s). The applicant, owner or operator shall be liable for the Code Violation 
Hearing fee.

b. Notice of the Code Violation Hearing shall be sent to the WECS applicant, owner, or 
operator and the appropriate participating landowner.

Supplemental Use Regulations / WECS DRAFT 6/10/24      10 - 13



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

c. If the Code Violation Hearing Officer finds the WECS tower to be in violation of the
operational standards of this ordinance:
(1) The applicant, owner or operator of the WECS shall have thirty (30) days to bring 

the WECS tower into compliance to the satisfaction of the County.
(2) A fine per violation per incident shall be assessed upon the applicant, owner, 

operator by the Code Violation Hearing Officer. The appropriate participating 
landowner will be notified of the violation.

(3) The applicant, owner or operator shall be liable for the Hearing Officer Fee.
d. If the tower has not been brought into compliance within thirty (30) days of being found 

in violation, then the tower must be shut down until such time as the tower can be 
brought into compliance. A shut down tower is still subject to the requirements of the 
Decommissioning portion of this ordinance.

e. If the WECS tower continues to operate after the thirty (30) day time period without 
having been brought into compliance, the thirty first (31st) day shall constitute the 
beginning of an additional separate violation, and shall constitute a default under this 
ordinance.

f. If a WECS tower has been shut down as a result of a finding of violation, and is 
subsequently restarted without first having been brought into compliance, this shall 
constitute the beginning of an additional separate violation, and shall constitute a 
default under this ordinance.

O. Public Participation.   Nothing in the ordinance is meant to deter or diminish opportunities for 
public participation, such as public hearings and open meetings on a case-by-case basis.

P. Liability Insurance.   The owner or operator of the WECS shall maintain a current general 
liability policy covering bodily injury and property damage with limits of at least $2-million per 
occurrence and $5-million in the aggregate.

Q. Decommissioning and Site Reclamation Plan Requirement.   At the time of the CUP 
application, the County and the applicant, owner, and/or operator must formulate a 
decommissioning and site reclamation plan to ensure that the WECS project is properly 
decommissioned. The decommissioning and site reclamation plan shall be binding upon all 
successors of title to the land. A signed decommissioning and site reclamation plan must be 
submitted to the Labette County Zoning Administrator prior to the granting of the CUP.

The applicant, owner or operator shall ensure that the WECS facilities are properly 
decommissioned within 12 months of the end of the project life or the facility abandonment. The 
applicant, owner or operator's obligations shall include removal of all equipment and physical 
materials (buildings, towers, transformers, above and below ground electric lines, concrete etc.), 
and the restoration of the area as near as practicable to the same condition prior to 
construction.

1. A decommissioning and site reclamation plan shall be prepared by a professional engineer 
and shall include:

a. Provisions describing the triggering events for decommissioning the WECS project.
b. A description of the methodology and cost to remove all above ground and below 

ground WECS facilities of the approved CUP. Reverse construction shall be the 
method used for removing the WECS towers.

Supplemental Use Regulations / WECS DRAFT 6/10/24      10 - 14



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

c. Provisions for the removal of all above ground and below ground WECS facilities of 
the approved CUP.

d. Methodology and cost to restore all areas used for construction, operation, and access 
to a condition equivalent to the land prior to the WECS construction;

e. A work schedule and a permit list necessary to accomplish the required work;
f. Methodology to identify and manage any hazardous or special materials;

g. Proof that the necessary amount and form of financial security has been received by 
the County in the form of an escrow account that names Labette County as the 
Beneficiary The amount of security shall be equal to the positive difference between 
the total cost of all decommissioning and restoration work and the net salvage value of 
all removed WECS equipment or materials, plus a twenty-percent contingency. To 
determine that amount, the WECS owner and the Labette County Commissioners 
shall:
(1) Obtain bid specifications provided by a professional engineer;
(2) Request estimates from construction/demolition companies capable of completing 

the decommissioning of the WECS project; and a professional engineer of the 
County's choosing, the Labette County Zoning Administrator will review all 
estimates and make a recommendation to the Labette County Commissioners for 
an acceptable estimate. Labette County reserves the right to pursue other 
estimates;

(3) Certification of the selected estimate by a professional engineer. All costs to secure 
the estimates will be funded by the WECS owner.

h. A provision that the terms of the decommissioning plan shall be binding upon the 
WECS owner or operator and any of their successors, assigns, or heirs;

i. Confirmation by affidavit that the obligation to decommission the WECS facilities is 
included in the lease agreement for every parcel included in the CU application. A list 
of all landowners should be kept current and affidavits shall be secured from future 
WECS owners and landowners stating their financial understanding;

j. A provision that allows the County to have legal right to transfer applicable WECS 
material to salvage firms;

k. Identification of and procedures for the County to access the financial assurances; and
l. A provision that the County shall have access to the site, pursuant to reasonable 

notice to affect or complete decommissioning. A portion of the escrow account will be 
required to be held for one year past the decommissioning to settle any potential 
disputes.

2. Provisions triggering the decommissioning of any portion of the WECS project due to 
abandonment:

a. Inactive construction for twelve (12) consecutive months or if there is a delay in 
obtaining a purchase power agreement for twelve (12) consecutive months, unless a 
signed document is provided by the utility company claiming responsibility for the 
delay.

Supplemental Use Regulations / WECS DRAFT 6/10/24      10 - 15



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

b. If no electricity is generated by an individual turbine or the entire project for twelve (12) 
consecutive months after electricity is initially generated, unless proof is provided that 
new parts have been ordered and will be received within six (6) months. The Labette 
CountyZoning Administrator or his/her designee shall have access to records in order 
to determine the electric generation of every turbine.

c. If the applicant, owner or operator of the WECS dissolves or chooses to walk away 
from the project.

d. The applicant, owner or operator of the WECS allows the WECS to enter a state of 
disrepair, is in threat of collapsing or any other health or safety issue.

3. Provisions for the removal of structures, debris, and cabling; both above and below the soil 
surface:

a. Items required to be removed include, but are not limited to: turbines; transformers; 
foundation pads; electrical collection systems and transporters; underground cables; 
fencing; access roads and culverts. Concrete foundations supporting the WECS 
Towers are to be removed following 3(b) below. Should a landowner want access 
roads or culverts to their property to remain, they must sign an agreement with the 
WECS owner and/or operator and provide a copy to the County Public Works 
Department for approval.

b. The concrete foundation of each WECS tower shall be removed to a depth 48 inches 
below the lowest adjacent soil grade.

4. Provisions for the restoration of soil and vegetation
a. All affected areas shall be inspected, thoroughly cleaned, and all construction related 

debris shall be removed.
b. Items required to be restored include but are not limited to: windbreaks; waterways; 

site grading; drainage tile systems; and, topsoil to former productive levels.
(1) In work areas involving decommission from expansion of turbine crane pads, 

widening access roads, or any other work areas, the topsoil must be first removed, 
identified, and stored separate from other excavated material for later replacement 
as applicable.

(2) The below-surface excavation area shall be filled with clean sub-grade material of 
similar quality to that in the immediate surrounding area.

(3) All sub-grade material will be compacted to a density similar to surrounding grade 
material.

(4) All unexcavated areas compacted by equipment used in decommissioning shall be 
de-compacted in a manner that adequately restores the topsoil and sub-grade 
material to the proper density consistent and comparable with the surrounding 
area.

(5) Where possible, the topsoil shall be replaced to its original depth and surface 
contours.

(6) Any topsoil deficiency and trench settling shall be mitigated with imported topsoil 
that is consistent with the quality of the effective site.

c. Disturbed areas shall be reseeded to promote re-vegetation of the area to a condition 
reasonably similar to the original condition. A reasonable amount of wear and tear is 
acceptable.

Supplemental Use Regulations / WECS DRAFT 6/10/24      10 - 16



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

d. Restoration measurements shall include: leveling, terracing, mulching, and other 
necessary steps to prevent soil erosion; to ensure establishment of suitable grasses 
and forbs; and to control noxious weeds and pests.

e. Items required to be repaired after decommissioning include but are not limited to: 
roads, bridges, culverts, box culverts, road drainage ditches and low water crossings.

f. A professional engineer shall be present to ensure drainage tiles, waterways, culverts, 
etc. are repaired as work progresses.

g. A soil erosion control plan shall be approved by the County Public Works Department 
and the Labette County Soil and Water Conservation District.

h. All stormwater management, floodplain, and other surface water codes and ordinances 
shall be followed.

5. Estimating the Costs of Decommissioning
a. Costs shall include but not be limited to engineering fees, legal fees, accounting fees, 

insurance costs, decommissioning and site restoration.
b. When factoring the WECS salvage value into decommissioning costs, the authorized 

salvage value may be deducted from decommissioning costs if the following standards 
are met:
(1) The net salvage value shall be based on the average salvage price of the past five 

(5) consecutive years, this includes any devaluation costs.
(2) The maximum allowable credit for the salvage value of any WECS shall be no 

more than the estimated decommissioning costs of removal of the above ground 
portions of that individual WECS or up to seventy percent (70%) of the total 
estimated decommissioning costs, whichever is greater.

c. Adjustments to the financial assurance amount that reflect changes in the 
decommissioning costs and salvage values shall be resubmitted every five (5) years 
and shall be adjusted for inflation and other factors. The escrow account shall be 
adjusted accordingly within six (6) months of receiving the updated information as 
determined by a professional engineer. Failure to provide financial assurance as 
outlined herein shall be considered a cessation of operation.

d. When determining salvage values — demolition costs, transportation costs, and road 
permits shall be a consideration.

e. f salvage value items are removed prior to decommissioning, then the escrow account 
must be credited.

6. Financial Assurance
a. The County shall have access to the decommissioning fund secured by the escrow 

account in a bank of the County's choosing if:
(1) The WECS operator fails to address a health and safety issue in a timely manner; 

or
(2) The WECS operator fails to decommission the abandoned turbine(s) or the entire 

WECS project in accordance with the decommissioning and site reclamation plan.

Supplemental Use Regulations / WECS DRAFT 6/10/24      10 - 17



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

b. The applicant and/or WECS owner shall grant perfected security in the escrow account 
by use of a control agreement establishing the County as an owner of record pursuant 
to the Secured Transit Article of the Kansas Uniform Commercial Code. The escrow 
agent shall release the decommissioning funds when the WECS owner or operator 
has demonstrated and the County concurs that decommissioning has been 
satisfactorily completed, or upon written approval of the County to implement the 
decommissioning plan. Ten percent of the fund shall be retained one (1 ) year past the 
decommissioning date to settle any outstanding concerns.

c. Any interest accrued on the escrow account that is over and above the total value as 
determined by a professional engineer shall go to the WECS owner.

d. The applicant shall identify procedures for the County to assess the financial 
assurances, particularly if it is determined that there is a health and/or safety issue with 
the WECS and the principal company fails to adequately respond as determined by 
the County Commissioners.

e. The County shall not be responsible for any claims against the WECS applicant, owner 
or operator.

f. The applicant shall agree that the sale, assignment in fact or at law, or other transfer of 
the applicant's financial interest in the WECS shall in no way effect or change the 
applicant's obligation to continue to comply with the terms, covenants, and obligations 
of this agreement and agrees to assume all reclamation liability and responsibility.

g. The County and its authorized representatives have the right of entry onto the WECS 
premises for the purpose of inspecting the methods of reclamation or for performing 
actual reclamation if necessary.

7. Remedies
a. The applicant's, owner's, or operator's failure to materially comply with any of the 

above provisions shall constitute a default under this ordinance.
b. Prior to implementation of the existing County procedures for the resolution of such 

default(s), the appropriate County body shall first provide written notice to the owner 
and operator, setting forth the alleged default(s). Such written notice shall provide the 
owner and operator a reasonable time period, not to exceed ninety (90) days, for good 
faith negotiations to resolve the alleged default(s).

c. If the County determines at its discretion, that the parties cannot resolve the alleged 
default(s) within the good faith negotiation period, the existing county ordinance 
provisions addressing the resolution of such default(s) shall govern.

R. Future Operators.   Future operators, successors, assignees, or heirs shall agree in writing to 
accept and to conform to all provisions of the CUP. Prior notice to the County of the intent to sell 
or transfer ownership shall be done in ninety (90) days. Such agreement shall be filed with and 
accepted by the County before the transfer to a new operator, successor, assignees, or heirs 
shall be effective.

Supplemental Use Regulations / WECS DRAFT 6/10/24      10 - 18



Zoning Regulations of Labette County, Kansas

Section 101 Solar Energy Conversion Systems (SECS) — (RESERVED)

Section 102 Battery Energy Storage Systems (BESS) — (RESERVED)

Section 103 Private (Non-Utility) Renewable Energy Transmission Lines — 
(RESERVED)

Supplemental Use Regulations / WECS DRAFT 6/10/24      10 - 19



Zoning Regulations of
Labette County, Kansas

APPENDIX 1 
DEFINITIONS 

 

APPENDIX 1 — Definitions

The following definitions shall be used in the interpretation and construction of these regulations:

AGRICULTURE   The use of a tract of land where the principal activity is to produce income from 
the growing of crops, horticulture, nurseries, truck farm or the raising of fish, poultry and cattle or 
other livestock, including feedlots. Such definition includes the structures which are not in a 
designated floodplain that are necessary for carrying on farming operations including 
greenhouses and, as accessory uses, the dwelling of the owner or operator of the premises 
including modular and manufactured and mobile homes uses as the principal farm dwelling. The 
retail and wholesale sale of items produced as part of the farming operation and other agriculture 
type products is permitted including the operation of commercial greenhouses and hydroponic 
farming. Micro Farms are included as an agricultural use. including farms with specialty or 
organic commodities (both crops and livestock), or those marketing to local, regional, farm-
identity preserved, specialty, or direct markets. Privately owned natural wildlife habitats and 
reserves are also considered an agricultural use. Private hunting areas are considered an 
incidental agricultural use. Publicly owned natural wildlife habitats and reserves are not 
considered agricultural use. So long as such land, related structures and accessory 
dwelling(s) are used for such bona fide agricultural purposes, these regulations do not 
require a zoning permit or occupancy certificates, nor do they establish any other rule or 
regulation contrary to the provisions of K.S.A. 12-758. This definition includes farm 
homesites and single family rural dwellings engaged in production of income from a farming 
activity as a home occupation. Surrounding nonagricultural landowners should be aware that 
Kansas is a "right-to-farm" state under K.S.A. 2-3201, et seq. which limits nuisance suits and 
injunctions if an agricultural activity is being conducted in conformity with federal, state and local 
laws.

AIRCRAFT   Any contrivance now known or hereafter invented for use in or designed for 
navigation of or flight in the air.

AIRPORT   (Including Landing Strip, Heliport or Helistop.)  Any premises which are used, or 
intended for use, for the landing and take-off of aircraft; and any appurtenant areas which are 
used, or intended for use, for airport buildings or other airport structures or rights of way, together 
with all airport buildings and structures located thereon.

APPEAL   See Article 7 Section 106 for description.

BATTERY CHARGING STATION   An electrical component assembly or cluster of component 
assemblies designed specifically to charge batteries within electric vehicles, which meet or 
exceed any standards, codes and regulations set forth.

BATTERY ELECTRIC VEHICLE (BEV)   Any vehicle that operates exclusively on electrical 
energy from an off-board source that is stored in the vehicle’s batteries and produces zero 
tailpipe emissions or pollution when stationary or operating.

BATTERY ENERGY STORAGE SYSTEM (BESS).  An energy storage system that can store 
and deploy generated energy, typically by a group of batteries that charge (i.e., collect energy) 
and store electrical energy from the grid or energy generation facility and then discharge that 
energy at a later time to provide electricity or other grid services when needed.

BATTERY EXCHANGE STATION   A fully automated facility that will enable an Electric Vehicle 
with a swappable battery to enter a drive lane and exchange the depleted battery with a fully 
charged battery through a fully automated process, which meet or exceed any State standards, 
codes, and regulations.

 
APPENDIX 1 — Definitions DRAFT 6/10/24       A1 - 1

https://www.ksrevisor.org/statutes/chapters/ch12/012_007_0058.html
https://ksrevisor.org/statutes/chapters/ch02/002_032_0001.html


Zoning Regulations of
Labette County, Kansas

APPENDIX 1 
DEFINITIONS 

 

BUILDING   Any covered structure having a roof supported by columns or walls for the shelter, 
support or enclosure of persons, animals, horticultural products or personal possessions. 
Interconnected buildings shall be considered as one building.

BULK REGULATIONS   Regulations controlling the size of structures and the relationships of 
structures and uses to each other and to open areas and lot lines. Bulk regulations include 
regulations controlling:  (1) maximum height, (2) maximum lot coverage, and (3) minimum size of 
setback areas and setbacks.

CELLULAR TOWER   A telecommunication structure with an attached antenna(s) which creates 
a cell site for a wireless transmission service that permits customers to use mobile telephones to 
connect either to the public switched network or to other mobile cellular phones. Such definition 
shall also include structures which provide "personal communication services" (PCS) that are 
similar to cellular, but allow for both data and voice transmission.

CLUB   An organization licensed as a Class A or B club for the purpose of consuming alcoholic 
beverages either for or not for profit under K.S.A. 41-2601, et seq., as amended. (See TAVERN 
and DRINKING ESTABLISHMENT.)

COMMERCIAL ENERGY GENERATING SYSTEMS   Energy production of electricity for 
community and utility commercial large scale systems using different types of technology. 
Commercial energy systems includes renewable sources such as solar, geothermal, wind, or 
biomass technologies and fossil carbon based or radioactive sources.

CONDITIONAL USE   The use of a structure or use that is not permitted outright within any 
zoning district, but when specifically authorized and listed in these regulations as a conditional 
use such use may be considered by the Planning Board. Conditions may be attached to the 
approval of such uses by the Board so that they may be more compatible to the particular 
location within a district. Designated conditional uses are processed in the same manner as 
zoning amendments, except that a particular listed conditional use is applied for within a district. 
Their location is not depicted on the Official Zoning District Map and conditions recommended by 
the Planning Board are attached to their approval by the Governing Body. (See Article 8 
Section-101 for CONDITIONAL USES.)

CREW CAMPS   A grouping of factory built housing structures and/or RV campers which are 
used for transient or semi-permanent residential occupancy. Such a group may include single or 
double wide modular or portable housing structures, manufactured homes, or various types of 
RV campers and any combination thereof. Zoning for such a grouping shall limit the number of 
such dwelling accommodations and a period of time for the zoning to remain effective. Such time 
period may be considered for extension upon reapplication of the zoning case specifically for the 
latter extension period.

DEVELOPER   The legal or beneficial owner or owners of all of the land proposed to be included 
in a planned development or the duly authorized agent thereof. The holder of an option or 
contract or purchase, a lessee having a remaining term of not less than 40 years or other person 
having an enforceable proprietary interest in such land, shall be deemed to be a developer for 
the purpose of these regulations.

DISTRICT   A section or sections of the zoning jurisdiction for which the regulations governing 
the use of buildings and land, the height of buildings, the size of setback areas, and the intensity 
of use are uniform.

 
APPENDIX 1 — Definitions DRAFT 6/10/24       A1 - 2

https://www.ksrevisor.org/statutes/chapters/ch41/041_026_0001.html


Zoning Regulations of
Labette County, Kansas

APPENDIX 1 
DEFINITIONS 

 

DWELLING   A building, or portion thereof, which is designed or used for residential occupancy 
including a modular home, an earth-sheltered dwelling, a residential-design manufactured home 
or a manufactured/mobile home.

DWELLING, DETACHED   A residential building which is entirely surrounded by open space on 
the same lot.

DWELLING, SINGLE FAMILY   A residential building containing one dwelling unit only.

DWELLING UNIT   One or more rooms in a residential building or residential portion of a building 
which are arranged, designed, used or intended for use by one family, and which includes 
cooking space and lawful sanitary facilities reserved for the occupants thereof.

EASEMENT   A public dedication or private grant by the property owner of the specific use of a 
strip of land by others. Limitations apply on what type of principal or accessory buildings or 
structures can be located on a public easement.

ELECTRIC VEHICLE (EV)   Any vehicle that operates, either partially or exclusively, on electrical 
energy from the grid, or an off-board source, that is stored on- board for motive purpose. “Electric 
Vehicle” includes:  
(1) a BEV; 
(2) a plug-in hybrid electric vehicle; 
(3) a neighborhood electric vehicle; and  
(4) a medium-speed electric vehicle.

ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING STATION   A public or private parking space served by 
battery charging station equipment intended to transfer electric energy to a battery or other 
energy storage device in an electric vehicle.

FRONTAGE   The property on one side of a street between two intersecting streets (crossing or 
terminating) measured along the line of the street; or with a dead-end street, all property abutting 
one side of such street measured from the nearest intersecting street and the end of the dead-
end street.

HAZARDOUS WASTE FACILITY   An on-site or off-site facility or part of a facility or modification 
of an existing facility which includes all contiguous land, structures and other appurtenances and 
improvements on the land utilized for the purpose of treating, storing or disposing of hazardous 
waste. Such term shall also mean a hazardous waste injection well. In addition to this definition 
of facility, all related definitions pertaining to hazardous wastes as contained in K.S.A. 65-3430 
and as may be amended from time to time are hereby incorporated by reference into the 
definitions of these regulations.

 
APPENDIX 1 — Definitions DRAFT 6/10/24       A1 - 3

https://www.ksrevisor.org/statutes/chapters/ch65/065_034_0030.html


Zoning Regulations of
Labette County, Kansas

APPENDIX 1 
DEFINITIONS 

 

HEIGHT, MAXIMUM   A horizontal plane above and parallel to the average finished grade of the 
entire zoning lot at the height shown in the district regulations. Maximum height restrictions 
apply to conditional uses in the A-1 and A-2 zoning districts. No part of any structure shall 
project through such plane except:

1. Chimneys, flues, stacks, fire escapes, gas holders, elevator enclosures, ventilators, 
skylights, solar panels, water tanks and similar roof structures needed to operate and 
maintain the building on which they are located;

2. Flagpoles, water towers and tanks, steeples, bell towers, carillons, monuments, cupolas, 
electric transmission line towers; and

3. Communication structures as an accessory use which do not exceed 150 feet in height. 
Also an exception to the maximum height in all districts are antennas for licensed amateur 
radio and citizens band operators. Communication structures include (1) antennas and (2) 
broadcasting and microwave transmitting and relay towers for television, radio and cellular 
telephone systems and other similar forms of electronic communication. In districts where 
allowed as a principal structure, applicants may apply to the Planning Board for a 
conditional use to exceed the height limitations for such communication structures, 
antennas and towers. The Planning Board may adopt criteria in the form of a policy 
statement to assist in the review of such conditional use applications.   (See Article 3 
Section 103A for LOT SIZE and BULK REGULATIONS EXEMPTION)

LANDSCAPING   The improvement of a lot, parcel or tract of land with grass and shrubs and/or 
trees designed and arranged to produce an aesthetically pleasing effect. Landscaping may be 
used for buffering and screening of undesirable views.

LOT   See LOT, ZONING.

LOT AREA   The area of a horizontal plane bounded by the front, side and rear lot lines.

LOT, CORNER   A lot abutting upon two or more streets at their intersection. (See LOT LINE, 
REAR and SETBACK AREA, FRONT.)

LOT COVERAGE   That percentage of a lot which, when viewed directly from above, would be 
covered by a structure or structures or any part thereof, excluding projecting roof eaves and 
recreational activity areas.

LOT DEPTH   The distance between the midpoint of the front lot line and the midpoint of the rear 
lot line.

LOT, INTERIOR   A lot other than a corner lot.

LOT LINE   The boundary line of a zoning lot. (See LOT, ZONING.)

LOT LINE, FRONT   A street right of way line forming the boundary of a lot. (See LOT, 
CORNER.)

LOT LINE, REAR   The lot line that is most distant from and is or is most nearly, parallel to the 
front lot line. If a rear lot line is less than 10 feet long or if the lot comes to a point at the rear, the 
rear lot line shall be a line at least 10 feet long, lying wholly within the lot, parallel to the front line. 
If a zoning lot has two or more front lot lines, the owner or developer shall designate the setback 
area which is to be the rear setback area and/or the side setback area.

LOT LINE, SIDE   A lot line which is neither a front lot line nor a rear lot line.

 
APPENDIX 1 — Definitions DRAFT 6/10/24       A1 - 4



Zoning Regulations of
Labette County, Kansas

APPENDIX 1 
DEFINITIONS 

 

LOT OF RECORD   A lot which is part of a subdivision, the plat of which has been recorded in 
the office of the County Recorder of Deeds or a parcel of land described by metes and bounds of 
which the deed was recorded prior to adoption of these regulations.

LOT, REVERSE FRONTAGE   A lot whose rear lot line also serves as the street line for a limited 
access highway or street. With complete access control on the rear lot line, the abutting setback 
area is considered to be a rear setback area. (See LOT, THROUGH and SETBACK AREA, 
REAR.)

LOT SIZE REQUIREMENTS   Restrictions on the dimensions of lots including (1) minimum lot 
area, width and depth; and (2) maximum density. Lot area, width and depth establish the 
minimum size of the zoning lot on which a structure or use or two or more structures or uses, 
may be constructed or established.

LOT, THROUGH   A lot which has a pair of opposite lot lines along two substantially parallel 
streets and which is not a corner lot. On a through lot, both street lines shall be deemed front lot 
lines, but in the case of two or more contiguous through lots, there shall be a common front lot 
line. Sometimes referred to as a double frontage lot.

LOT WIDTH   The distance on a horizontal plane between the side lot lines measured at right 
angles to the lot depth at the established front setback area setback line.

LOT, ZONING   A parcel of land that is designated by its owner or developer at the time of 
applying for a zoning permit as a tract all of which is to be used, developed or built upon as a unit 
under single ownership. As long as it satisfies the above requirements, such lot may consist of: 
(1) a single lot of record, or (2) a portion of a lot of record, or (3) a combination of complete lots 
of record, complete lots and portions of lots of record, or portions of lots of record.

OCCUPANCY CERTIFICATE   A certificate by which the Zoning Administrator certifies that upon 
completion of an applicant's proposed structure and/or use that it complies with these regulations 
and, therefore, may be occupied and/or used. (See Article 6 Section 101B for OCCUPANCY 
CERTIFICATES.)

PERMITTED USE   A use of a structure or land which is permitted outright within a zoning district 
because of its suitability to the purpose of the other uses so designated. A zoning permit is not 
required by these regulations for a permitted use.

PREMISES  A lot or tract of land together with all buildings and structures thereon.

PRINCIPAL STRUCTURE   A structure in which a principal use of the lot on which the structure 
is located is conducted.

PRINCIPAL USE   The main use of land or structures as distinguished from a subordinate or 
accessory use.

PRIVATE (NON-UTILITY) RENEWABLE ENERGY TRANSMISSION LINES   Transmission 
power lines for long-distance, high-voltage electricity transportation, generated from renewable 
sources which are privately owned.

 
APPENDIX 1 — Definitions DRAFT 6/10/24       A1 - 5



Zoning Regulations of
Labette County, Kansas

APPENDIX 1 
DEFINITIONS 

 

RECREATIONAL VEHICLE (RV)   A vehicle or a unit that may be independently motorized or 
may be mounted on or drawn by another vehicle, which is primarily designed and used for travel, 
camping, recreation, temporary living or occasional use. Recreational vehicles include motor 
homes, mini-motor homes, converted buses, converted camper vans, pickup and truck campers, 
camping trailers, fifth-wheel trailers, boats and boat trailers, jet skis and jet ski trailers, all-terrain 
vehicles (ATV) and similar vehicles. Conventional vans and pickup trucks with or without slide-in 
pickup campers or toppers are not considered to be recreational vehicles nor are small trailers 
used for hauling animals, equipment or household goods of the occupant of the dwelling 
whereon such trailer is parked.

RIGHT OF WAY   The area between boundary lines of a road, street, alley or other easement of 
access.

SALVAGE YARD   Any land or building used for the collection or storage or sale of wastepaper, 
trash, rags, fibrous material, scrap metal or other discarded material; or for the collecting or 
dismantling or storing or salvaging of machinery or unlicensed motor vehicles not in operating 
condition, or for the sale of parts thereof, or materials from the demolition of buildings or 
structures.

SCREENING   Fencing or evergreen vegetation maintained for the purpose of concealing from 
view the area behind such fences or evergreen vegetation. When fencing is used for screening, it 
shall be not less than six nor more than eight feet high, unless otherwise provided.

SETBACK, BUILDING   A line nearest the front of and across a lot or parcel of land establishing 
the minimum open space to be provided between the front line of a building or structure and the 
line of the front street right of way. The setback distance shall be measured from the existing 
right of way line or the proposed right of way line, whichever is the greater.

SETBACK AREA   Open space on a lot which is unoccupied and unobstructed from its lowest 
level to the sky, except for permitted obstructions as approved by the Zoning Administrator.

SETBACK AREA, FRONT   An area extending along a full length of a front lot line and back to a 
line drawn parallel to the front lot line at a distance therefrom equal to the depth of the required 
front setback area. On a corner lot, each setback area that abuts a front lot line shall be 
considered a front setback area.

SETBACK AREA, REAR   An area extending along the full length of the rear lot line and back to 
a line drawn parallel to the rear lot line at a distance therefrom equal to the depth of the required 
rear setback area.

SETBACK AREA, SIDE   An area extending along a side lot line and back to a line drawn 
parallel to the side lot line at a distance therefrom equal to the width of a required minimum side 
setback area, but excluding any area encompassed within a front or rear setback area. 
Dimensions of minimum side setback areas refer to the required width of each side setback area 
rather than to the total width of both side setback areas, unless otherwise specified.

SEXUALLY ORIENTED BUSINESS   An adult arcade, adult bookstore, adult novelty store, adult 
video store, adult cabaret, adult motel, adult motion picture theater, adult theater, escort agency, 
nude model studio or sexual encounter center as defined by K.S.A. 12-770, as amended.

 
APPENDIX 1 — Definitions DRAFT 6/10/24       A1 - 6

https://www.ksrevisor.org/statutes/chapters/ch12/012_007_0070.html


Zoning Regulations of
Labette County, Kansas

APPENDIX 1 
DEFINITIONS 

 

SIGN   Any writing (including letters, words or numerals), pictorial representation  (including 
illustrations or decorations), emblem (including devices, symbols or trademarks),  flag, banner, 
streamer, pennant, string of lights or display calculated to attract the attention of the public or any 
other figure of similar character which:

1. Is a structure or any part thereof or a portable display, or is attached to, painted on, or in 
any other manner represented on a building or other structure or on the ground.

2. Is used to announce, direct attention to, or advertise.

SOLAR ENERGY CONVERSION SYSTEMS (SECS)   A facility that converts sunlight into 
electricity, whether by photovoltaics (PV), concentrating solar thermal devices (CST), or other 
conversion technology, for the primary purpose of wholesale sales of generated electricity. This 
includes all appurtenant facilities including, but not limited to, roads, substations, operation and 
maintenance buildings. These facilities are commonly referred to as ‘solar farms’, which is 
connected to transmission, collector, or feeder lines, and is intended for use in a larger electrical 
network exclusive of individual use. These regulations apply to community and utility commercial 
large scale systems.

STORAGE, OUTDOOR   The storage of goods and materials outside of any building or 
structure, but not including storage of a temporary or emergency nature or of new or used goods 
and materials on display for sale except when such display is permitted.

STRUCTURE   Anything constructed or erected which requires location on the ground or 
attachment to something having a location on the ground, but not including hard surfaced walks, 
mailboxes, utility poles, fire hydrants, street light fixtures or street signs. Fences, driveways and 
parking spaces are considered to be structures.

TAVERN AND DRINKING ESTABLISHMENT   An establishment which may be open to the 
general public wherein alcoholic liquor or cereal malt beverages are sold by the individual drink 
to customers for consumption on the premises. Such establishments shall include a Class B 
club. (See CLUB.)

USE   Any purpose for which a structure or a tract of land may be designed, arranged, intended, 
maintained or occupied; also, any activity, occupation, business or operation carried on, or 
intended to be carried on, in a structure or on a tract of land.

USE REGULATIONS   The provisions of these regulations which identify permitted and 
conditional uses, impose use limitations, and regulate accessory and temporary uses and home 
occupations.

VARIANCE   See Article 7 Section 107 for description.

 
APPENDIX 1 — Definitions DRAFT 6/10/24       A1 - 7



Zoning Regulations of
Labette County, Kansas

APPENDIX 1 
DEFINITIONS 

 

VISION TRIANGLE   A triangular area at the intersection of streets and roads maintained in such 
a manner as to provide a safe and open line of vision for drivers of vehicles approaching the 
intersection. Within the vision triangle, no one shall install, construct, plant, park or maintain any 
sign, fence, hedge, shrubbery, tree, natural growth or other obstruction including automobiles, 
trucks and other large vehicles or trailers which would materially impede vision between the 
heights of 33 inches and eight feet above the street level. These restrictions shall not apply to 
official traffic signs, signal and utility poles. Such area on a corner lot shall have two sides which 
are measured from the intersection of the lot lines and a third side across the lot joining the ends 
of the other two sides. Where the lot lines at intersections have rounded corners, the lot lines will 
be extended in a straight line to a point of intersection. In all districts, the two sides forming the 
lot line intersection shall be a minimum distance of 30 feet or more as required by the American 
Association of State Highway and Transportation Official guidelines or a more restrictive County 
standard.

WIND ENERGY CONVERSION SYSTEMS (WECS)   (See Article 10 Supplemental Use 
Regulations Definition.)

ZONING ADMINISTRATOR   The person appointed and authorized by the Governing Body to 
administer and enforce the requirements of these regulations. (See Article 6 Section 100A for 
Office of the Zoning Administrator.)

ZONING PERMIT   A certificate by which the Zoning Administrator certifies to an applicant that 
their proposed structure and/or use are in conformance with these regulations. This includes 
requirements stated in the conditions of a zoning amendment or conditional use case. 
The zoning permit including the conditions of a conditional use case shall be considered 
a Conditional Use Permit. (See Article 6 Section 101A for ZONING PERMITS.)

 
APPENDIX 1 — Definitions DRAFT 6/10/24       A1 - 8



Zoning Regulations of
Labette County, Kansas

APPENDIX 2 
ZONING REGULATIONS RESOLUTION 

 

APPENDIX 2 — Resolution Incorporating and Adopting Zoning Regulations

(To be inserted following adoption and publication.)

 
APPENDIX 2 — Resolution of Adoption DRAFT 6/10/24       A2 - 1



Zoning Regulations of
Labette County, Kansas

SUPPLEMENTAL DOCUMENTS 
FLOODPLAIN MANAGEMENT REGULATIONS 

 

SUPPLEMENTAL DOCUMENTS — Floodplain Management Regulations

Labette County adopted floodplain management regulations by Resolution ______________. The 
regulations are included as a supplemental document only for reference in the administration of 
these zoning regulations. See _____________________________   (insert link to website).

 
Supplemental Documents —  
Floodplain Management Regulations

DRAFT 6/10/24       S - 1











 

McCarty’s IT  1715 Main   Parsons, KS  67357 
www.mccartysIT.com 

1715 Main Street                        
Parsons, KS  67357                      
620-421-5530                      
www.mccartysIT.com 

 
Managed IT Service Proposal 
 This Statement of Work dated ____June ___, 2024_________ supplements the Master Customer Agreement between McCarty 
Office Machines, Inc. (MSP) and _ Altamont Police Department__(Customer), located at _   407 S. Huston, Altamont KS 67330.  
This Statement of Work (SOW) consists of the terms below, the signature page, and any unique attachments to this, which are 
all incorporated into the Agreement by this reference and are made a part of the Agreement by all intents and purposes.  
 
Service Description: 
McCarty’s IT is designed to provide pro-active support services that anticipate and prevent IT problems before they occur. The 
Service is built upon the successful installation and configuration of technologies that MSP’s Helpdesk Team, Professional 
Services Team (PST), and Network Operations Center (NOC) Team utilize to monitor and maintain critical technology systems.  
 
Ultimate-Care Deliverables Description:  
 

Implementation and Stabilization Process 
Following a signed Agreement, McCarty’s IT will start the On-boarding process and schedule the Kick-Off of 
Service.  A transition period may be required during the cancellation period with current provider. The standard 
process for On-Boarding is listed below and will be delivered in the first month of service.  

 
• Assess: Our technician will visit existing Customer facility for Server & System Assessment.  Our technician begins 

knowledge transfer to Helpdesk and NOC Team. If necessary, our technician will visit any existing server co-
locations to assess and knowledge transfer to Helpdesk and NOC Team.  
 

• Kick-Off Service:  Installation of Ticketing Agents and distribution of toll-free Helpdesk number is distributed. 
Helpdesk and NOC Teams notified of any changes to settings. Helpdesk and NOC go live.  
 

• Implementation:  McCarty’s IT initiates Services Implementation during off hours including monitoring 
technologies. There will be a date and time established for Server Migration (if applicable) and notifies key 
personnel.  Helpdesk and NOC kick-off call with McCarty’s IT.  

 

Help Desk Support and Maintenance 
The Service is designed to provide pro-active support services that anticipate and prevent IT problems before they 
occur.  McCarty’s IT will provide a Helpdesk team, Professional Services Team, and Network Operations Center 
(NOC) Team to provide the following services.  

  
Remote Help Desk will be provided through remote means by MSP to Customer. Access to the MSP Help Desk by 
authorized personnel is made by calling MSP’s telephone number at 800-794-2428 or by submitting an email request 
to support@mccartysIT.com.  Onsite support will be provided on an As-Needed basis and will be included in the 
monthly service Agreement. MSP will schedule Proactive Maintenance of Customers system Monthly and provide a 
summary report to Customer contact upon request.  

 
On-Site Consultation:  

McCarty’s will perform an onsite analysis of your network’s trends and performance annually, or as business 
changes necessitate, as well as to review your company’s goals and technology issues. This review will allow us 
to make recommendations to improve your network performance, office productivity, and help you plan and 
budget for Future IT needs.  

 

• End-user Helpdesk Support 
• Workstation Maintenance & Support 
• Network & Infrastructure Management 
• 24/7 Monitoring Services 

• Server Management, Maintenance & Support 
• Backup Management and Support 
• Peripheral Basic Support (i.e. iPhone, Blackberry, 

Other PDA, Printers, Scanners & Other 



 

McCarty’s IT  1715 Main   Parsons, KS  67357 
www.mccartysIT.com 

1715 Main Street                        
Parsons, KS  67357                      
620-421-5530                      
www.mccartysIT.com 

 
 
 

Monitoring Services 
Our 24/7 network monitoring service will allow us to watch every aspect of your network to detect and report 
problems before they escalate into downtime, data loss, or expensive repair issues. Some of the items we will 
monitor include:  

 
     
 
 
MSP will provide on-going monitoring and IT services of all critical devices as indicated in this SOW. Network 
Monitoring will be provided 24/7/365. Monthly reports as well as document critical alerts, scans, and event 
resolutions to Customer are available at customer’s request. Should a problem be discovered during monitoring, MSP 
shall make every attempt to rectify the condition in a timely manner through remote means. 
 

Project & Consulting Services 
MSP will provide planning, design, and implementation services for Project work on existing equipment or 
migration of existing equipment. Emergency project-based services performed outside of the hours or 8:00 am – 5 
pm Monday through Friday, excluding public holidays, shall be subject to provisions in this SOW.  

 
Your Experience: Support Tickets & Escalation 
 
MSP will respond to Customer’s Support Tickets under the provisions of SOW, and with best efforts after normal hours or on 
holidays. Support Tickets begin at Level 1 and must be opened by the MSP Helpdesk Team which will also handle Level 2 and 
level 3 Support Tickets. Customer Issues will be assigned a Support Ticket number for tracking.  

 

  
 
 
      

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• Network & Server Uptime 
• Hardware integrity & reliability 

• Server traffic and load 
• Storage space & availability 

1. The Call 

• Your incoming call answered by a live person 8-5 M-F 
• Tickets are created immediately 
• After hours calls are routed to afterhours emergency dispatch 

       2. The Response 

If the problem is not solved on the initial call, or the technician is helping someone else at the time of the call, a technician will 
respond back to you by phone within 1 hour for emergencies and 4 hours on non-emergencies.  During the call back it will 
be determined if your IT challenge may be fixed remotely (Managed Services and Contract Care) or if a technician needs to 
schedule an on-site repair visit. If your internet and hardware are working properly, almost everything may be repaired remotely- 
saving you both time and money.  

       3. Problem Solved 

Once the problem is resolved it is reported in IT Glue under your account. If there’s a way to prevent the problem in the future, 
that will be recorded in your account under IT Glue.   



 

McCarty’s IT  1715 Main   Parsons, KS  67357 
www.mccartysIT.com 

1715 Main Street                        
Parsons, KS  67357                      
620-421-5530                      
www.mccartysIT.com 

Included Services:  
Service rendered under this Agreement includes the following features: 
 

Description: Included 
Helpdesk & Onsite Support Services (Servers and Complete Desktops Only) 

 
24/7 Network Monitoring 

 
Virus Definition Updates 

 
Microsoft Patch Management (Servers and Complete Desktops Only) 

 
Backup Monitoring  

 
Spyware Monitoring and Removal (Servers and Complete Desktops Only) 

 
Add and Remove Users from Server and/or Network (Servers and Complete Desktops Only) 

 
Microsoft Business Premium implementation and training as needed 

 
On-Site assessments and Strategy Meetings         Professional Services 

 
Password Management 

 
  
  

 
 

Add-Ons  Count 
Fully Managed User (up to 7 pcs)  

$1,143/Mo. 
 

 

  
  
  

 
Total Monthly Managed IT Services Cost:   $1,143               per month. 
 
Terms of Service: 
  
The Service will begin on the date signed and the term of the Service will be 36 months from this date. The service chosen will 
be billed for its service at the beginning of each month. After which this agreement will renew on an annual basis unless 
notification sent in writing by either party is received 30 days before end of term. MSP warrants its services as outlined in MSA 
in this SOW.  
 
Credit Card Authorization: 
Customer authorizes MSP to charge Customer’s credit card $___________ which will be charged to Customer’s credit card on 
the 1st of each month. Additional monthly contracted services or project based Services approved by Customer may be charged 
to the credit card. The Service will be suspended if payment is not received within 5 days following date due. 

 
Cardholder Name _________________________________________ 

 
Cardholder Registered Address _____________________________________________________________ 

 
Card Number ___________________________________ Expiration date____/____ Security Code ______ 

 
Authorized Signature: _________________________________________________ 
 
 



 

McCarty’s IT  1715 Main   Parsons, KS  67357 
www.mccartysIT.com 

1715 Main Street                        
Parsons, KS  67357                      
620-421-5530                      
www.mccartysIT.com 

 
 
 
Minimum Compliance Standards:  
For Customer’s existing environment to qualify for MSP Services, the following requirements must be met.  
 

• All Servers with Microsoft Windows Operating Systems must be running Windows 2016 server or later.  
• All Desktop PC’s and Notebooks/Laptops with Microsoft Windows Operating Systems must be running Windows 10 

Pro or later, and have the latest Microsoft Service Packs and Critical Updates Installed  
• All Server and Desktop Software must be Genuine, Licensed and Vendor Supported.  
• Hardware warranty on network and server equipment. Without warranty, response time on equipment will no longer 

be guaranteed.  
• The environment must have a currently licensed, up-to-date and Vendor-supported Server-based Antivirus Solution 

protecting all Servers, Desktops, Notebooks/Laptops, and Email.  
• The environment must have a currently licensed, Vendor-Supported Server-based Backup Solution. The environment 

must have a currently licensed, Vendor-Supported Hardware Firewall between the internal Network and the internet.  
• Any Wireless data traffic in the environment must be secured with a minimum of 128-bit data encryption.  

 
 
Excluded Services:  
Services rendered under this Agreement do not include:  
 

• Parts, equipment, or software not covered by vendor/manufacturer warranty or support.  
• The cost of any parts, equipment, or shipping charges of any kind.  
• The cost of any Software, Licensing, or Software Renewal or Upgrade Fees of any kind.  
• The cost of any 3rd Party Vendor or Manufacturer Support or Incident Fees of any kind.  
• The cost to bring Customer’s environment up to minimum standards required for Service Compliance.  
• Failure due to acts of God, building modifications, power failures or other adverse environmental conditions or 

factors. Service and repair made necessary by the alteration or modification of equipment other than that authorized 
by MSP, including alterations, software installations or modifications of equipment made by Customer’s employees or 
anyone other than MSP.  

• Maintenance of Application software packages, whether acquired from MSP or any other source unless as specified in 
this SOW.  

 
3rd Party Supported Providers:  
Customer authorized MSP to contact 3rd party support providers on behalf of Customer. MSP will provide a Vendor 
Authorization Letter to Customer. It is the Customer’s responsibility to send this Letter to 3rd party vendor in order to authorize 
MSP to make changes on behalf of the Customer. Professional Services that are performed on behalf of Customer with a non-
authorized 3rd Party Vendor, that is a 3rd Party Vendor that has not signed a Vendor Authorization letter will be billed outside 
the scope of the Services. Communications with vendors listed below will be incorporated into the scope of this Agreement. 
The addition of 3rd Party Vendors not listed at the signing of this Agreement, if acceptable to MSP, shall result in an adjustment 
to the Customer’s monthly charges.  
  
 
Altamont Police Department: 
 
Name: ______________________________________Signature: _______________________________________ 
 
Title: _______________________________________Date: _____________________ 
 
McCarty’s IT:  
 
Name:  James McCarty       Signature: _________________________________________ 
 
Title:     President         Date: _____________________ 



CITY OF ALTAMONT 
 

407 S HUSTON   ▪   P.O. BOX 305   ▪   ALTAMONT, KS 67330 

PHONE (620) 784-5612   ▪   FAX (620) 784-5882   ▪   WEBSITE: ALTAMONTKS.COM 

 
 

Higher Calling Technology 
Current Services Provided for City Hall 

June 13, 2024 

 

Officesite Backup Service Subscription – Infinite Cloud 
Retention for Datto Siris S4-X-, Single Server Pricing (Backups 
500 GB of data) – Paid through 2024 

$219/mo. 

SonicWall Advanced Protection Service Suite – Advanced 
Protection Service Suite (APSS) includes – Capture Advanced 
Threat Protection, Gateway Anti-Virus, Anti Spyware, Intrusion 
Prevention, Application Firewall Service, Content Filtering 
Services, Comprehensive Anti-Spam, NSM Essential with 
Management & 7-Day Reporting and firmware – Paid through 
August 3, 2024 
 

$65.75/mo. 

4 - Annual Subscriptions Microsoft 365 – Paid through 2024 $33/mo. 

    

 



QUOTEQUOTE
Date

5/10/2024

Estimate #

6605

6605

City of Altamont
PO Box 305
407 S. Huston
Altamont, Kansas 6733

Total

Subtotal
Sales Tax (9.25%)

Please use this Quote #     
as your INVOICE to pay from

when placing your order.

(620) 421-6747

This Estimate is for the price of PARTS Only. Labor to install these parts may be listed as
an ESTIMATED line-item on this quote -- However, all labor is an ESTIMATED AMOUNT

ONLY - ACTUAL TIME WILL BE BILLED AFTER INSTALLATION.

1816 Broadway in Downtown Parsons, KS 67357

OFFICE HOURS: Mon-Fri 8:00-5:00                               1816 Broadway, Parsons, Kansas

** Orders will be placed upon
your request & full payment **

Office Hours: Mon-Fri   8-5

Finance Charges of 1 1/2% per month, 18% annual will be assessed on amounts 15 Days from Invoice Date with a minimum charge of $2.50.

Orders will be placed upon your request & full payment.  Invoices are available upon request when necessary, otherwise please refer to Quote #                
when submitting your order & payment.  Your paid receipt will be available in our office & your order will be placed at that time.

This quote is valid for 7 days as our vendor's prices change daily.

6605

DescriptionQty Total

MONTHLY SERVICES
Pro MSP Remote Managed Services for PC's w/ Managed Anti-Virus & Update Services - $14/PC - 5
Systems

5 70.00

* Pro Remote Managed Services for PC's (Windows Based) INCLUDE:  Windows Defender Anti-Virus
Management, Huntress Endpoint Detection & Response, Microsoft Windows Update & Patch
Management, Adobe & Java Update management.  Real Time Monitoring and Alerting & Remote
Support Agent - (Hourly Charges Will Apply for All Remote & Onsite Support)

* Offsite File Backup of individual desktop/laptop PC's is available for $15/PC per month

* Annual Commitment, Billed Monthly

x_______________________________________________________

Please Sign Above to Accept this Proposal and Activate the listed Services.  An Invoice will be sent
upon approval and a time will be scheduled to deploy the service agents on the covered devices.

$70.00

$70.00

$0.00



 

 

Managed Service 
Contract 

Agreement Packet 
  



   

Higher Calling Technologies, LLC  Rev 3/09/2023 

Managed Services Agreement 
1. Term of Agreement 

This Agreement between _______________________________, herein referred to as Client, and  
Higher Calling Technologies, LLC, hereinafter referred to as Service Provider, is effective upon the date 
signed, shall remain in force for a period of one year, and may be reviewed annually to address any 
necessary adjustments or modifications. The Service Agreement automatically renews for a subsequent 
“1” year term beginning on the day immediately following the end of the Initial Term, unless either 
party gives the other ninety (90) days prior written notice of its intent not to renew this Agreement. 

1. This Agreement may be terminated by the Client upon ninety (90) days written notice if the 
Service Provider:  

1. Fails to fulfill in any material respect its obligations under this Agreement and does not 
cure such failure within thirty (30) days of receipt of such written notice. 

2. Breaches any material term or condition of this Agreement and fails to remedy such 
breach within thirty (30) days of receipt of such written notice. 

3. Terminates or suspends its business operations unless it is succeeded by a permitted 
assignee under this Agreement. 

1. This Agreement may be terminated by the Service Provider upon ninety (90) days written notice 
to the Client. 

2. If either party terminates this Agreement, Service Provider will assist Client in the orderly 
termination of services, including timely transfer of the services to another designated provider if 
desired. Client agrees to pay Service Provider the actual costs of rendering such assistance. 

  

2. Fees and Payment Schedule 

Fees will be invoiced to Client on a Monthly basis and will become due and payable on the first day of 
each month unless other terms are agreed upon.  Services will be suspended if payment is not received 
within 5 days following date due.  

It is understood that any and all Services requested by Client that fall outside of the terms of this 
Agreement will be considered Projects, and will be quoted and billed as separate, individual Services. 

  

3. Taxes 

It is understood that any Federal, State or Local Taxes applicable shall be added to each invoice for 
services or materials rendered under this Agreement. Client shall pay any such taxes unless a valid 
exemption certificate is furnished to Service Provider for the state of use. 

 

 



   

Higher Calling Technologies, LLC  Rev 3/09/2023 

4. Coverage 

Remote & Onsite Helpdesk and Support of Client’s IT networks will be provided to the Client by 
Service Provider between the hours of 8:00 am – 5:00 pm Monday through Friday.  Hardware costs of 
any kind are not covered under the terms of this Agreement. 
 

Service outside Normal Working Hours 

Emergency services performed outside of the hours of 8:00 am – 5:00 pm Monday through Friday, and 
scheduled holidays, will be billed at $150/hr.  An afterhours phone number will be provided for 
emergencies that fall outside normal business hours or on scheduled holidays. 

Service Calls Where No Trouble is found 

If Client requests onsite service and no problem is found or reproduced, Client shall be billed at the 
current applicable rates. 

 
Limitation of Liability 

In no event shall Service Provider be held liable for indirect, special, incidental or consequential 
damages arising out of service provided hereunder, including but not limited to loss of profits or 
revenue, loss of use of equipment, lost data, costs of substitute equipment, or other costs. 

 

5. Additional Maintenance Services 

 Hardware/System Support 

Service Provider shall provide support as quoted, provided that all Hardware is current or replaceable 
parts are readily available, and all Software is Genuine, currently licensed and vendor-supported. Should 
any hardware or systems fail to meet these provisions, they may be excluded from this Service 
Agreement at the Service Providers discretion. 

Endpoint Detection and Response 

Service Provider shall provide, as quoted, current, licensed, Endpoint Detection and Response software 
for each covered system.   

Monitoring Services 

Service Provider will provide ongoing hardware monitoring of all covered devices.  Should a problem 
be discovered during monitoring, Service Provider shall make every attempt to rectify the condition in a 
timely manner through remote or onsite means.  

 



   

Higher Calling Technologies, LLC  Rev 3/09/2023 

6. Suitability of Existing Environment 

 Minimum Standards Required for Services 

 In order for Client’s existing environment to qualify for Service Provider’s Managed Services, the 
following requirements must be met:  

1. All Servers with Microsoft Windows Operating Systems must be running a version that has not 
reached End of Life as designated by the manufacturer and have all of the latest Microsoft 
Service Packs and Critical Updates installed. 

2. All Desktop PC’s and Notebooks/Laptops with Microsoft Windows Operating Systems must be 
running a version that has not reached End of Life as designated by the manufacturer and have 
all of the latest Microsoft Service Packs and Critical Updates installed. 

3. All Server and Desktop Software must be Genuine, Licensed and Vendor-Supported. 
4. The Client’s network environment must have a current, Service Provider Supported Hardware 

Firewall between the Internal Network and the Internet. 
5. All Wireless data traffic in the environment must be securely encrypted.  

Costs required to bring Client’s environment up to these Minimum Standards are not included in this 
Agreement. 

     7.  Excluded Services 

 Service rendered under this Agreement does not include: 

• Parts, equipment, or software not covered by vendor/manufacturer warranty or support. 
• The cost of any parts, equipment, or shipping charges of any kind. 
• The cost of any Software, Licensing, or Software Renewal or Upgrade Fees of any kind. 
• The cost of any 3rd Party Vendor or Manufacturer Support or Incident Fees of any kind. 
• The cost to bring Client’s environment up to minimum standards required for Services. 
• Failure of hardware or software due to acts of God, building modifications, power failures or 

other adverse environmental conditions or factors. 
• Service and repair made necessary by the alteration or modification of equipment other than that 

authorized by Service Provider, including alterations, software installations or modifications of 
equipment made by Client’s employees or anyone other than Service Provider. 

• Maintenance of Applications software packages, whether acquired from Service Provider or any 
other source. 

• Programming (modification of software code) and program (software) maintenance. 
• Training Services of any kind. 

   

8. Confidentiality 

 Service Provider and its agents will not use or disclose Client information, except as necessary to or 
consistent with providing the contracted services and will protect against unauthorized use. 

  



   

Higher Calling Technologies, LLC  Rev 3/09/2023 

9. Miscellaneous 

This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Kansas. It constitutes the entire Agreement 
between Client and Service Provider for monitoring/maintenance/service quoted.  Its terms and 
conditions shall prevail should there be any variance with the terms and conditions of any order 
submitted by Client.  

Service Provider is not responsible for failure to render services due to circumstances beyond its control 
including, but not limited to, acts of God. 

  

Acceptance of Service Agreement 

Client requested addition(s) of equipment/services after the signing of this Agreement, if acceptable to 
Service Provider, shall result in an adjustment to the Client’s monthly charges. 

  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Service Agreement to be signed by their 
duly authorized representatives as of the date set forth below. 

 

Accepted by: 

  

_____________________________________________      __________________________________ 

Authorized Signature                                                              
Service Provider                                                                     Date 

  

  

_____________________________________________      __________________________________ 

Authorized Signature                                                              
Client                                                                      Date 

 



QUOTEQUOTE
Date

6/7/2024

Estimate #

6630

6630

City of Altamont
PO Box 305
407 S. Huston
Altamont, Kansas 6733

Total

Subtotal
Sales Tax (9.25%)

Please use this Quote #     
as your INVOICE to pay from

when placing your order.

(620) 421-6747

This Estimate is for the price of PARTS Only. Labor to install these parts may be listed as
an ESTIMATED line-item on this quote -- However, all labor is an ESTIMATED AMOUNT

ONLY - ACTUAL TIME WILL BE BILLED AFTER INSTALLATION.

1816 Broadway in Downtown Parsons, KS 67357

OFFICE HOURS: Mon-Fri 8:00-5:00                               1816 Broadway, Parsons, Kansas

** Orders will be placed upon
your request & full payment **

Office Hours: Mon-Fri   8-5

Finance Charges of 1 1/2% per month, 18% annual will be assessed on amounts 15 Days from Invoice Date with a minimum charge of $2.50.

Orders will be placed upon your request & full payment.  Invoices are available upon request when necessary, otherwise please refer to Quote #                
when submitting your order & payment.  Your paid receipt will be available in our office & your order will be placed at that time.

This quote is valid for 7 days as our vendor's prices change daily.

6630

DescriptionQty Total

MONTHLY SERVICES - FOR POLICE DEPARTMENT
Pro MSP Remote Managed Services for PC's w/ Managed Anti-Virus & Update Services - $14/PC - 7
Systems

7 98.00

* Pro Remote Managed Services for PC's (Windows Based) INCLUDE:  Windows Defender Anti-Virus
Management, Huntress Endpoint Detection & Response, Microsoft Windows Update & Patch
Management, Adobe & Java Update management.  Real Time Monitoring and Alerting & Remote
Support Agent - (Hourly Charges Will Apply for All Remote & Onsite Support)

* Offsite File Backup of individual desktop/laptop PC's is available for $15/PC per month

* Annual Commitment, Billed Monthly

x_______________________________________________________

Please Sign Above to Accept this Proposal and Activate the listed Services.  An Invoice will be sent
upon approval and a time will be scheduled to deploy the service agents on the covered devices.

$98.00

$98.00

$0.00



QUOTEQUOTE
Date

6/7/2024

Estimate #

6631

6631

City of Altamont
PO Box 305
407 S. Huston
Altamont, Kansas 6733

Total

Subtotal
Sales Tax (9.25%)

Please use this Quote #     
as your INVOICE to pay from

when placing your order.

(620) 421-6747

This Estimate is for the price of PARTS Only. Labor to install these parts may be listed as
an ESTIMATED line-item on this quote -- However, all labor is an ESTIMATED AMOUNT

ONLY - ACTUAL TIME WILL BE BILLED AFTER INSTALLATION.

1816 Broadway in Downtown Parsons, KS 67357

OFFICE HOURS: Mon-Fri 8:00-5:00                               1816 Broadway, Parsons, Kansas

** Orders will be placed upon
your request & full payment **

Office Hours: Mon-Fri   8-5

Finance Charges of 1 1/2% per month, 18% annual will be assessed on amounts 15 Days from Invoice Date with a minimum charge of $2.50.

Orders will be placed upon your request & full payment.  Invoices are available upon request when necessary, otherwise please refer to Quote #                
when submitting your order & payment.  Your paid receipt will be available in our office & your order will be placed at that time.

This quote is valid for 7 days as our vendor's prices change daily.

6631

DescriptionQty Total

MICROSOFT 365 ANNUAL SUBSCRIPTION - FOR POLICE DEPARTMENT

Microsoft 365 Apps for Business Annual Subscription License - $99/ea per Year7 693.00

$693.00

$693.00

$0.00



QUOTEQUOTE
Date

6/7/2024

Estimate #

6632

6632

City of Altamont
PO Box 305
407 S. Huston
Altamont, Kansas 6733

Total

Subtotal
Sales Tax (9.25%)

Please use this Quote #     
as your INVOICE to pay from

when placing your order.

(620) 421-6747

This Estimate is for the price of PARTS Only. Labor to install these parts may be listed as
an ESTIMATED line-item on this quote -- However, all labor is an ESTIMATED AMOUNT

ONLY - ACTUAL TIME WILL BE BILLED AFTER INSTALLATION.

1816 Broadway in Downtown Parsons, KS 67357

OFFICE HOURS: Mon-Fri 8:00-5:00                               1816 Broadway, Parsons, Kansas

** Orders will be placed upon
your request & full payment **

Office Hours: Mon-Fri   8-5

Finance Charges of 1 1/2% per month, 18% annual will be assessed on amounts 15 Days from Invoice Date with a minimum charge of $2.50.

Orders will be placed upon your request & full payment.  Invoices are available upon request when necessary, otherwise please refer to Quote #                
when submitting your order & payment.  Your paid receipt will be available in our office & your order will be placed at that time.

This quote is valid for 7 days as our vendor's prices change daily.

6632

DescriptionQty Total

NETWORK SECURITY APPLIANCE - FOR POLICE DEPARTMENT

SonicWALL TZ370 Total Secure - with Advanced Protection Service Suite (APSS) - 1 Year
Subscription

1 1,289.00

* Estimated Annual Renewal Cost for APSS Subscription - $765/yr

* Advanced Protection Service Suite (APSS) includes - Capture Advanced Threat Protection, Gateway
Anti-Virus, Anti-Spyware, Intrusion Prevention, Application Firewall Service, Content Filtering Services,
Comprehensive Anti-Spam, NSM Essential with Management & 7-Day Reporting and firmware.

Installation Labor1 115.00

$1,404.00

$1,404.00

$0.00



1

What you NEED TO KNOW NOW about the

How changes in the new NFPA standards for turnout 
gear and SCBA will affect the fire service

W R I T T E N  B Y 
Jef f  Stu l l  ( Internat ional  Personnel  Protect ion,  Inc. )  and  
Matt  Cox (Bat ta l ion Chief,  Fai r fax County F i re and Rescue Department ) 
June 2024

This white paper provides an overview of the 
upcoming changes that will affect the NFPA 
1971 and NFPA 1981/1982 standards that 
address requirements for both structural 
firefighting protective clothing (including 
garments, helmets, gloves, footwear and hoods) 
and self-contained breathing apparatus (SCBA) 
that will be part of the updated editions for these 
standards when released. Based on this white 
paper, you will be able to:

 • Understand how the new consolidated 
standard NFPA 1970 will replace NFPA 
1971 and NFPA 1981/1982 for the 
structural firefighting personal protective 
equipment (PPE) requirements.

 • Get a sense of when the new standard will 
be promulgated, the likely introduction of 
new products certified to this standard, 
and general impact on your purchasing 
decision for updated PPE.

 • Identify key changes in requirements 
for structural firefighting PPE that can 
potentially affect design, performance,  
and documentation. 

The new consolidated structural 
firefighting PPE standard
The new NFPA 1970. A new standard is being 
created that consolidates four individual 
standards (see figure below):

 • NFPA 1971 (2018) – Standard on Protective 
Ensembles for Structural Fire Fighting and 
Proximity Fire Fighting

 • NFPA 1975 (2019) – Standard on 
Emergency Services Work Apparel

 • NFPA 1981 (2019) – Standard on Open-
Circuit Self-Contained Breathing Apparatus 
(SCBA) for Emergency Services

 • NFPA 1982 (2018) – Standard on Personal 
Alert Safety Systems (PASS)

The new standard will have the title, Standard on 
Protective Ensembles for Structural and Proximity 
Firefighting, Work Apparel and Open-Circuit 
Self-Contained Breathing Apparatus (SCBA) for 
Emergency Services, and Personal Alert Safety 
Systems (PASS).

consolidations

Sponsored by:



2

This new standard is the result of a process 
by the National Fire Protection Association 
to reduce the over 130 original fire service 
standards into a smaller, more manageable 
number of standards that are easier to maintain 
into the future of its standards development 
process. Additional reasons provided for the 
consolidation include:

 • Allowing for related products and topics to 
benefit from “synergism” in terminology, 
general requirements and criteria.

 • Ensuring that related products  
remain aligned and benefit from  
concurrent advancements.

 • Permitting future harmonization of 
requirements for consistency of protection 
including the advancement of overall 
systems approaches.

NFPA 1970 organization. The new standard 
is structured to help preserve the existing 
identity for being able to still reference the older 
standards numbers (e.g., NFPA 1971):

 • In the first consolidation, overall 
introduction is a “roadmap” to the  
standard that is provided in the  
first chapter.

 • Common chapters are provided for 
referenced documents, terminology, 
and general certification requirements 
(Chapters 2 through 4).

 • The principle requirements in successive 
chapters group the original content of the 
existing standards collectively addressing 
scope/certification requirements, labeling 
and information requirements, design 
requirements, performance requirements 
and test methods.

 o Chapters 5 to 9 apply to NFPA 1971

 o Chapters 10 to 14 apply to NFPA 1975

 o Chapters 15 to 19 apply to NFPA 1981

 o Chapters 20 to 24 apply to NFPA 1982

 • Several non-mandatory annexes are 
provided for clarifying information and 
other specific purposes. Notably,  
Annex G provides a number of 
supplemental test methods primarily  
aimed at conducting full ensemble testing 
to evaluate different relevant, but not 
required, performance properties.  

Figure 1 Consolidation of four PPE Standards into New NFPA 1970

NOTE – This white paper focuses on NFPA 1971 and NFPA 1981 portions of NFPA 1970.

KEY FACT
Because the main requirements for each 
existing standard have been kept together 
along with specified product labeling, it 
will still be possible to refer to the older 
referenced standards number as part of 
product specifications and other industry 
documentation.



3

NFPA 1970 implementation schedule and impact. 
It is currently unclear when the new standard  
will issue:

 • The earliest the new standard can be 
adopted is August 2024. 

 • This acceptance date could become later 
because a number of special appeals 
have been made where individuals have 
challenged different parts of the proposed 
new standard. 

 • Two specific requests have asked to 
have the standard be delayed by having 
the standard sent back to the respective 
committees working on the different  
parts, which could push out the 
promulgation much more than a year 
depending on the stage selected to  
repeat development work. 

• No certainty for when the standard will be 
introduced will be available until June to 
August 2024.

Consequences of the new NFPA 1970
When the new NFPA 1970 does come out, there 
are several consequences:

 • No new products can be certified to the 
older editions of the standards that are 
part of the consolidated standard. New 
products will have to be certified to the  
new NFPA 1970.

 • Manufacturers will be permitted to 
maintain the certifications of existing 
products to the older standards for a period 
of up to 18 months following the effective 
date of the standard. This grace period 
effectively permits manufacturers to get 
products ready for the new standard by 
going through their certification laboratory 
for demonstrating that they can meet the 
new criteria. This applies to all products, 
even if the product has not changed to 
meet the new standard. 
 

 • Typically, manufacturers take some 
time to have their products certified to a 
new edition of a standard because of a 
backlog of testing that rapidly develops 
once the new standard issues. While 
manufacturers can try to undertake some 
preliminary testing ahead of the issue date, 
certification to a new edition cannot occur 
until the new edition becomes effective. 

Current label on certified garment that is likely to change based on 
NFPA 1970 consolidation, but will still reference NFPA 1971.

KEY RECOMMENDATION 
Given the uncertainly in the issue date 
for NFPA 1970, many fire departments 
may have their PPE purchasing decisions 
affected for existing or new orders. It is 
suggested that you speak directly with  
your manufacturer representative to find  
out what you can expect in terms of  
product availability. 



4

Proposed Revisions to NFPA 1971 
Overview and key changes.  
Multiple areas of the standard were changed 
through public inputs and comments coupled 
with work by a balanced technical committee 
in affecting the NFPA 1971 requirements for 
structural and proximity firefighting protective 
clothing. The main objectives of these  
changes were to:

 • Address emerging protection needs or fire 
service concerns.

 • Account for new technology in products 
and testing.

 • Update criteria and methods.

 • Fix errors or clarify existing requirements.

 • Address consolidation.

Since there are a multitude of changes, this 
white paper focuses on what the authors  
believe to be the most important.

A description of these changes and their 
potential impact are provided in the sections 
below.

 
Mandate particulate-blocking 
capabilities for structural hoods. 
In the new NFPA 1970, new structural 
firefighting hoods can only be certified if 
they meet particulate-blocking capabilities. 
Proximity firefighting hoods will be exempted 
but can become particulate blocking if optional 
requirements are applied. In addition to 
becoming mandatory for structural firefighting, 
the criteria for particulate-blocking hoods were 
modified to include:

 • Full coverage of the particulate-blocking 
layer inside the hood, with the exception of 
the hood opening and hems.

 • The application of particulate-blocking test 
requirement to hood seams.

 • More rigorous preconditioning of materials 
and seams prior to particle testing.

 • The introduction of sizing requirements 
related to fit (applies to both structural and 
proximity hoods).

Mandate particulate blocking capabilities 
for structural hoods.

#1

Provide basis for manufacturer to make 
PFAS-free claims and address restricted 
substances in clothing.

#2

Establish new criteria to ensure that turnout 
gear maintains performance properties over 
expected service life.

#3

Examine ability to effectively clean clothing 
materials to remove fireground contaminants.

#4

Add new test method and requirement for 
clothing breathability.

#5

Create new set of optional criteria to address 
“systems” performance of complete 
firefighter protective ensembles.

#6

Key Changes

Key gear change #1



5

The implications of these proposed  
changes include: 

 • Particulate-blocking hoods require  
barrier layer that imparts different 
characteristics, potentially affecting  
both insulation and comfort.

 • Hoods may need to be offered in  
different sizes.

 • Current breathability requirements will not 
permit certain multi-layered hoods often 
used by instructors (see below).

 • New particulate-blocking capabilities might 
be harder to meet (some existing products 
will need to be updated).

 • Hoods will no longer be considered  
a commodity.

 
 

Provide basis for manufacturers to make 
PFAS-free claims and address restricted 
substances in clothing. 
In the proposed new edition, attempts are  
being made to address the use of per- and  
poly-fluorinated alkyl substances (PFAS) in 
turnout gear by providing optional labeling 
requirements and a means of verification. 
Broader criteria related to testing other  
restricted substances in these products have 
also been proposed in reaction to concerns 
raised by several regulatory authorities and 
organizations within the fire service. The new 
requirements recognize the following:

 • Many states now require that 
manufacturers disclose whether 
firefighter clothing contains PFAS.

 • A key challenge is how the absence of 
PFAS can be verified where claims of  
PFAS-free can be made subject to  
certain caveats.

 • Analytical techniques for measuring 
specific PFAS compounds exist but are 
limited in the number that can be  
quantified (two of these compounds 
include “PFOA” and “PFOS,” which  
were the initial focus of research on  
PFAS, although that focus has  
significantly expanded). This change  
could affect how manufacturers comply 
with future restricted substance  
reporting requirements.

 • “Total PFAS” has to be measured  
indirectly, generally as “total fluorine”  
where methods exist but have not been 
standardized for textiles.

 • Other restricted substances warrant 
consideration to limit clothing as a source 
of human exposure or contamination of  
the environment. 
 

Impact of layers on key hood 
performance attributes
North Carolina State University (NCSU) 
investigated the impact of multiple layers 
on hood protective performance. For this 
testing, NCSU selected both certified and 
non-certified hood material composites for 
testing, changing the number of layers in 
different products. 

Based on data from the research:

 • Many 2-layer hoods will not meet 
NFPA insulation requirements

 • All 3-layers hoods will not meet NFPA 
breathability requirements

Key gear change #2



6

 
The proposed method of implementation 
for “PFAS-free” and restricted substance 
requirements in NFPA 1971 includes:

 • Identifying acceptable test methods for 
measuring total fluorine (for the purpose 
of defining how to determine if PFAS are 
present for making a “PFAS-free” claim).

 • Determining which materials must be 
tested for determining levels of specific 
restricted substances (which include 
different kinds of PFAS) along with the 
methods to be used for quantifying  
these substances.

 • Requiring that manufacturers can only 
use materials that are tested and meet 
restricted substance limits.

 • Mandating that this testing be performed 
independently and as part of certification.

Establish new criteria to ensure that 
turnout gear maintains performance 
properties over expected service life. 
Addition of preconditioning criteria have been 
proposed that entail repeated washing, heat 
exposures, UV light exposure and flexing/

abrasion for key performance tests. Some 
existing testing for garment moisture barriers 
has been modified to allow for alternative 
technologies. Based on these changes, it is 
expected that:

 • Some materials may not provide the same 
levels of durability and will be affected by 
new requirements (this is a way of ensuring 
that tradeoffs are properly addressed).

 • Information will become available as to 
how some textile fabric properties are now 
being affected by the increase of applied 
cleaning and expected use conditions.

 • Adjustments in some test methods might 
encourage alternative moisture barrier 
technologies and specifically allow new 
materials that do not require PFAS. 

Many of these changes have been incorporated 
as mandatory revisions while others are  
provided in a “report only” format to inform  
the fire service.

Examine ability to effectively clean 
clothing materials to remove fireground 
contaminants. 
Measurement of a “cleaning index” on specific 
protective clothing material for reporting 
purposes using procedures similar to NFPA 1851 
has been proposed for verifying ability to remove 

Basis of restricted substance 
limits
The committee responsible for NFPA 
1971 has proposed that the requirements 
be modeled after the international OEKO-
TEX 100 standard along with the criteria 
from PPE Supplement. This organization 
generally chooses the most rigorous 
requirements for hazardous substances 
in products that are found in global 
regulations and other prohibitions. 

Key gear change #3
Key gear change #4



7

Proposed chemical runoff test for garment outer shells
One test historically used in Europe for turnout gear has been proposed for use with diesel fuel to 
show how easily material can repel, absorb, or allow the penetration for a small volume of the liquid. 
The data below, provided by the Fire Protection Research Foundation, illustrate the differences 
between two materials with and without PFAS-based finishes both in a new condition and after the 
materials have been washed and dried 25 times. In the new standard, this data will be reported after 
multiple wash cycles with the contaminated shell being subjected to an advanced cleaning per NFPA 
1851 before being tested for flame resistance.

semi-volatile organic chemicals and heavy 
metals from garment and hood materials. These 
new requirements are intended to:

 • Provide information on decontamination 
efficiency from advanced cleaning 
procedures that may induce material 
suppliers to improve fabrics for 
contamination resistance or provide 
improved cleaning protocols.

 • All fire departments to consider cleanability 
as factor in selecting clothing materials.

 

Add new test method and requirement 
for clothing breathability. 
An evaporative resistance test (referred to as 
“Ret) is being added for characterizing garment 
composites. Like total heat loss (THL), this 
new property characterizes the breathability 
of the composite, which has been related to 
reducing the likelihood of heat stress impact 

Key gear change #5



8

from firefighter clothing. However, Ret measures 
garment material breathability under entirely 
different conditions and thus provides new 
information in predicting the physiological 
impact of clothing on firefighters. While there 
could be a burden for adding a new test to 
address the hundreds of composites available 
for protective garments, the Ret procedures were 
established in a way where testing results could 
be obtained efficiently by using a combined 
testing and modeling approach.

Also, in contrast to THL where higher numbers 
indicate more comfortable, less stressful 
clothing, lower numbers for Ret mean the 
material system provides better breathability. 
The chart above reinforces that there is no 
direct relationship between the two different 
breathability measurements. Nevertheless, 
as the result of adding this new test, the new 
metrics may add complexity for deciding  
balance between garment composite  
insulation and breathability.

Example of outer shell cleaning efficiencies 
The chart below shows differences in the removal rates as applied to specific semi-volatile organic 
chemicals (that include common fireground contaminants) based on standard advanced cleaning 
procedures in NFPA 1851. These data show differences for outer shell (OS) fabrics with and without 
PFAS after 30 launderings (chosen to represent 6 gear cleanings over 5 years). Most differences were 
small. It is expected that the differences would be greater for new fabrics.



9

Create new set of optional  
criteria to address “systems” 
performance of complete firefighter 
protective ensembles. 
A new annex will include different test methods 
for measuring overall ensemble performance 
for thermal protection, heat stress impact, 

protection from smoke particulates and 
fire gases, and functionality. The optional 
test methods are set up for use by PPE 
manufacturers and test laboratories as well as 
by fire departments. No specific criteria are set 
for these tests, but instructional information is 
provided for how to interpret and apply results.

Early assessment of  
performance tradeoffs
The chart above shows insulation (TPP) and 
breathability (THL) for over 100 material 
composites (combination of outer shell, 
moisture barrier, and thermal barrier) for 
four different moisture barriers that existed 
in 2001 right after the addition of the THL 
criterion of 130 W/m2 in the 2000 edition 
of NFPA 1971. When the THL requirement 
was later raised to the IAFF recommended 
minimum of 205 W/m2 in 2007, composites 
for two of the moisture barriers – 
represented in yellow (square) and red 
(circle) could no longer comply.

Key gear change #6

Fluorescent particulate chamber exposure test to address smoke 
penetration of ensembles; separate images show side of test 
subject face and neck before and after exposure with yellow tinted 
areas indicating particles depositing on wearer’s skin.



10

The newly proposed full ensemble and other 
specialized tests are intended to provide the 
following benefits:

 • New test methods will place  
more emphasis on interfaces and  
gear interoperability.

 • Procedures will standardize claims for 
areas of performance not addressed in 
current requirements that can be applied  
to full products, which include ensembles 
of turnout clothing with and without  
SCBA or complete elements  
(e.g., gloves, boots, etc.).

 • Fire service will be able to assess  
how different PPE works together  
and affects firefighters.

Other changes.  A number of other changes 
were made in the standard that were not 
described above. For example, new criteria 
and test methods were added to address 
the safety and continued performance of 
electronic components, such as radio frequency 
identification (RFID) chips integrated into 
clothing. The test to assess the deployment of 
and access to Drag Rescue Devices (“DRDs”) 
in protective coats was made more difficult to 
better simulate field use. 

Proposed Revisions to NFPA 1981  
for SCBA
Overview and key changes. 
A number of changes have also been proposed 
for improving SCBA. As with gear, some changes 
are primarily to clarify existing requirements, but 
several are expected to be consequential; these 
changes include:

 
Update intrinsic safety criteria. 
Intrinsic Safety is an approach to the design of 
equipment going into hazardous areas.  The 
idea is to reduce the available energy to a level 
where it is too low to cause ignition.  That means 
preventing sparks and keeping temperatures low. 
For the upcoming NFPA 1970 requirements, this 
change is important given that more functions 
for SCBA have become electronic in nature.

Specific changes include:

 • Careful scrutiny of criteria to ensure that 
the electronics and related connections of 
electronic or electrical SCBA components 
can be rated for explosion environments 
in at least one of five defined explosion 
protection categories. 

 • Criteria address both non-incendive 
(electrical/electronic circuitry that is 
incapable, under normal operating 
conditions, of causing ignition of a 
specified flammable gas-air, vapor-air, or 
dust-air mixture due to arcing or thermal 
means) and system intrinsic electrical 
safety as defined by Underwriters’ 
Laboratory standards.

 
 

Better integrate other electronic devices. 
Portable radios may be tied into SCBA and 
facepieces via a wireless connection.  Working 
with the new technology to develop muscle 
memory is paramount, but understanding when 
a connection is lost, or the system isn’t working 
should be readily apparent to the firefighter. 
Communication failures are often listed by 
NIOSH investigators as a key contributing 
factor in line-of-duty firefighter deaths.  While 
contributing factors can also include a lack of 
training or infective procedures, addressing 
equipment failures was the objective of 
this change particularly in making wireless 
technology to connect with new SCBA and  
allow firefighters to communicate more 

Key SCBA change #1

Key SCBA change #2

Update intrinsic safety criteria.#1

Better integrate other electronic devices.#2
Modify End-of-Service-Time Indicator (EOSTI) 
and Heads-Up Display (HUD) remaining volume 
indications based on cylinder pressure. 

#3

Mandate ease of removal of SCBA soft goods for 
more effective cleaning.#4

Key Changes



11

efficiently and effectively.  Changes to  
address this need include:

 • SCBA that include a wired connection to 
portable radio components complying 
with NFPA 1802 will be required to include 
appropriate radio frequency device 
connectors that are specified in NFPA  
1802 design criteria. 

 • SCBA that include a wireless connection 
to portable radio components complying 
with NFPA 1802 will be required to include 
wireless status indication in the Heads-Up-
Display (HUD).

 • Additional criteria are established for 
wireless interfaces in SCBA to other 
devices, where used. SCBA will require 
wireless status indication in the Heads-
Up Display (HUD) or other location on the 
SCBA discernible by the end user when the 
facepiece is worn. 

 • The indicator has to show both when the 
device is paired with the SCBA and when 
the connection is lost.

Modify End-of-Service-Time Indicator 
(EOSTI) and Heads-Up-Display (HUD) 
remaining volume indications based  
on cylinder pressure. 
Historically, EOSTI requirements have been 
set by the National Institute for Occupational 
Safety and Health (NIOSH) where NFPA 1981 
has specified that two different forms of alarm 
should be used to notify the firefighter that 35% 
of the air pressure remains. Remaining air is also 
displayed in the HUD. New criteria have been 
established to define EOSTI and HUD indication 
pressures that are proportional to the rated 
cylinder volume as shown in the following table. 
The new criteria accounts for the compressibility 
of air and recognition that the relationship 
between remaining cylinder pressure and 
remaining cylinder volume is not linear. 

As a consequence of these changes:

 • The EOSTI and HUD indicated air levels are 
consistently related to the cylinder volume. 

 • The alarm activation is unique to each 
pressure where different rated pressure 

Key SCBA change #3



12

cylinders will activate at their own  
unique pressures.

 • This may change the amount of  
time available for a firefighter in an  
IDLH environment.

 • The rate of air consumption is still 
dependent on the fire conditions, the 
physical condition of the firefighter, and  
the physical activity on the fireground.

 • Fire departments will need to train their 
firefighters for understanding and  
applying the new EOSTI and HUD air  
level indications. 

 
 

Mandate ease of  removal of SCBA soft 
goods for more effective cleaning. 
As with apparel, the new NFPA 1981 
requirements will place requirements on 
manufacturers to make it easier for end users  
for removing harness straps, padding, and 
other soft goods in the design of their SCBA so 
that these items can be separately cleaned, if 
deemed necessary as the result of fireground 
exposures. This change will further enable  
easier future replacement.

The implications for this change include:

 • The removable soft goods components  
of the new standard is a step towards 
cancer prevention and assistance  
with gross decontamination and clean  
cab technology. 

 • Soft goods may be removed, 
decontaminated or washed and  
replaced on the SCBA.

 • Departments may consider purchasing 
additional sets of soft goods. Once gross 
decontamination is completed on the 
fireground and the frame portion of the 
SCBA is dry, a fresh set of soft goods may 
be placed back on the pack. The pack 
may then be placed back on the apparatus 
(whether it’s in a cab or compartment) 
knowing it’s ready for the next incident. 

Additional changes. 
Some testing technology in the NFPA 1981 
standard has been updated to more modern 
techniques. For example, the specifications for 
the breathing machine that uniquely evaluates 
how the SCBA maintains positive pressure inside 
the facepiece was updated. In addition, more 
robust instructions for cleaning and disinfection 
of SCBA will now have to be provided by 
manufacturers. Finally, the requirement for 
indicating a low battery has been changed from 
2 hours to 1 hour.

Final Takeaways
This white paper has attempted to address the 
new NFPA 1970 standard and how it will affect 
future fire service PPE.

 • NFPA standards that impact available PPE 
for firefighters during structural firefighting 
are subject to periodic change. The new 
edition of NFPA 1971 standard for turnout 
gear and NFPA 1981 for SCBA are going 
through a transformative change while also 
being consolidated into one standard. 

 • The new versions for both NFPA 1971  
and NFPA 1981 will include significant 
changes that will affect product offerings 
on new purchases. Understanding  
those changes will help departments 
determine replacement or new gear/
equipment priorities. 
 

IMPORTANT INFORMATION 
Understanding how far and how long you 
and your crew may operate in a structure 
will allow a proper risk assessment by unit 
officers and command.  Crew integrity and 
unity during a firefight is paramount and 
must only be superseded by life safety.  

Key SCBA change #4



13

 • While the new standard is slated for 
an August 2024 release date, there is 
uncertainty as to if it may be delayed as 
some of the more controversial changes 
are debated. There is a possibility that 
the standard could be sent back to the 
committee resulting in a relatively long  
delay in becoming approved.

 • The acceptance of the new standard does 
not affect current already-certified gear. 
When the new standard is promulgated, 
manufacturers will have 18 months to 
get existing new gear certified to the new 
requirements. Any new product will have  
to be certified to the requirements in the 
new NFPA standard.

 • Despite the consolidation of multiple 
standards into a new NFPA 1970 standard, 
the individual products will retain their 
“identity” to the historical NFPA 1971  
and NFPA 1981 designations.

It is important that fire 
departments look at the NFPA 
1970 standard once it is issued 
to become familiar with the new 
requirements. This is especially 
true since additional changes  
could still be made leading up to  
its promulgation.



CITY OF ALTAMONT 
 

407 S HUSTON   ▪   P.O. BOX 305   ▪   ALTAMONT, KS 67330 

PHONE (620) 784-5612   ▪   FAX (620) 784-5882   ▪   WEBSITE: ALTAMONTKS.COM 

 

 
 

City Administrator Report 

City Council 

June 13, 2024 

 

1. AMI Water Meters – W&W Backhoe with the help of City Staff installed 

water meters throughout town.  We currently have 521 water meters 

installed.   

a. We still have 1-inch and 2-inch water meters to install.  There are 

15 meters left to install.   

b. Bridget Nash and LeaAnn Myers activated the AMI endpoints to 

send readings back to the City Office. 

c. Bridget and LeaAnn have continued working with programming 

on integrating the AMI endpoints with our municipal software.  

d. We have started setting up customer portals for anyone who 

has shown interest in seeing their daily water usage. 

e. We have been able to identify several water leaks with the new 

system. 

2. Cox Communications – Reviewing franchise fees 

a. Placed an audit request for further details on franchise fees for 

how they were calculated for the third and fourth quarter of 

2023, and first quarter of 2024  

b. Requested payment for franchise fees for the third and fourth 

quarter of 2023.  According to Cox, that payment is anticipated 

to be issued on June 12, 2024. 

3. Cybersecurity – Received information for cybersecurity from Higher 

Calling Technologies and McCarty’s Office Supply 

4. Altamont Pool – The Altamont Pool is open for the summer. 

a. The first session of swimming lessons began this week. 

5. HELP – Heather Beasley attended the monthly HELP meeting. 

6. Police Department – Axon installed the new vehicle camera 

equipment.  The officers are now using the new vehicle and body 

cameras. 

7. Lead and Copper - If you have not turned in your Lead and Copper 

Survey, please get those turned in. Contact the City Office if you 

need a new copy of the survey.  Inventory is due to the Kansas 

Department of Health and Environment by October 16, 2024. 





From: shop@altamontks.com
To: "LeaAnn Myers"; "Richard Hayward"
Subject: UTILTY REPORT
Date: Monday, June 10, 2024 3:01:34 PM

Install water meters ------   change out 8  meter valves    replace 7 meter sets and boxes
Pool up and running, install steps and diving board
Replace 2 gas meter yard lines and replumb
Repair gas line ( damaged when digging up to replace water set )
Push up and burn tree dump
Mow and weed eat
Ordered cold patch ( 2 weeks before they can deliver )
Start putting picnic tables together

Repair electric service to house at 505 3rd tree cutters tore down
Replace stool flapper and fluid master at softball field, borrow a skid steer box blade from Heath
Nash to fix pot holes in the road ( IT WAS IN  TERRIBLE SHAPE ,) put hand towels and toilet paper in
bathrooms also.  WE DO NOT HAVE A KEY NOT GET IN THE BATHROOMS
Put up snow fence at pocket park, move new tables and benches , clean up Huston street, mow and
spray for weeds , for Flag Day
Pick up after flag day
 
 
 

mailto:shop@altamontks.com
mailto:leaann@altamontks.com
mailto:richard_hayward@sbcglobal.net


EXECUTIVE SESSION MOTIONS 
 

I move the city council recess into executive session to discuss an individual employee’s performance 
pursuant to the non-elected personnel matter exception, K.S.A. 75-4319 (b) (1) to include:  (people to 

participate besides governing body.)  The open meeting will resume in the city council room at 
____PM. 

 
I move the city council recess into executive session to discuss Attorney – Client privilege matter 
exception, K.S.A.  75-4319(b)(2) to include: (people to participate besides governing body.)  The 

open meeting will resume in the city council room at _____PM.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        
 

I move the city council recess into executive session to preliminary discuss employer-employee 
negotiations matter exception, K.S.A.  75-4319(b) (3) to include: (people to participate besides 

governing body.)  The open meeting will resume in the city council room at _____PM. 
 

I move the city council recess into executive session to preliminary discuss property acquisition matter 
exception, K.S.A.  75-4319(b)(6) to include: (people to participate besides governing body.)  The 

open meeting will resume in the city council room at _____PM.                                                                                      
 

I move the city council recess into executive session to discuss data relating to financial affairs or 
trade secrets of corporations, partnerships, trusts, and individual proprietorships pursuant to the non-
elected personnel matter exception, K.S.A. 75-4319(b)(4) to include: (people to participate besides 

governing body.)  The open meeting will resume in the city council room at _____PM.                                              
 

K.S.A. 75-4319. Closed or executive meetings; conditions; authorized subjects for discussion; binding 
action prohibited; certain documents identified in meetings not subject to disclosure. (a) Upon formal 
motion made, seconded and carried, all bodies and agencies subject to the open meetings act 
may recess, but not adjourn, open meetings for closed or executive meetings. Any motion to recess 
for a closed or executive meeting shall include a statement of (1) the justification for closing the 
meeting, (2) the subjects to be discussed during the closed or executive meeting and (3) the time 
and place at which the open meeting shall resume. Such motion, including the required statement, 
shall be recorded in the minutes of the meeting and shall be maintained as a part of the permanent 
records of the body or agency. Discussion during the closed or executive meeting shall be limited to 
those subjects stated in the motion. 
(b) No subjects shall be discussed at any closed or executive meeting, except the following:  
(1) Personnel matters of nonelected personnel;  
(2) consultation with an attorney for the body or agency which would be deemed privileged in the 
attorney-client relationship;  
(3) matters relating to employer-employee negotiations whether or not in consultation with the 
representative or representatives of the body or agency;  
(4) confidential data relating to financial affairs or trade secrets of corporations, partnerships, trusts, 
and individual proprietorships;  
(5) matters relating to actions adversely or favorably affecting a person as a student, patient or 
resident of a public institution, except that any such person shall have the right to a public hearing if 
requested by the person;  
(6) preliminary discussions relating to the acquisition of real property; 
 



The League of Kansas 
Municipalities 
Annual Conference

October 10-12, 2024
Wichita, Kansas

The League Annual Conference is the largest municipal 
gathering of the year in Kansas, and the one event city 
officials cannot afford to miss!

This event will allow you to engage with other leaders 
to share and brainstorm ideas to implement in your 
community, and think creatively to use problem solving 
tactics and address common municipal challenges.

Session Topics*

• Cybersecurity
• AI for Government
• Broadband Update
• Managing Conflicting Community Values
• How to Navigate the Legislative Process
• Women in Public Service
• Employee Relations & Retention
• Record Retention Best Practices
• Code Enforcement
• Managing in a Crisis
• Economic Development Strategies for Cities
• Strategic Planning & Visioning for Your Community
• And much, much more!

*topics tentative and subject to change / many more will 
be announced online closer to registration opening.

Plan Now to Attend

Registration opens July 1

Preliminary Agenda^

Thursday, October 10 (9:00 a.m. - 6:30 p.m.)
Pre-Conference Mobile Workshop
Pre-Conference MTI Workshops
Legislative Policy Committee 
Mayors Seminar
Big City Forum Discussion
Governing Body Meeting
KMIT Annual Meeting & Reception 

Friday, October 11 (8:00 a.m. - 9:00 p.m.)
Nominating Committee Meeting
Concurrent Workshops Session I
Concurrent Workshops Session II
City Attorneys Association of Kansas CLE
Opening General Session / Keynote
Concurrent Workshops Session III
Trade Show [Friday only 12:30 - 5:30]
League Dinner / Social Event

Saturday, October 12 (7:30 a.m. - 1:30 p.m.)
Breakfast/General Session: Public Service Awards
Concurrent Workshops Session IV
Concurrent Workshops Session V
Closing Business Meeting/Convention of Voting   
    Delegates

^A more detailed schedule of events with times is available 
online. Check often for updates.

Hyatt Regency Wichita + 
Century II Convention Center

Venue

www.lkm.org/annualconference

The day pattern change has allowed additional breakout 
session times, discussion opportunities, and an entirely 
redesigned event overall. See you in October!


	Agenda 6-13-2024
	Council Minutes 05-23-2024
	Motorola Scanner Payment 5-30-2024
	Check Register for Motorola Scanner Payment 5-30-2024
	AP Approved Invoices by Vendor- Summary
	AP Check Register
	APWireRegister
	Labette_County_Summary_061024_ZRegs_Posting
	Labette_County_ZRegs_Draft_061024
	McCarty's Quote City Office
	McCarty's Police Department Quote City of Altamont Police Dept  SOW UC Rev 1 6-04-2024
	Higher Calling Technology Current Services
	Higher Calling Quote
	HC Managed Services Agreement - Business
	Managed Service Contract Agreement Packet
	Managed Services Agreement

	HC Police Managed Security
	HC Police Mircosoft 365 Subscripts Quote
	HC Police Sonic Wall Quote
	what-you-need-to-know-about-the-nfpa-1970-consolidations-white-paper
	City Administrator Report 6-13-24
	Police Report
	UTILTY REPORT
	Executive Session Motion
	annual_conference_one-page_i



